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EK PPE Em-HBEIK HFIRA T 2HiH4(Amazon)
SEFERFERTEEHEEE BHEEERS
BEARQSTEmM -

FHM4CH B2B & B2C R - sEZERE - B
BEPREATESEFEEFENERE - I &
PR R TP PP R S B HEBEFWLER
REWR HEERFHRBOUBHEEERLELAE
IKIBIERBHOEZSERH -
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ZEEBEARBIFROMFRRINNEE - SLUERE
AERFREMSHERERTBEOAX - XEEFKHE
RE AR LR T A -
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E5E

B EAER—EIEIAANE PO - HEAMEIFItD]
BEWBUR - AEERERAEHUN—IEER
BmtED  TREEXHEZERZR - KEPIESE
EIEGE

fift 82485

EXEARZBRN  ZEBER T SERHEAR
ERmS TEENAHEBEREDHBERBRE.
R 2023 FEERGREERERDEERRSE &
BLUEERESARAATINERER -

AEER 2023 FHREDSHREBERNERNER
#% (Coverall Yellow £2 Coverall Collar) - 3 PPSB £
PE BIE[ER - R EHNRE  RSEYES AamI
4 B - REZEURE ; BNTBFEZRE -
THEFEERNRIBFEFTEM MR ME -
OREREER  BA2RAiBBEsHE  BitoE
ZERREEEZEERNTIS -

FEE MR HERIERRERN - HABREERIM -
SHEREBWIR - 0.01 ANBRY  WETHRBEMRE

BRALES - ERLERELIREAEASZLE
BEIEES -

12023 F ERBEFESICERERIG HoP
BETIEFENSEE FDAS10(k)AE ;4 RE—SH
BORBEMEOE 4 REERMHUBER 1 RREHE
EEOIRE - TAMRERRBIG  BEREARILURH
BEMEHZ2EEVERATHES -

2024 FRE - KBLASBER-TERXNTALZRREE
BAEEm-RHEEENNERBAERERREN
RESRBLETSBR 2 RRATHE  BEEHR
W) 2 (#F] BEZFER 0: HERER
—Z% - AR BNARE - EEBRUBHIHR -
BITENENENRRERSIER - RICHB BN EA
EZT - TENERS

14



rEAEEE

ERBEEEBNEAZIER £ RIRIENKE
BRE - FREAMERFENEERS  ZMNEEEHE
FENBRIXBEE I - £ 2023 F - £ENE
E EERFERREENBZIRABLLAEELE
BUAMRBEEROER -

rEEE  EEBREABRERMSERERBHARE
ENFGE - BFBEREAOS s ERAXE BRER
B, MIBMEE - WM PR EtBEABOR
FEEKEHEREE  AREMENTREZE—
A -

2023 FE - MEREAMEBARNER  HAERT
HHERENAGE - BREMTZASN 8 RITEKE
RAmEREGF  BEAABROSHREES ; 5
MEBEMEIRMEANBR THEFE ; MRBEEAREER
W_EHRPESNERR  HPaRRESLEHR
ZNORESE  PIRESSEAANERSE M
FRARSBRENELESES - BERSIOEH
ERFBRENEENIRE -

IEER 2022 FRABTHIRIERE @ ZEBEEE
R 20239 B 15s HEX2HF#ES -FE 10 B
REEERIENAR  SREUMHEEREARRY
N EHEEN B oMo fefeft 300 B REEMOE
600 M FIRGRRETHE) -
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BN EEBTERREREZEZ S EEHAEE - B
CERER RS EHBMTEAMIBIE TE 40,000
BOE - EFRETNBEFEERS L - HMARHT
10,000 AOEHAEEEE - SEMBRRZEH - RE
FREEAEBRBENRE - 5—HERMITBIBK
B#4 Our Lady of Peace Hospital B K Blessed Regina
Protman Catholic School F1 Mariveles National High
School 14 - BISRR=EHNEFIRIE -

F 1982 Alagang Kapatid Foundation, Inc. ( AKFI ) BIS1E
YA 2022 £ - WA 2023 FHEAET - BBIBEEE
BENOSHMFE BB AR OZEARAKETE
Mt @R HERES A -

EREE  ZRBEESEZS TESTMERL -
BEN 2023 FEIFRSEE - EES 500 SRETM
BREERMENES - REHPHERERMESE
BIHENERRE - RMEEERREEALTFEHE
i 10 BETE—SOEMLE - 5 RFtERIEE
AR EE XS 2 BB 5,000 5570 - MIREAM
MEAERRBENZZTHENER -

NEERARZEERASFBHHARSHTE
T AEHRO B 4T A D IR R - FAM I B B 2024 FF
31 &89 2023 FREREAREFRND
ERSBRNKEFER -
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5
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BREZMMRAE FEERRT
EE- IBEREEE Medtecs International Corp. Ltd. SESRT

Tel: +632-817-9000 R _ S B
B5EE SINS Clarendon House 2 Church Street Hamilton 100 &b PIEEEERE—R 120 3
EER - JTES TE HM11 Bermuda

EREREHERIT

EEE Lim Tai Toon BN dh Ik 106 EdbHAZBRHERE R 207 95 27 12
AEEE - NTEE - NTE B N N
& 7 7 EEENSIE 9K 1112 = T IR
Lim Tai Toon mEP aEZadtm 110 100 EEFHPEEEEAIE 46 5%
HEBUES mE 5 © +886-2-2739-2222

{BE : +886-2-2729-8055 BIEEMIRT
BINS 155e il http://www.medtecs.com 106 EIEHAZRICEEIUER 169 57
BuUES mE

HR B FmRR
EEd SR 100 i IF @ BERE—ER 30 57

. 5E Baker Tilly TFW LLP

BIES - (Baker Tilly International Limited /% 5 #1#) = "

600 North Bridge Road ?xﬁ%ﬁaf,%
g §+§ Eg’ é%%f%% :?:g’::o:rg;"; Square investor.relations@medtecs.com
Lim Tai Toon Abdul Jabbar Bin Karam Din
*E ASTWE aEEBA:

) o Ong Kian Guan
2= Codan Services Limited (2023 £ 10 B 30 HEE(E )

e BhIEtnE

i RISHIE

ME
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte. Ltd.
;ﬁm;ég 1 Harbourfront Avenue
Keppel Bay Tower #14-07
EER Singapore 098632
£33
- REBA
e R & T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd.
= 9 Straits View #06-07
Marina One West Tower
Lim Tai Toon Singapore 018937
mE

HEEE
Evelyn Wee Kim Lin

Howard Cheam Heng Haw
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EBR - YTES

(32 1997 FEEMAES - WiFH 2024 FEIEE )
BRASERTNTIVESR  AEAEETHXERZEEE  KERE  ERBERRTHE - B5%EH 1990 Fi
SAERFEFESERINTRE  HEE 2018 F 5 B2 BHEEERTEH - ABEIELERE - BRMELE
MHRIEBZEEZHE - EERMAENTET  XBERLECHARERERRRRBHED  TE2SHE
BHES ERABREEBLIREZREH KEHD -
FRIEREREE A - BRAtERERaEEE AR - £BERRND AR AT (Shentex Corp)HiTR -
1986 £ 1989 F BB RHMTERELENBERNKLATESR  UEAHKIRECEBE LR - BAIRHPIE
KREBEGURPREEHES TR - BT EIFE S B AL EEKE H S (Confederation of Philippine

Manufacturers of PPE)E|ZE & -

BRASEEMETERANTSFNRR TR NNBRREEXPNBREEMFHR -

BHEE k&

HEER - WTES - UOR

(72 2013 EEEMABES - WER 2023 FEHEE )
BEESEN 2013 F9 B 2 REZERWITES - BEUESRLER 2018 F 5 5 2 BRBEG oMt EEEEEN
TR - WK 2021 F2 F26 HESRELATIWEAESE -
1BEIESTAE 2005 FEENANETER - TEBHRERTE - i 2008 FRIETMNMZRERLEBRA
B (X&EETRAT ) BEHE - 2010 F7 B 1 BERBEESEXEOIRNERAT (AEEFLRT ) BEE - &
BITH - £E - ANBERKRMBSE -
BEIESTEEAER 15 FMAMKRER  DERNREREM - pre RERKRE SERIREBITRARE -

Lim Tai Toon 74

ERBUESE - FHESEER
(7R 2010 FEMRESE - WiFH 2023 FERRE SAERFEE )

Lim Tai Toon #E4E58 2010 % 10 A 29 HEM B A AT EIIFFENITES - 2012 F5 B4 HEXEHRESEIER
ERENES - thERETRERFNEESEE -

B 1994 YA - Lim EELBEBNERMRAMENE 2 FM/AS) - 0 REA Ltd ( BIE % Superior Fastening Ltd )
JE(TEI75EERS - X Eastgate Technology Limited (2006-2009 ) IEE#1TES - 2003 F £ 2006 FHIE AL Vashion
Group Limited ( A5 % Startech Electronics Limited ) IEEEFEES - WH 1995 F = 1996 FAETE Ipco International
Limited(Corporate Affairs) BT EIABAEIE - EELER - Lim FEERIU—REEHAB AT - WH 1996 F£ = 2000
FREPEBE AN ASINFEERITE - b9 BE 2019 F Lim SEETEHEZEXSRERBEN&RE 17
- WTE 2015 F£Z 2020 FHEALLHBRARERESSIMRE - Lim TES—BEHLTINHEFEEIRA - B
2014 FLUREIFIRTSEERZKE -

19

B 2021 % 3 A + Lim fo4 &1 Cuscaden Peak Investment Private Limited /& T~ Student Castle Property Management
Service ( 32 ) RARAIR - 111122 Medinex Limited ( B 2018 fF#E ) & Aedge Group Limited ( B 2023 FiE )
BUESRENEZESERE -

Lim 55438 Curtin University of Technology FOE R T F2AE - B3] + 5[ Henly Management College fJ1E 3£
EIRE T EN LRI National University of Singapore FIEEHETE{] - 2N T RIBEALE SEHE R
POBEIRCERAXERBETERE - 2N NS SR ENE RETS 5D -

BIhNE Tt

BUES - RRESEXRE
(1R 2005 FERMBES - Wi 2023 FERRE BEREEHE )

BINEL LR 2005 F 5 A 1 HFREBEEARSBEUIFNITES - WK 2012 F8 F 14 HRERRBREZEEE
- WRERTAFMERSNME -

BRI TIM(Give2Asia) BIARE - PREIEFENR - MENEEERENEERRNZDHHTPEEEARAT
HWEHEAIRA - BRI -—EBIRSEREEEPERE  TEREERE  BARGFRRRGREESHE
NWEELER - tt—BEETREEHEEMR  BIEEBEEASINSRERE - BRLBWPEEERIEERS
FEERINEER - 2007 £ £ 2009 F - ER T BE-—FETEINDREINEREBEE - BN 2018 FMA
REEATIM - £ 2020 FTEE B - HRBHEDNPEEZKBRABHRDASENE TR TBB—TEET
=R -

BRETHEAPEEEARHERELEN - WK 1985 FEXBELHEABER - HE - S EESBEMM

Simmons College EXfS Communications Management & Investor Relations FJREE2{1] -

=mEP B3t

BUEBE - HMESSER
(1R 2019 F 8 B 8 HEmABESE - WK 2022 FEHET )

ERPELIZARARTDBUESAFMEEEER  WIREEARREREZEERE -

EELTHAZXNIAERETEILABNHE  BEEUBIAABRHE - 2Bt HAZHEANECERERNE
Bl MBA B - tiEHAXEINERMNBERRAR TR TRELEN - KEBRLBURCEB BB -
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2023 FEFFE

2024 FEHFE

NE 2024 FHFEEERR

AEEERE

RATBNNERBRRIFPAENERR (BEEE  BREKXE) - EIRMBAEESRENLQTAE - 1§
ERREENEOLUBERRPXENEHLE - TARTNZEREE - REFNASAETR U AARBEENX
1t BERRERFETARE  ANERARBRREER  BRFBENSEEANTER -

KATK 2024 F 5 B 31 BHZAT - R ZREBERE AT B HKARS

Zliiﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%%%?*ﬁﬁﬁA 2018 £ 8 BIEHIER] BN SRR (B "2018 XA, ) - DU 2023 S EET
FEANTNAEDEERERET -

AATEE LT ATREER - ERMPOEOLREANEABFILRE - BEEEER T ELR0E -

AR R - TR SIRYE 2018 SRR E A B IHAE -

AT DS 2018 ERBIWERAITS ot - MBELRIRTAF AR - RISRERAATOIEAIEHRE . R
BB e B R R R SRR AR — B -

(A) EEZEH

BEEE W
A1 PEBR—SIENESS  EFTEEARRTHEERRERLSFLIERASINRAAI -

ExEmEe

“%.E.,\E REHBEARAMREATAEAAWESIER - L@%E’&TE’JW@EELF;LH&E“E’JYTE =
BERERIRE - %%@E’]T’Eﬁﬁttkﬁ‘%?ﬂﬁﬁﬁf HAAHABRENESEREEETZEMNW - EMER

Eﬁ?ﬁ@?ﬁ%*ﬂ%%ﬁ@%ﬁ%iﬂ CEFGENER  BESMEBRNASSERAEETETNESR - :IIEE%EK,%

ERBFEEENEL - EFEREANTANEEREEEES -

ESTAEAEENERTIF EXZAeERELIRSRIRNERER BEEEERETREBESREBRS

BHEE  DEIEENMRENEM L  TREEATANESTZESTSY - ESTARRRNEENRE

B0 - EREERRRBNAEENYHES - 5 EFTERABLUTERRE

a. AR Tiﬁ/%ﬁ WMEBBZ FATRNEEMEENREHED ;

b. ZEFERE  EREEHE  BAHARENHENE

c. *Z)&ZKE'E%EF* ¥ EEMBEMNKRBEERAR %Z’\i;

d. EREREEREMNMBRE FE  URFTEASZEHNTD &%Dﬁdﬁt RuBRENEES 2 EE,;

EREEREYEVNIZAESTEARIRER  TEEERBARER  RURKREZEZES
ERNRIESGREIZEERETM 2B ;

g  PEAHXFRBRENASIAEREBLEE &

h.  HRIERE 8 QAR KERREEIRIERE -

ESEB¥EHAEERENRERIR - RERREEAINERNTEHRS -

EEZRTAINERENEMEHRTENIFAA  LEREEREHEESE - ES—HZHMETIHAN
HEMSEE  UFEaEAATE 2023 FEHFENTD - EFFRNEERBRLER  UREFEOESREHE
ﬁﬂuﬂ@ MHEERARE - ESE—FTH  EUEARRESUEANZRAERNFE  AERABEN
BEGRWER  EFCEEOFELANSERIEENZERE  BUMTESTELSH  AOESRIA
’\7%125*?2@ B FHARBENEER - WRRHLHFETEYSH  BNRSNESENEDRE -

o

—
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ESGHMNERESIREEE :

o EFRTIERFREEHRNGEER;

o ETHEEVHBRED

o NRERMBERABRRDET;

o RERFKREHRM

o EXQTAVERGBARZHRTRECBEFTERAEZEER ; &

o PNEMENER -

EFERENAEEXERS  ZEELRENTE - ASABENTERERERE KERE -

BExZ5g

RBPESENBERINENINT -  EFERU 7/ —RINEUNES S - BSFTEET #FMEETRE
BERET (BEHMF 'E5E8T, )  SRESTERETUHPENZSEBERESRSE SR TSEEES
WA - BE - #IRNESR  FHEAZREABRE 7= E -

EZTEEAERGRE

BRESEEFTEAOR—XREE TELERCAEENETHERE  SHEHNMBESIORE - REAQT
B ZRGMUERARMANET EFSNEFSZEENWRENILUEBEEBRRENS - E5TH
REZEEE R/ THESEENEMESHER/ATE/HBNT ESMEBLUTESTERESES
S BBUEFHE 2023 FEFFELRAEESHERAT RANKRBRIED -
FEEESERERSEFTLRNERRIWT ¢

RRIRRE

il HE il HE il HE il HE il HE
RY RY RY RY RY RY RY RY RY RY
25 1 1 1 1 4 4 - - - - 4 4
BEE 1 1 1 1 4 4 - - - - 4 4
Lim Tai
1 1 1 1 4 4 6 6 4 4 4 4
Toon
BINE 1 1 1 1 4 4 6 6 4 4 4 4
BEEd 1 1 1 1 4 4 6 6 4 4 4 4

BRI R IR

EFERABRERE  UHEEAEHENENTEE  TRATSENRE - RBZEEBF—RAHES
SHEARN  EREENEXESREREGEM -

REZECEFTES FREBENERE  TARESESEGEATHCERNBIT T EFRESHEE -
EMESR  ZOERHEANER  HREBENERY - FTEGNESHZIRBANTN - LANTESR
RIFHATRE/AERDNEEEBIEER - NALEENER T REHETOMASAEERE -
BEFERARANFMEESVABREERTNEBREZRERNVERAEN  NEEABYUASESTERBAS
BEFEMHER - MEESHERZFNRTAERR  UARTEFRESNHENET (EESENNT -
FRTNBUEEHE ) - I ESTRAEENEE  AEETREKSEREERNETFREBIREE
MAE - SESTAEENESBHITREERETE - PUBMEREEZRER KRN T2 -
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FATFEOESRUANESHENET - ATAR - FHRSEN WS B RM P HRREEETEN
BESENERGNNEN  UEtPENEEn BT AR ESTSATHEORE - IERED
BRNEHNREQETEEBER ALERABREBOME - MRECEAMOLEBBAERER
mae -

BEHER 2022 £ 5 B 31 HSBEH NN EEEF (Singapore Institute of Directors) 28§t iy M B X B 15 FIIFR 12
(Environmental, Social and Governance Essentials (Core)) il 52 A% 12/l
S

BYGHESEERTHE EERECEFETERCHZAINEFTERR T TE AOMRBENNERRS -
EERERLNESNAEEKSYEBNEOIE - OERRESKBERNBER/ABMIFEXTR - LER
1R IFIE TR el B (F L R 225k -

FAESEEARGEAIUEBNBIItTHBEERE - ARAIWERINLED (WALE) - BRHEART
IR - ARENBLEREESEEE  URFETESEEFULRERRAATNMBERMRENE - A2
SMENENNRRFRESESTAME -

FERESTUETIRANEE  HRAXNTNESNBEELEERMHMEE  BEESESTHELOE
SETHEHR -

ZEZEENESNERE - FR=2F5S—ENHEZEA - MOULUESERSKBUNERRE - DURERE
= BRAREHEER - 2EXBENTInRAKES L -

ESENEMETE
2R 2. EF AN LEBBEENBUMNBENERNSEMN  DIEEEHBETEATDRATIHIREK

EFZRRAGMUES  HP=Q)UERBUES - HZENT:
BiTES

BrH  (EFR - WTES)

BEE (AESR WTEFRIGTR)

BUES

Lim Tai Toon ( BEBIIES )
BINE (BUIES)
BED (BUIES)

REZEEARBLAESSRESEZEENRENAN - DURFEHRESE  THESHANESVEHMURE
BERMRM - A ARNEMSE  HANFRESSHEY  DUREANNFRIDRER - RBZBEXRR -
ERIARTEENMENSEE  BRIGENESZRER/AGIUES - HP=QUEBUES -
RAIEFEHREEEALEASTERNE - RERERNALAAEN  HPELEHRAEEXBZERESE
AR - BEEE  XBEE  MEBEREREE  cESTRRERZEIGRS  BAEFSFR—ERE %
AREARTDERMMENZOLEESN - EFHANIAFBENERABURMMAE KB RAE - HAEEMN
SEREN  WIMBRIREEMER -
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3% 1% 38/ 3%/ 2% 2% 3% 1/ 28& 28 2%
BT 3 #£I B ¥ BT HI EF B EI E#3

BEEEERA  BAEBORE - 75 - ERANSHIEESIEREAADNBRAA B LX) EEY
TRABFUIEA B S T2 AR ENER - EFER2RINBRRESEE AN FEBEENBY
HRZTEOBERES  LUBAHARATHBERME RS - 185 2018 FRAIE 2.4 5 - KATR 2020
FERTHRERHESTIRE - REALDEETRES AR  REEERBEREESRNAN - &
EWHBNEDINRETH AR  ERSESE - SFERRRER - 6 - B - 8% - LA - 255
£ @8R FEE MR BUMRREER  CREESTOREEME  SEEBLER  DETENERT
T -
HE 2003 EBHEEE  AE)HZ—(INWESALM EEESEMN 20% - AATEER 207 FEFEDY
HEBMLLAIE IR 40% - I BERE T EEHEEHAN RS TN BTN R R B A AR ES
RHEENRT - AERESESTE - AEEBRILTEE
a  EABEAANE AATBEARRRARARE - LURSIZTEOESERAGERA - OWESRRET
AESMBEA  OFESARAN - F8 - BE - LA HESE - SR RERMBOBEA -
b EEEEROOEE AATEUEFSHESTOONES BREELNOSURATY - BEEHS
EBTWAFEOEN - SRR WAEFTENCHATRNYE  BHTARN - BERAER
ARENEE . AATDBEHR EBTOREA LR —EAEAENSTEOEES -

PRETESEAES T EERAEBSNERREER  ARTRNIRBU—EZTEREEENESSE
MREFEZHNERBALSZH R ARG RARI -

S :bE AvA LS

REEZEESREBENMNEARERW EHFM 8 B8 ( T8 TS FIRERI L ) K 2018 FEREBIESHNE
% SEEUBNESNEIYE SUESNEBRHEANT - HEMAS TERRIASKEEEBEAE (NR
B ) W%  BLAGIAEZBERERNER TBIUERS ) REEEE M - IWERGEEINRI—EY
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REEEERAE - RIBEARE 406(3)(d)IFRE - 2023 EFEHREE=Q)BBIUES (ARESSH—HDL)
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TEHEEAS—NBEATEESZHRRBE -

B 2023 £ 1 A 11 B - WRESFRERE 406(3)(d)(iv)ERE - MRESETESENRBEEBBNO)VE
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R AR 2005 F£ 5 B 1 HE 2010 fF 10 A 29 HEREB ZHEEESSEENEU LB EZ LR Lim
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(b) A p 2 m#ERE = N2 3 A2 P30 AT4e 8 9852 12 J2 Boardroom Corporate and Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. » 3
sk 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632

EFMRAFF IR A AP ERNA Y L (PLp R ) hikE L BB P LES
i"ié*“ 2024 & 4 % 28 PATHAPEE TS 28 TERRAN G2 FFFL A8 ) PFR 0 FHENT S SR
% CDP 4 ix%:

(a) MTF3 G RET FEE T A D PRI 4 PIFE R IL Boardroom Corporate and Advisory Services Pte.
Ltd. : medtecs@boardroomlimited.com ; &
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(b) ALp vr#REF 2 452 T A2 P30 3T4e 8 0K 43 (8 I Boardroom Corporate and Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. »
3k 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632

L RRAF G R ARFRD A8 LB FRE AP FE AL R BRI GR2 7 hin g e
Vo ANPTIREER ML EE o

LAARAEE A FF LA NARNG FHEB COPLEE -

MALEd e FRBERAL A EF AT EE AP R SGNET 1 T k2P ey

E

http://www.medtecs.com/investor-relations/agm-and-sgm/ » SGXNET 44t : https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-

anouncements °

CEIFTERE R AN A ERRAY § o nd 4
AL © Hedl 0 2 AP ERT AP EGRIIES XL 2 Y

F o

REL ok L d B 2Rt LA R A B A A2 bR BT N BR AR
i

BA TR

FEAAASPERNMAERRAY 6 ERARAFE LR ARIPYER /A R4S L Ehmaz /ARyl
FE2/A B Emiep g B2 NA H T A RE TORL AP (A H AL A RBREF)EE T 2 BB B A FTHE
RAFRFARERRERRAY §orivchizdn (S8 TN AERAAF GBI RUPPEELEE) ) nikh
SF(AE A AR E )N E RN F §(F FERTRAE )Y o B A TR A D P (R H A S
BB )AIL FE A5 ERRAF §(F FEPTRAF R MBI R A U AR LH ¢ N I
AR FE > Ui e EmRRAF 20 WAL GREIRA ) 2 /8 ARTE AP Rk LG a g F (e F 3
Bt f /R A/ k2 ) 2B ERKE (¢ 7 IR E)PM Y 2 AR A 2P (N NI A RN
I:;)gtf.:rsﬁ EHEE S D RR(E F AP IR S GEGE /N (0 SR TP ) (D FRET R OTIBE L
F oD T BRI AZ/RRAZ /R AR P E R PR AT TAEFTERLAZ /AR L P AFALD (R

B
HONIE A AL RIEFE ) B s AR NI /R R e A TR (i) R R A2 P FHEF R
EROEPIF S F A AR BRI EHT -

Ao itd AP %% A0 x e d % 4 R&T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. (7 T i A PR I fE -2 £ 374 2 2 97 (7
Taror ) YA i 4 o

R AR R R AP R AR AR R Y R v A 458 fhA Bp E R RES L LD A
e

i Ji5 A T % A 5 Evelyn Wee Kim Lin 4 2 (¢ 3%: +65 6232 0724) {~ Howard Cheam Heng Haw & 2 (% 3: +65 6232 0685) »
# 4k R & T Corporate Services Pte Ltd, 9 Straits View, #06-07 Marina One West Tower, Singapore 018937 -
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e
EFTENEEONBEEEROBIRAS (UTHE "ARE, )EEFAS (UTESE "AEH, )BE2023F 127
3 BLEZEHFE  REANELNREZEHYBRRAELERERRBEREHE -
EFEER:
i. AEEZ 605.: M4 Bz G MBERE BARNTZEERARREZEEHER  RIKRIIIKMBREER(EER )

(SFRS()s)#m¥e - EMEBEREREREBRARTEILE 2023 F 12 B 31 BZEHMBENRR - B 2023 FEZ &6
FAES I Afﬁkmzﬁﬁémiﬁfmi R RB 2 R EE) ; A

i. BEFBRARHAE SEAEAASBEHRERRES -

4
KRTRBEHEEEGZREWT ¢
B (EBR)
BEE (AESRRATR)

BINE

Lim Tai Toon

EEP

RIS RS EHFM B 35 : slARE 7204)HRRE - URRBEAQSIERESE 86 KRE - THERESS=
ML - FESHEBEEREWNEST -

BESNENSZZH

bR T REEERGE ) SHMBEN RAFEIAFERTHE  ARFTURERLHBEARTREMAT ZRENE
FZHHN - BARTESUPENZES -

BSERHRAQIRTRHESZER

RARB ZESHRPAETE - BEAFEESHAR LT REMBBAS(EEFATRINZBREERNOT ¢

BERFBZRE BEEAZRE
2023 & 2023 & 2024 & 2023 & 2023 & 2024 &
1818 12H31H 1821H 1818 12A31H 1821H

EEEHE

KL EEER - K 0.05 T

15 5e 24,673,285 24,673,285 24,673,285 33,075,198 33,075,198 33,075,198
BEE - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Lim Tai Toon - - - 20,000 20,000 20,000

15 e R B B R ) 1% 7 BIASH South World Investment Ltd.Fi#573 2 18,506,621 % - LURACH Maybank Kim Eng
Securities Pte. Ltd.FifA 2 14,568,577 & -

BEREERERERNCHSELHBEERNIBETIRFAIFAZ 3,000,000 & -

Lim Tai Toon SE @A) 20,000 K& - HEEZEF Wong Lai Kwan 575 -

bR EMUBTEIEN RASHEEARBLIAFERMHE  ARNTESURSEALNIREMBB AT ZRE - KEE
i RREEAES -
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EREFERERROARATRAFAT

0

IR ESFR AR ERISE 2 H &R

BAFR FEMEARS JSBHMBEN ARTABBLAINAFENE L—FEARE  URZITEOAHATNTE
EFRNTERRATANEBGHZEREGH -

BERSHREMSHANE 2N

BB HRERMEHSEREI B L -SRI FEARLUR  URESERR AT HEEYNEEREERS KA
g GRS ERNEZES -

REREEE

RATIR 2012 5F 4 B 30 BRITRFEERETE (MUTHE "5tE, ) - 202022 F 5 820 AEIH - BRI - AR
ITHRREEEESEMERNBHABAAT - RESKRRIERNZTE -

IEETEERAHAN T REREER
BEP (ZETER)
BB

Lim Tai Toon

é!z;.:ﬂﬁ%ﬁ)“i’lﬂ:ﬁﬂ: KATREFATDREFEARERRTRO ZEEE  PARTEBERRTRO ZEERNE
AMETRD -

B
ik

tEEE

tEEEETEBAENT:

i}
ik

o BEANTNEEZANIME M ZEE - RSN ERE LRI EIEF R AEER DT EURERE
EEEEH BTN A R ZHE ;

o REXESFGH  ERAEEZYFENSTER FEMBRERIAMERRE |

o« EEEESANMEHARZENERENY - SSHARBEZRTZME - 88 - 58 - BN ERRER

o BSMEREEHED - HithZESMEERE - RERAREZTRECEDTHREBIE

o FEHUBREAEAFEZERNEESE  ARSRERNGE - URHEEWBURE ZEET®RE

o FEENEMERBAEZ B - BNMNEEY ;

o EEIMNPEA BRI ZMANE - BUMMEEMY ;

o BESMIEFERMHIFEIIRE 2 HEMER ;

o HWESTHEINIZAN - WWENBS 2R  BEERBHELREAER |

s DEFEREFIEZEEZTHNEECTE  TRHBIZEIDREENEE, R

o RIRENFIRAEEERBRARS -

EHIIEEECERMARNBEENRR ZIFERY  ARZBB ZMERBERE RN EE I 2B - STAINED
SR ZER (OREFERFARBER )  FLEAFRUBBRERME 9 - BAZEENCELNEREARS -

*EfxEEﬁAﬁﬁﬁ“Eme REE BIREFERVIEERBLEZERT  BFEVARNTERABRIMNIE
BT —RE &

BHEFIEEGBLMBAN AT AEREPIBE -
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EREIERERROARATRAFAT

BT EERED

Baker Tilly TFW LLP ERSEEAAT N —FEMBIMR 2 BB T -

EE3-ie

B5e BEE
B% B%
55

R
HEEERERARRNERAT A%

“ER

]

EREABBRERRNARAS( UTEE "ZAT ) REFAS(MUTEHE "ZER" ) ZMBRR(FE0E1148):
BEHE 2023 F 12 B 31 BZZEBRZATDEERER - B 2023 FEGHGRSRESR SHESEHR SHERESR
EX ZNIEFEHER - URVBERNELEEASTHRREM - EEATMSZIES -

REAEAZER - B ZZEEESHEBRE  BRATZRRIZER - GRBMIKMERSED (BB ) (SFRS()s)
RE BUABREZEERZASHIEE 2023 £ 12 A 31 BZ&6HMBMRR - & 2023 FEZEHHBEN - a6it#ER
BHEREMHETRE - URZATDZERES) -

BERERZER

ERTBT G AR IR IR BT ERI(SSA)RITERZTAF - RERBIENZENT ZEE - BRIBN " SAMERMBREZE
F1 BT - RS EZMBERRGEBENINNETREEEERACRAMIEZ "Bt ABNMEHBREETRRER
#8)" (ACRACode) - AZEERFBMBI - WERZENER ZBERETRE - ASAMBESIEBRAREN 2ER
BE - UMEARTERERZER -

FREZER

MREZERGIERAGM 2 EEAL R HRZMBRREEEATEZEE - ZSFHREREZAHMBERS
ERMUAERERRZBRPTURE  AEFMLANZEETREBRTLER - ZHZEESHUBRSZHRERS
IERARET -

FEZE

HE2023F 12 831 B - 2&EEEER$37,359,000 =7t - AEZEBREEN 22% - Z2EBFEEAARFEREEB
PEEHE - HARNETIDERS - BER - FIREEFEREERSL  UBEERASERNZFZEEE -

EEREGHERAINLIBEEREERZ A BERTRANEN R - ERRETEHFEERESMUHERRE KRS
FH  UTRENEERAAPHERBEEERERGEE -

EREATAIMBEEERZAE  URFEFRSHEMSREAAE - UEHETRSRELEATE - BULASE
BEE 2RI RARERERZ— -

ERAIAE S S B DAMRERERNTIEEREFNT !
- BREEREHRYNRBREZEE ERATREERREROBETEME - REBEFRRMBRENTME ;
- SHEEETEREA - HM

o RERURAERRIECHEATZRE ERATRERER |

AR EMETDERNZEEME - ATRANUREZEERD B IERY
o AHTFREHENTEY  USHIUKBEFRRERFEEFERFBIKIERNGR |

- BB REEERERECRRIBRAZG  QFEFRE  BEMNSNEENAR ST FERZHERS

- ETEREME  BRTANERREREGEBRIREZES . M

FEHMBREPEEBE A EREEY -

BRFEERTG ZAMBENRMBHRRNG 2.7 AW 19 - BEEHIEMAE 2G5 RREMRIREM BRI 3(ii)
PiBEE -
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FAREREIR (&)

FEWIRFIR S EIR FREAE AIRR

HE 2023 F 12 B 31 B - #EEEWIRRS$24,349,000 =7t - HGZEEBEEN 14% - FEREBERBRKE &8
EEEESEEAKBEZESBNEHEN SFEBWIRRERKRNEE - EREREHREARBRUBLRIRTETRIEF
iy - WHEEAMEUIRFRIRAIER RSN - ERBUIRR ZEZ MR FAMERIBRFI AP REAME - BRSNS
FEWIRFIRS HIRFRIAEMIBRII REREREE L — -

AEERES S B MR ERBBENTEEZEREFNT !
- BRZEE 2 ERBRMERTGER - DUR RS IFRUIRRR 2 25355

- EROTELIRFCESER - OREREREAER  MREERBEKRENKEBDRBEABLEEBENER - FHEE
PEETERURRERERMIEHARERZER
- BBENEFEEERBERABRZWNEE FEEAMRPBUIRRZIWEY - HRREBBBARNE 2 & - RMHR

EEEE R ELERIIRR Z AR ERERTME - EERANERT HMBEELNRMES - ERMAREEE MRS
NP ARG EETE A -

HEM B IRR P RUIRIBEZ RD UNEE S -

BREBIIRRIAIERBANERRREIRBE 2 ARIBENRMBMKRMET 2.6 MMEE 20 - BEWIRRIAHERBKRMET
AR M 2 E B ARIRTE M IRAPIRE 3(ii)PIBE -

ReE - BB KR FE BT

HE2023F12 A31 B - ZEEABE - BERRERAGEEXS$40,566,000 =70 - HEZEBBEEN 24% - EE
EESFARERENSZEIMEEZRNE A RHBZEERREEEZHPLENERUOWEEH  BUIHEES
BRIBES - RASHFE - ZEERIFEE - BB RRFERIER%$2,000,000 =7T

HRGFERBNE ZREELEM "CCU, - EERERAEAEENAABEREERAZFEIEADE BERRE
2O EEEE - DB EES REEREHRAEN 2 BREAHE  SFFRARRR  BRERE  RAEMNERRIFTER
EEMRER - ERAHE BREARBZEZMUREEYQWSBEIES REAME - BEASFHARAEE BER
REBIRT G RRAREZEREY — -

ERAIAE SIS A DAMRERERNTIEEREFNT ¢

- REEEREHADE HMERRBABEERIE UREERERARERARGECARENARREREEREZ
3k

- (EREELBE - MBREREMUBEN - FFERAPRAZERER - NFRARRERNRAENE 2 G8Y ;
- EHEERUADE  BERREERIHSEMNEM

- BSEMNABGESRBEFERNPRBZITRRGEY ;

- TEARCENS  RERERBCHIWLESENTHREDF ;

AEMBHRRPABDE  BMERRBREBEZASUNBEE S -

BEABE  BERRBHISTE 2 ARBERMBREME 12- BFSHMEENIS G 2 T REMRIREMBREMEE
3(i)PiBE -

HittsE1E

HE2022 F 12 B 31 BlE - AEERAATZMBHRRES - IEIBBAER - thif% 2023 F 6 B 14 BZHBR
RRERREBRER -
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Rt E
EEREHRNANAR - AHANOEFERSPNE  OTORUBREARMOE RS -
BMHMBRENERTEERNER - ROFHLRREAT 2R S -

MARMHEERRGBS  RNOEERTRENEN  DELBRD  ERRMANSERVBREARPERH PE
BB FEEAF—H  NEERRTVEFEEARBIL - NRRERMFRTOT - BREMENFEEABS
mizih  REAREIRLPE - AERL  RELATAREZR -

ERRENEFHM SRS 2 AE

EREEARGE SFRS() MHLRREARRAERBIMEEE - DHEAEERUARERESBRA NG
HIAIE - A GERERAEEMEREX  B28 CRSERERDTURS MANERAA R HBRE 1k
ERERE -

REHMBERER  SEBEAREIGAEREELEZEN NEREEELSERSE ITRBEECEZHER
RIFERERERESEAEENFILEER  SREESRFREIIFIRERYTZHMS S -

ESRAREASENBROREZES -
BRI ERMBREZEE

FEMERMBREZEN  GHMBERREREEFAEARBENERZEANERENSSIERE  THESZR
- OEEEGHSERS  WRKBHINKETENR T ERTFREREVEREVBEREFAZEAFLERE - FEX
EO SRR ERNHER - MABREZ AR SHA2BY I SERRREEVBRREMAEMEZLEIRE - AIRRRE
BEXY -

BB R AR IR IR R ERI(SSAS) B - EREHEH I R BEREE - NG EABINMT FSIIME
o PERIAMEMBRRERNEENERZEAERERR TG ZERRRATEE 2ERE K, TISEN
Rtz EZEBRMEREZER 22 - AFRAEY RHR - BiE - MEER - FAEBERNmBNENES] - K8
HEARERZEANBREZARSNERNERE -

o  HEERKEHZAMRHIRSUEZER NRAERBERTEEZEZER  HEBRI FNZERRIEH ZEN Y
FRER -

o FHEEEREMRASIERZEEY  REMFEH G EARERE 252 -

o KIBAMNGZELER HEERERBERKEIHERZEEY UREZERERCESENUEELEERREZ
FHNEREEFEERNFEEN - BLAR - FEHMEIREEFSHABREEEAIEEY  AIARERESED
REMBREERZIEMBRR2AMBE ANZSRECBIEEREEERER AN ZEREMUEES
ZHREBFFIGE ZEZEBAER - RRE4AENTEERZEBLIBEBREERKE 28

o FMEMEBER (QEAREMNET ) ZBERE  @BRANE  URMBREREAEREMBRRZ KBS -

o HREENAMERZVBERNSEARE 2E%EE UHEGHUBHRERTER ASMAREEERE Y
28 BEERWT  UREVRERSERER -

FEFHESBECFE  OFEMREIZERRERERE  UREASZHRER ( @BRERBR PR 2 NEMEHRE
BRE) -

BRI EESRHUAEFNRESBARE I MREZ ASCBESHMMEERRETAMBILZER - 1R
ESEBMAUERRREFETHMBII L 2 BGREMEIR ( 2EHREERER) -
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ERETERMBREZEE (#F)

GEMAESBEBYBRRREAZARELIRE UNERREPHAZESE - BRI AAHLRBRREES
B FEBERBRT  AEAMREAREZRSPERBESE  RUGERBIDSBMEE AT EANFILEY
DM -

HitZEMEERERZ|E

FRTBEA - 1RIB 1967 FRENE (MUITEE AR ) RE - BMESEMIKEMAIIFASZ 56 - HEFHME
B ERRLEARREZERE -

ERIEE I ERRRME 2 E&TEIR Ong Kian Guan °

Baker Tilly TFW LLP
RN EE A= A

20244811 8

59

affmaiEER

EREOPBRERROBERATRFAT
2023 %2022 1RA1HZEZ12RH31AH

£SO
BEUA
BEEN(8)

HittW AIRE
EAUA-FE8
MBEWA

HittBRIEE
HEER
EEER
BT R

HARR

FRSHMER

FHIER
HAtAREFIZS :

EHEE R 2R
EISME BB RRIAE 2 RIRERR

FEESEE R 2B
BAEERBBUBESERNBIR
BBEMGRGHESEANBEGEZEETRRERBRTERE

FHRERAREFE

BIERBR
ENSIE SES
El 2l

FHIER

EEERBER .
EYNSIE SES
El 2l

FHRERAREFE

BREBERBREATEE (£9)
- BRERE

B Z M RASHMBRE 287 -

Fi5E

(Efi: Z£Fx)

AEE
2023 2022

52,639 56,243
(46,682) (59,580)
5,957 (3,337)
1,987 2,461
1,304 905
(7,637) (12,009)
(23,310) (17,723)
(816) (951)
(22,515) (30,654)
27 1,391
(22,488) (29,263)
(115) (3.132)
(39) 198
635 (375)
(22,007) (32,572)
(21,066) (28,596)
(1,422) (667)
(22,488) (29,263)
(20,585) (31,905)
(1,422) (667)
(22,007) (32,572)
(3.866) (5.244)
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BEERER

EREOPBRERROBERATRFAT

2023 % 2022 F 12831 H

BE

FRIBEE
RBE - BERRE
REURIE
HHEEE
EREEE
FEWHEER
REEREZIRE
mIVEE
RIEFSREE
REEWR
HithEReEE

MEBEE

#H

FEUIRR

HittRB &=

FEWIRF-BI R AR
RERNEREREREN

HEES

afERES

mEBEE
FEAIIRF R EMRE A
HERE - R
RHER

FEAIFRISRE

FRBEE
FRBaE
HEAE - FFRE
EIEFTSRAE
EEtRAERE
Hitt3ERE B E
afEMs

BEE

B M RASHMBEREZ A7 -

61

LB

12,35
13
14

15,35

15,35
16

17,35

10,35
20

18,35

19
20
21,35
22
23

24,35
15
25

15
10

(EfI:%2&Fw)
AEE ART

2023 2022 2023 2022
40,566 43,592 121 194
2,505 2,617 - -
3,915 4,116 - -
9,109 9,903 145 261
- - 4,621 4,544
- - 28,241 28,352
3,363 848 - _
2,254 2,155 - -
4,265 - 4,265 -
4,995 8,429 79 112
70,972 71,660 37,472 33,463
37,359 36,394 345 3,304
20,084 30,358 9,980 25,870
5,311 8,356 156 1,976
- - 15,379 16,925
33,041 35,281 351 3,366
95,795 110,389 26,211 51,441
166,767 182,049 63,683 84,904
5,974 6,447 703 579
801 575 21 129
23,861 15,643 - -
2,332 2,415 - -
32,968 25,080 724 708
62,827 85,309 25,487 50,733
2,243 3,335 186 187
312 391 1 13
918 811 194 167
18 117 - -
3,491 4,654 391 367
36,459 29,734 1,115 1,075
130,308 152,315 62,568 83,829

EROPERERROERATRTFAT

BEERER (E)
2023 % 2022 % 12831 H

BEREATEEZEE

22N

B

IRAHE

REZE

EERNEREEY

BISNE BB B IRRRE 2 BiRE
B8

Hithi s

FEiERIEE
REESEEt

RERERE

B M RASHMBREZ A9 -

bk

26
26

27
27

16

(EBf1: £2F5T)
FEE QT
2023 2022 2023 2022
27,471 27,471 27,471 27,471
(2,361) (2,361) (2,361) (2,361)
4,721 4,721 4,721 4,721
99,618 120,424 32,071 53,332
211 250 105 105
(850) (735) - -
394 19 561 561
129,204 149,789 62,568 83,829
1,104 2,526 _ _
130,308 152,315 62,568 83,829
166,767 182,049 63,683 84,904
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aifEEER

EREOPBRERROBERATRFAT

2023 % 2022 F 12831 H

(Efi: Z£Fw)

BB
1’;3 HBHENE
! B WREAS TRBEE  HOER  EER RS
(MizE 26) BRAHEE [RERE SHEEH (MizE 27) (MizE 27)  (MizE 26) (MizE 16) ko]
2023 FE181H 27,471 4,721 120,424 250 (735) 19 (2,361) 2,526 152,315
AHEE - - (21,066) - - - - (1,422) (22,488)
Bigs (4) 5
BN BB R B
BT RIBEH - - - - (115) - - - (115)
R - - - - - 635 - - 635
B ERE A RS
AERGE ST
= - - 260 - - (260) - - -
REEAEEEEY - - - 39) - - - - (39)
ABEMES () 30
it - - 260 (39) (115) 375 - - 481
KRGS (1B) 8% - - (20,806) (39) (115) 375 - (1,422) (22,007)
2023 F£ 12 A 31 H 27,471 4,721 99,618 211 (850) 394 (2,361) 1,104 130,308

B M RASHMBREZ A9 -
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EROPERERROERATRTFAT

SEREHR (F)
2023 5 2022 % 12HB31H
(Ef: £&F7T)
E B
fg;z MBHERE
! B WEENE TRBEE Rt BEE  JHmHES
(MizE 26) BRAHEE [RERE SHEEH (MizE 27) (MizE 27)  (HisE 26) (MizE 16) s

2022 F181H 27,471 4,721 152,291 52 2,397 394 (2,112) 2,693 187,907
KEBE - - (28,59) - - - - (667) (29,263)
itk (95) 2
BN IR BB ER

B RIBER - - - - (3,132) - - - (3,132)
BBREEERE A

EEES 2 REEF

BIRFEBX - - - - - (375) - - (375)
RERNHEEEEY - - - 198 - - - - 198
AEEES (8) )

it - - - 198 (3.132) (375) - - (3,309)
GRS (8) $a8E - - (28,59) 198 (3132) (375) - (667) (32,572)
EEREEE (M 26) - - - - . . (249) - (249)
DUBHEEE - - - - - - - 500 500
BEBRA (W5 28) - . (3.271) - . . - - (3.271)
2022 £ 12 A 31 H 27,471 4,721 120,424 250 (735) 19 (2,361) 2,526 152,315

BN GRS BRE Y —54 -
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R EHRERER

EERPEEERRNARATIRFAS EERPEEERRNARATIRFAS
2023 % 2022 % 12 B31H 2023 20221 B1HZE12H31H
(Efl: 2&F7T) (Bf: £22F57)
MizE 2023 2022
2023 BERHZRETE
o o EEERSE  HE J— IRATSIE (22,515) (30,654)
(M3t 26) RAME RBRRG 0 BEBER 0 (WE27)  (WE26)  #xeS wREE
e
202% 1818 27,471 4721 68,230 49 561 (2,112) 98,920 TBE - BERSEHE 12 4,118 3,177
- HHREE 14 1,956 1,988
AR B - (e - - - (e pREAE 15 1,023 1128
EEENFEBEEY - - - 56 - - 56 WEMREE 13 112 111
ABE - MERRHERHIBER 12 2,000 -
AHRS (18) FEE - - (11,627) 56 - - (11,571) P
i X PR 21 90 -
EREER (MiEE 26) - - - - - (249) (249) =@rean 18 29 _
BERF (M3 28) - - (3,271) - - - (3,271) REBHE
iR =L 19 3,072 11,748
2025128331 HE PR IR RAIE SRS PR A 20 6,004 3,591
202341818 27,471 4,721 53,332 105 561 (2,361) 83,829 R A R R 1 822 04
AEFER ok
KRS (18 ) =08 - - (21,261) - - - (21,261) BIRGFHIEX 19 (1,440) -
FEWIRFR RIS FRIIB B R 20 (125) -
2023128318 27,471 4,721 32,071 105 561 (2,361) 62,568 REEMERREEREZNSHA 8 742 819
REIRINE IR 5= (51) (261)
BARESEBZEHHY 68 (66)
HA@# A 8 74 132
FIRBA 7 (1,304) (642)
AR 5 (126) (263)
ENABE - BERZENZ 5 (345) (165)
BEESENAIZEXRETHZIRERE (5,796) (9,153)
(Em) /ED
E<3 (2,596) 728
FEULIESR 157 7,872
HityRE&EE 1,844 4,524
FHRESRES (FFRE) 99 (312)
Po NN
EAIRRREME (578) (1,691)
IEIEFEUWA (4) (5)
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WIREM AR GRS

12 A31 H
8

RIEFASTHARE
EIEFRSTRAR

& QT

2023 2022 2023 2022
1,764 (114) (13) 12
() 44 - -
181 1,890 2 (25)
6 (56) -
1,942 1,764 (11) (13)
2,254 2,155 - -
(312) (391) (11) (13)
1,942 1,764 (11) (13)
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10. FREHER (&)
(o} EEFSHEESRAE (F)

FEBRANTEERERPZREMSHEERRBEIFUT :
(EfI: X£TT)

ARE ESNEE RS REFAZER MIHEASE
BEZRIBES EREEE  HEAE s & ait
A
202 %181R (230) (2,109) 2,120 - 105 (114)
RIHIRE (409) 1,557 (1,473) 2,105 110 1,890
DI EA R B - - - - (56) (56)
BREREY - - - - 44 44
2022 % 12 B 31 B (kK
£135) (639) (552) 647 2,105 203 1,764
REIER (187) 114 (100) 330 24 181
DI E MR B - - - - 6 6
BEEEY - - - - © ©)
2023 % 12 B 31 B (826) (438) 547 2,435 224 1,942

AT ESNEEREMS R
BEZRIAZR aft

5%

202%1B81R8 12 12
ERIllS (25) (25)
2022 £ 12 A 31 H (13) (13)
ERIllS 2 2
2023 £ 12 A 31 H (11) a1

HE 2023 F% 2022 F 12 B 31 B - XEBERER 2 BB NESEH$15,844,000 375 ( 2022 £ : $12,397,000 =78 ) -
ST ARIERARRERA - BRRRBEARSLAE R ATFERRTIARE - SMEDPH 11,396,000 =T ( 2022 F :
10,519,000 7T ) B8RSR FAISIRE & - BN AR/ AR UNHIEEF SR EEF S - RMFEF£58$3,908,000
270 (2022 £ : $1,878,000 5T ) RIVELEFAESMEE - RMEMAZEBINEEERR 2024 FE 2028 FHIHRE
$15,844,000 %75 (2022 % : $12,397,000 =70/ 2023 FE 2027 FEIH ) - EMEBBHARTREZREAZERE -

FRBEL 2 W= RINARRIELE SR E E$500,000 =7t ARKRMAE A AT BRIIRELEFSREENZ-
9] HithsE1E

KATGBRUNBREZERAT - WARIZWARERNERIABRERREHE -

ERR  MEAHARZESR 0 LS% 2 BEREREFERE ZMBE

A5 ERR20104F - ik
URFEREZ FASRD ST

ERURFERBEZ FATRD K - GBI
BMEMGTE - EOEERESERAERZRYE - EXRE - KAREANGRZRRZE
RepublicAct (RA) No.9728 Bt BRERBE - RECREERBEZAT  HHART - &
#% - fIkRANo0.7916 HMFEERBCNERERZEERERS -

ERBEZFRE - AR ZED Z_THRBAZENZ—ABE - INMEHK -

RABNRAFRRULBAASRZZE -
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11. BRER
HE2023FK 2022 F 12 831 B - StEAFEEABREBERTERESRBRERIIRNT

(BfI: =2F7T)

*EH
2023 2022
BERARIEERESHEAZIBBUG EERRRESRER (21,066) (28,596)
MEFRBENEERREBUAESREIE(EL : TR) : 544,911 545,286
EXARESREREL : £9) (3.866) (5.244)

EGREFZGE

BEABREGZAEHGUBBTAATLEBRRE ZFFRULQTFRERR Z MO RBENEBERRE -
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12. FBE - BER®R

FEHE

%

2022 % 1 81H
BR

B

BN

ERTEY
AUHRARERE (MIRE35)
2022 £ 12 A 31 H
(PH&E35)

BR

BED

ENH

R B

2023 £ 12 31 H

BRHTEREE

2022 % 1 81H
TEER

B2

BN

ERTEY

2022 £ 12 A 31 H
EERA

B

ENH

RIRIRK

R B

2023 £ 12 31 H

2022 £ 12 31 H

2023 # 12 831 8

JEETIS

RESFNAFEBIE - EEREILELDE - BERREFLERENS - HoWEISE5$1,534,000 =7t - - AEE
AETRWEER - RIKBERNTSPRCMERERRTZEE - €T 17%TNRERENESRAEE - ARSH5BL

BEME  WERER

(BfI: X£TT)

MR Hithik B WARE HEMR EHRE KeIE ast
25,239 40,480 3,013 4,690 1,598 10,233 85,253
132 6,549 187 91 332 10,814 18,105
(51) (3.819) (44) - (29) - (3,943)
12,483 5,295 30 134 57 (17,999) -
(977) (511) (661) (44) (34) - (2,227)
- (2,254) - - - - (2,254)
36,826 45,740 2,525 4,871 1,924 3,048 94,934
1,603 755 33 188 411 123 3113
- (2,366) (44) - (81) - (2,491)
3,102 9) (13) @ 2 (3,080) -
(10) 3) 24 3 2 - 16
41,521 44,117 2,525 5,060 2,258 91 95,572
14,004 32,049 2,068 4193 829 - 53,143
836 1,593 401 148 199 - 3177
(51) (3,819) (44) - (14) - (3,928)
299 (299) - - - - -
(338) (300) (365) (25) (22) - (1,050)
14,750 29,224 2,060 4316 992 - 51,342
1,215 2,317 182 182 222 - 4118
- (2,352) (39) - (81) - (2,472)
(159) 9 (1) 158 3 - -
- 2,000 - - - - 2,000
(22) 1 24 8 7 - 18
15,784 31,199 2,216 4,664 1,143 - 55,006
22,076 16,516 465 555 932 3,048 43,592
25,737 12,918 309 396 1,115 91 40,566

&S - MBS 3 SHRZAREE - 8E 2023 FHFE - SRSIREIEIENS2,000,000 =i "ERER" BT -

SERITISEE T B 5% - IFERERIMNEIBIE%$76,000 =T -

HRBRFRIZEMRE  HUWESHEGKRESRERIRAEBEREERAFZERAEEES -

WARER
HiImERE

RATTERE
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2023

2022

4.0% —44.0%
5.0% - 6.0%
13.3% - 16.7%

3.0% —8.0%
1.0% —3.0%
9.6% —18.2%

12. FHE - BERRE (F)

ARG ()

G E I F 2R

EERELSFDE  BMEARBETHRRILMRARSRERIZTEZ/RNOT
a) FEHAEAE

RRENRGRERELNERRERNEERENRRE ZAPANRLEAT - URARFEBENRMERNEAMEE -
b) WAMER

BRBWARREGRIEEEREHHNEERE 2 RIBTIOMERME -

o) HIRBER

RPLIHERERKIBAREXRNE  BEFBBREERMER Y RIFIBREE -

d) FRAETIRE

TREGRESEREHEERERAR M WREERETHERBEMARRRENRZER - RIXA
BER - GREREEFEBRE  TESNEFHELRRE (WACC) FISH - WACC RIREERERY

FHREEREEHREZEREN  MREAFNGEREEBEEZMEEREE - EEFERRARAERNbetath#l
MAAA - itbetak BB IKIBESF ARMIZER TGS -

BEZEER

ERNEZHRERIT

BRUWAMRENEIHEREFENRAITRERBEETIEE - ARG TERERLTERIRESER -

2023 2022
WA EZR 1.0% — 42.0% 0% —7.0%
HImIERE 0% - 5.0% 0% —0.7%
BRI IR 17.1% -19.7% 10.4% — 19.0%

84



12. REE - BERRE (#)
(Ef1:%=2F7T)

FATF BRG]

BEMERR _ MAR HEXR EWRE AL &it
D%
202 %181H 2,458 3,538 10 50 100 6,156
185 - 28 14 25 34 101
BHE - - 134 - (134) -
2022 % 12 A 31 B 2,458 3,566 158 75 - 6,257
5 - (17) - - - (]
BHE - 2 2 - - -
2023 £ 12 A 31 H 2,458 3,551 156 75 - 6,240
REtrE
202 %181H 2,454 3,459 9 50 - 5,972
ERA 4 40 43 4 - 91
2022 % 12 A 31 B 2,458 3,499 52 54 - 6,063
e - 19 49 5 - 73
5 - (17) - - - (17)
2023 £ 12 A 31 H 2,458 3,501 101 59 - 6,119
B
2022 % 12 A 31 B - 67 106 21 - 194
2023 #£ 12 A 31 B - 50 55 16 - 121
HHEE

HZE2023F12831H - tREEES $4,951,00057T ( 20224 : $4,959,000% 7% ) ZAEE - B/E KR EALUEIRIERE
BN - FFRMEE2S -

13. REUFHE
(BfI: X£TT)

REE
2023 2022

2%
1818 & 12 B31 H 5,465 5,465
Bt
181H 2,848 2,737
wEEA 112 111
12 831 H 2,960 2,848
12 B31 BFREEE 2,505 2,617
HHRYIERERRIIER
SUA (M 15) 613 613
EE (MIEE9) (112) (111)
B4 (9) 9)
R RER (12) (11)
RB% (3) (3)

477 479

AEERE M RENENMRIEEENoO. 7 corners of Argonaut Highway, Efficiency Avenue and Duty street, within Subic
Bay Gateway Park, Subic Bay Freeport Zone, Olongapo City, Zambales - U REVEE R BNFA ZEEMRELEY -
AEEREUABHELRERVIRG  TEZOEZBEE  BEARE  BEARSREUAIHE -
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13. REUFHE (F)
REMFEETIE
REUABDEGAELARERER 2B GEEMAEQAEE  ARAFELRMN RBA RS 2 F BERERM B RRMEE33 -

REUARBEZBARBEGUNEETE - W AGAGEMBBRERRRUEERBENMERERSE - 2023FE
WEARAI11.1% (20224 : 12.3% ) TREFRK "HHRRRNE" FERENEERE  SREEIEASTER - 832023
F12H8310  REREUADEZESNEERR  HARMBEEET$3,757,00057T (20224 : $3,774,000%7T ) - HE
SARBERESHNE ZANREGBE=SR( AN BEAERAEEERNREW A KEG AR EHERE
M ERM) -

14. GLHEE
(Ef: E=EFw)
AEE
2023 2022
D&
1816 10,533 9,652
1R 1,779 1674
54 (957) (793)
12A31 A8 11,355 10,533
REHINE
1810 6,417 5,200
RELA 1,956 1,988
545 (933) (771)
12A318 7,440 6.417
12 A 31 BFRENE 3915 4,116
15. &
BN

FEERBHABFERRTENBRZRY - BEENE 14 - HEERBZOPBBA—Z0F  BURBESHEHEAE -
HMEWAZFHEEMGUBERERKFEREME - AIEARRSEREWAREIERESE -

HE2023F 12 B31 B - AEERRZEYMRENRYZRT SXBEWE - HFREME 13 - ZEER 2023 FERIEE
HEWA%$613,000 =7t (2022 F : $613,000 =70 ) - FHEREMEE 4 "KikEM" HE - AELIER - FAEARIN
HE O RRESPRENINE - MZRESEE 2023 F12 B 31 BEE5$68,000 =7t ( 2022 F : $64,000 =73 ) - i
EXRHEERKE  RETASSREBELARE  BHEIS "EEEEWA" - #BE 12 831 B - BEEHEERAEDR
BANIEREBIIRMT -

(BfI: X£TT)

*EH
2023 2022
EIEFREUWA-R 5 5
EIEFEWA-FERE 18 23
23 28

REE TR LR EY) - WRSIEEHREWAS369,000 =53 (2022 £F : $213,000 =T ) REMBAET -
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15. #HE(#)
FEBLEN (F)

RUBREPBERLE - EBEFEERARTUMZ R EEERANT -
(BfI: =£TT)

A &EE
2023 2022

1FR 640 627
152 R 653 640
2E3 ER 666 653
3E4 FR 679 666
4F5 &R 517 679
5 ELLE - 517

3,155 3,782
FEERSLTHRBN
AEERANTEH T RREME AT HE - SRTWEBH 2 F 50 F - FEEEHRIRHAEBERA « BIMEB

HittiE S EAES) -

FEENTAETHAR T _EANMUTEBEREZAE - AEEHELEAERA HPRE" 1 "EEEEEEE" MU
WIE% -

2022 F - A/AT)8 Manhattan International Corp. ( MIC ) 2] —77% 8 50 2 T EHZE - HPAQT—ZESTE
EHES - BHREMEE29 -

LERELTBEAN (F

b) HERE
(BfI: =£TT)

AEE AQT
2023 2022 2023 2022

181H 3,910 6,779 316 476
i 258 2,680 - -
FSER (M9 272 396 30 36
BEHEAR%

x& (1,089) (5,459) (104) (119)

FlE (272) (396) (30) (36)
ERTEY (19) (90) (5) (41)
e (16) - _ _
128311 3,044 3,910 207 316
HERE - 7"E 801 575 21 129
HEEE - FhE 2,243 3,335 186 187

o EEHRIEE
(BfI: X£TT)

LV
2023 2022
ERREETE (Wi 9) 1,023 1,128
AERENSER (Wi 8) 212 396
ENREREAEZEFREER (Wi 9) 368 414
1,663 1,938

2023 FFFE  AEEHEE (QFEEHREEEEERE ) ZIRSREH$1,729,000 =T ( 2022 F : $6,269,000 =
JT) -

KL BLAN

KB - Fr B P AN

a) FRAEZEE

(EfI:%E£Fm)

FEE AREF
2023 2022 2023 2022
(PEE35)

it 8,122 8,325 48 50
DN 967 1,556 o7 211
sz 20 22 - -
128318 9,100 9,903 145 261
1818 9,903 8,386 261 380
15 258 2,680 - -
e (1,023) (1,128) (116) (119)
ek (16) - _ _
PERTEY (13) (35) - -
128318 9,100 9,903 145 261
87

R 2022 %581 R AASEEF AT Resilient Medical Pte. Ltd.( #7875 )& — A5 9 FRMERBERZE - £ 2031
#6830 0 - 2XEEHEDSRBIRBILER 10 F2EER - KRRE 50 F - ZIEGE MICL A MIC BRGHEE HE—
- BEREMLZEEESRITRES0 £ -

FERTELEA  EEREESEMIRENR ARBIEMEEZERERE - MFLH  SBREAEHARERRE
HE -
RRERRAEE G B RS) B #EEES4,500,000 =7T

4 - AREMERPRALIEA - RIIRBEEFRESE8$4,500,000 7T -
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EREGBUHEA ()

KB - FrAE PRGN (4 )

a) RHEHFRE
(BfI: =2F7T)

AT
2023 2022
(PFiIzE 35)
BEASZMNIRE 4,544 _
i - 4,500
IISUSON 527 344
&R (450) (300)
12 31 B 4,621 4,544

EUWAEERIZFES AN - BROT :

p. |
2023 2022
(MiE 35)

FEW R SR
1R 450 450
1ZE2 £/ 450 450
2E3 &R 450 450
34 ER 310 450
4FE S5 FR 479 310
5EN E 41,440 41,919

43,579 44,029
IEIEFAEUWA (38,958) (39,485)
U ER 2 FIRERE 4,621 4,544

b) #E#ERIIEE
(BfI: X£TT)

2023 2022
(FiEE 35)

RERWAERZMBWARIINRER 527 344

16. RAEREZRE
(BfI: =2F7T)

AT
2023 2022
K ETHRE - DUAA AR 28,369 28,369
A =E=E (128) (17
28,241 28,352
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16. RAEBEZRE (F)

a) AKEEHZE12 A 31 BFRFAZFATIRMANT :

BIST R &%
FAEEE FEEHER ZFREEH AT ZHEREEE AABRERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % =2FRn ES S
FREEERFE
Universal Weavers S ERHEHER FEREE 100.0 100.0 5,863 5,863
Corporation (UWC) @
Contex Corporation (CC)®  SHEEZEMA &AM - BA FEEE 98.8 98.8 1,854 1,854
R - #4058 - PREE - FTARIL
R
EREEIBRHBRAT BIE - - HERKEE = 100.0 100.0 7,569 7,569
(MTO) ® RN RIR B BRI R AR S
Medtex Corporation (@ SUS R EE M RS FEEE 100.0 100.0 474 474
REMAIRE @
Medtecs (Cambodia) BLEBREEM RIREIRE EICES 100.0 100.0 2,038 2,038
Corporation Limited (MCCL) ()
Medtecs (Asia Pacific) Pte. HEHEEN REMEME B4 100.0 100.0 1,241 1,241
Ltd. (MAP)@ 2 ER
Medtecs Materials S E - HERHEEHEER JEEHE 100.0 100.0 1,910 @ 2,021
Technology Corporation REAhEIME 2458 Bk
(MMTC) @ RARRRBR R E m R IR (B8 IR
SEARARTE
Medtecs MSEZ Corp., Ltd. EESBRAERER SRIBE 100.0 100.0 3,370 3,370
(MMSEZ)©
Medtecs USA Corporation 0 4= Rt FEE A€ LB K BB ESE) 100.0 100.0 100 100
RIgEmR
Medtecs (Far East) HEHBmEEMBEME EERBITHE 100.0 100.0 - -
Limited ® HEER
Cooper Development Limited & /AF] R ALE 100.0 100.0 3,822 3,822
)
BBFRIMEEE
N ERBRAHEERAT(R TERBEHHRREMA PEARHME 100.0 100.0 - -
) © BREER
M EEAEARAS(HE) O EERMESHER PEARIMER 51.1 51.1 - -
MBERAERERRATO LERBEHYR PEARHME 100.0 100.0 - -
Resilient Medical Pte. Ltd. S ERMBEEAPGERERER ik 66.7 66.7 - -
(RMPL) @ RIBEM
RMKH Glove Pte. Ltd. LERBEBEAGERBRER O 66.7 66.7 - -
(RMKH Glove) @ RIBEM
RMKH Glove (Cambodia) FELERME SRIHE 66.7 66.7 - -
Co,, Ltd.
(RMKH Cambodia) ©
MMNEHEENRARAS(E HEFERR  BERBN—R  PEARHNH 100.0 100.0 - -
MEHE) © HERERR
28,241 28,352
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16. RAEBEZRE (F)

a) AEEHE12 A3 BFRHFAEZFATIRMANT (&) :

HEZEXAEE -

REHHREN - ASGVER °

EABaker Tilly TFW LLP, Singapore&1% *
A& EBEREZ -
EEMA ZER A BRIAERT

g

)

E§ 38 e85 T

e

b) BEAFEZHIEEZ FATEES

DB IRRFr ARSI R

HSycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. (“SGV”) (Ernst & Young Globalfl 8)&#% -

2023%F - AREHMMTCIRERIIEIRIREAS$111,00057T - WRIRIRIRLR TEBER, BT -

TS RE 2 REI TS

2023 2022 2023 2022
% % Esomwr EE2TT
HtiE 48.9 367 367
RMPL REF AT 33.3 789 2,214

o BEAFZHESEZFROESZMBRE

NTEAFEHREZ FRASMBREZGRIBSFRS()FEH  TRBENSHANRERBRRAEEIHIERERETEI

BEAERBE
(BfI:%=£FT)
BtiE RMPL REFAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
SEREEE - - 24,170 22,218
REEE 750 750 5,611 3,335
SEREIE & - - (4,301) (4,211)
TENAE - - (22,763) (14,692)
BEE 750 750 2,717 6,650
BEREEHES ZFEE 367 367 906 2,214
e RERRE
(B Z&FT)
B8 RMPL REFAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
EZERA - 999 -
Zkgglgﬂﬁ CDURE (18) B FRE _ (4,225) 2,016)
BENIERGRRREIBRAEE - (1,427) (671)
REFERME
(Bf1:%=£FT)
18 RMPL REFAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
e - 1,661 (834)
BEEE - (1,864) (8,458)
BEEY - (450) 50
BHERNERSHOE - (653) (9,242)
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16. RAEBEZRE (F)

d) RS

AAE) 2023 £ 12 B 31 BEERESH MMTC ZREMPIREETRIRIS  REFEEERRENLS  ZEREFER
B - #E 2023 SEHEERSIMEEX$111,000 =T - RERBEIREREE$1,910,000 =7t - REEFEM 2D
WEEEGRBESERRERI ZAENFHEMBEHEERSRERN A EEERBEMEE - ZRIEENUREHE

BEHRORRER -

TR GENEREESIBMET

2023 2022
WA R R 8.0% 3.0%
HImER=E 3.5% 3.0%
AR = 13.4% 14.3%
TR E R I% 0.5% - A BUERSNIIRIRA$77,000 25t -
17. WYEE
(Efi: £2Tx)
*%m
2023 2022
EhEaE 2,654 139
B 709 709
3,363 848
He
(Efr: 22Fw)
%8
2023 2022
1818 R 12 A31 H 709 709
EE%AHFEE T HEDSBE TSRS EEEN  (FRRIEN 2R -
(Efr: 22Fw)
2023 2022
BUEEIFY 198 198
B PR AR TS BT 511 511
709 709
TS

REEFEUZIRRSRGURERREREMBREZIFHRSREFARER - EEBREENRTEERARY
PENEENE ZRRAEER L AT ERRERIGREEEEUZIDWEE

WA RE BIRERE RATFTIRE

2023

SUEEBMY 8.0% 1.0% 11.8%
BB AR TS ERPY 8.0% 1.0% 11.8%
2022

BHEERPY 7.0% —10.0% 1.0% 9.6%
BB ARFEERPY 7.0% —10.0% 1.0% 9.6%
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17. \|YEE (&)

ARG (48 )

FHRETE I+ 2R

N REEREIOHEEAEBERESREAN ZEARR

a) FRHIEAR

BRRENRGERELNERREREEREEARRE ZAPANREAT - URARFEBEARMRNEAMEE -

b) WARER

RHWARRRGREEEREHHREEEEURMTIONRERMGE -

o) HIRBER

BRPRHEREGKIBARERNE - EFEBARESETEUARERZRATIERE -

d) mEABERER

TENRERFEEE  ERAEEETEERENEA  ReELEUEHRBEFHFIMESEREL -

e) RANTIRE

RAFRERGREESEREEHNSREEEEVAR MG - WREEREIGEERURAARRRESRZER - ERES
BREEEFEUZINRER - GRRRESEEEUBEBRAE - LESNEFHERBEK (WACC) FFH - WACC [

EERERESHE EEZHAGERZREEHREZEREM maEzir Rl GERERBEEZNSERMAE -
REELEURERRARABERbetalFMAMA - libetal FRIKESF AR ZHIZERTMEMS -

ERER N 2 UK E

ZUEESFT

BERBWAMRRMEIIEREHEE 1% - S IQRERLTERNIREZE -
LR AT

BERAEImIERERE 1% - b5 TS RBERIRE £ 57$461,000 7T

18. EftiIEiReEE

A%E A5
2023 2022 2023 2022
i RERE - 3,303 - -
mAMAEESRE 3,000 3,000 - -
ik 1,019 1,121 79 92
FHfREE 560 557 - -
Hith 416 448 - 20
4,995 8,429 79 112

LIIRERE
FEECSEBRENUE - FENEABRURARREGSMBNARRERR -

FEFESE-BERATRAAMBEGEEHEZHH AR MGESIEE - HAERNENIFEENRBETRTSNRE -
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18. EfthIEiREEE (&

LITRERE (#)

)

BE 2023 FEFFE - AEE$3,938,000 ETERHE T BRERSRE
SEEREN REHMES -

L EIEEFTRE

REEIRE$3,000,000 ETHRIBEBAALHBFAES - BHRS 3 F - RES 5.5% - EELUBHERAS
RE  HRBABREINBHANBRETSER  HEIHE  EALEERBTHEBRPNE 3 FETRE -

BMIEE 33 -

HE

BEHHESHANACASEERBEZIRERS - KES

FUIFREE

FHREEHOaEERE

At

HithBESHAEEEREMRIRE - #F 2023 S51FE  AEEREAIDFINPHESHRE

$20,000 =7t °

19. #&

D%

EREFEE

[}

E8m
MRREHER
B

FRIREE
EREFEE

[}

E8m

MR REHER
B

MABBEREBENE

HPBGEREEAAEHE -

25TH2$260,000 =TI EMAR

SHHESHN
HAEMAES

FREZRES - FRERBENBRARHERBENRE - UTRENHBERERE -

B38$29,000 =55

(BfI: X£TT)
&8 FAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
35 2,510 1 2,190
30,074 27,925 - -
805 2,198 - -
830 972 - -
20,908 18,536 922 3,027
52,652 52,141 923 5,217
35 2,510 1 2,190
23,409 21,545 - -
502 777 - -
808 961 - -
12,605 10,687 344 1,859
37,359 36,394 345 3,304
37,359 36,394 345 3,304
94



._.
©
at
b

I~

&)

REER2023FERSERIFEMAR$16,548,0005 7T ( 20224F : $20,568,000%7T ) - FENIEIBERFIERELL
FEREAERE - FEREFRERXEHERNOT :
(BfI: X£TT)

20. FEUTIRTR (&)
FEHEERAEES( ECLs” )

R EME ERBIRREIERBERRRERESIEROT

AEE AT
2023 2022 2023 2022
1818 15,747 4,161 1,913 -
EEEER 3,072 11,748 25 1,913
i (1,440) - - -
peiE (2,085) (158) (1,360) -
PERTEEY (1) (4) = -
128318 15,293 15,747 578 1,913

EE AT
2023 2022 2023 2022
1818 3,794 235 2,738 -
EEEBA 6,004 3,591 6,000 2,738
ek (1,117) (23) (1,117) -
bl (125) - - _
ERTAY (1) 9) - -
12H31H 8,555 3,794 7,621 2,738

BRENERTIIERECOVID-19 B EERBHRTE T BREFEMA NREEFLREE AEENAQT R 2023
FEBIRIFEFIKIEKR$3,072,000 =75F1$25,000 =7t (2022 4 @ $11,748,000 75#1$1,913,000 =73 ) -

4 - DIBTFERRSIFEFREAN 2023 S5t FEHE - AEEEERIFEEIKIE%$1,440,000 £t -

20. FEWIIRER
(Bfr: =%Tm)

2023 F - REEMAR T2 BIRFIHIE TR EARIE18%$6,004,000 #7571$6,000,000 7T (2022 4 : $3,591,000 =
7cA1$2,738,000 £t ) - EhE2BRRNREZ IR GMNKEBEELENE  SBRREFIGEFWREN ZHEEX -

21. HtREhEE
(BfI: =£TT)

*& FAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
TRED 20,084 30,358 9,980 25,870
FERE 4,265 - 4,265 -
24,349 30,358 14,245 25,870
FELIIRR
258 29,800 31,473 21,866 28,608
BRI 2,292 2,253 - -
ez psasiul 812 426 - -
32,904 34,152 21,866 28,608
L BIRTREERREER (8,555) (3,794) (7,621) (2,738)
FEWIR RS & 24,349 30,358 14,245 25,870

AEE AT
2023 2022 2023 2022

EER 2,576 2,918 1,033 1,027
BN 405 846 115 568
BNET 45 165 16 28
FEULFR R 729 944 - -
HitREs 1,960 2,361 9 107
HitFELR 672 1,376 59 500
D= =L (1,076) (254) (1,076) (254)

5,311 8,356 156 1,976

BNEREGZNHESRR—FERNMBERNEY ZHE - 2022 F - AREERREFERBENRSHEKE - AE£EE

BRI FEMNEM$1,500,000 =TT -

2023 £ - AEERARBCHNEZEBAMBERE - LUSERKRBERE8$22,563,000 =7t - ERETEBAFEBEAR
1 £ 6 FABERENE HRNER—FZEERBZHSNEGR - Bt - AEBRA AT HER—F2IEEREN DR
RIERE -

BURIERGERR - BEER 1 24 @ERIH - REARREREL - BMURERS TR -

#HE12 B31 B - DUMSSHEBUIRRSIROT -

2023 EEtEE - AREREERGEHE MRS EARE - AEEF R HE M EI$90,000 =T ¢
HitnfRESEERE 12 BRANE 2 TREE S ROURERES -

HE 12 A31 ALt - DOMBSEHEEMARBEESIRNOT

*& ART
2023 2022 2023 2022
FERERR 1,058 339 - -
NG 35 51 - -
e 2,828 2,333 - -
95

*& FAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
man 2,252 709 - -
AR# 758 1,248 - -
FREERR 666 303 42 38
NI 1 9 - -
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21. HEfttmEEE (%)
THRIEX

HitREEEmMBRAEHERNOT

(BfI: X£TT)

&= NG
2023 2022 2023 2022
181H 254 50 254 50
EFEER 822 204 822 204
123318 1,076 254 1,076 254

2023 #F - ARHEHEEETRERS  ARSFEZESRRERD - LAEENA R SREIETEIRIVBIEEIEEX

$822,000 7T (2022 £ : $204,000 =75 ) -

22, FEWRGARBER

23. RERNERERER

(EBf1: ££7F7)
FEHE AT
2023 2022 2023 2022

EFRE 81 2,815 1 2,771
RITER 15,161 9,262 350 595
EHER 17,799 23,204 - —
33,041 35,281 351 3,366

W BBAAR 3EAR L 1 ENRZER
(BREBHER) (10,736) (17,159) - -
RERKNERE 22,305 18,122 351 3,366

FEBRARSRITHRZRBITERZBARAENL -

FEFERBEH/RTEERRERGHERFAEIER 2 EHFREE$5,380,0005 7T (20224 : $833,000%%7T ) - b5 - 2
WILHERERRRRTRABTEE - #E 2023 £ 12 A 31 B AEEREHREEREREER$7,800,000% 7T
(2022 : $53,000,000%7T ) - BLEERERGEUZES RIFRBRAHELE - HEFZERD1.63% — 5.90% (2022 F:

1.75% - 5.25%) °

HE12 A31 B DUMSSHRBESHNEREIIRMT ¢

EAT
2023 2022
B FAERR (RS ) 25,377 24,421
ERFREMRR (RS ) 22,466 14,130
o BIEREERERK (6,504) -
41,339 38,551
B FRERR (RS ) 25,960 21,626
RiE  BWFASIRTUER 15,379 16,925

HY AT ZEUIER (RS ) GRER 22 - BRAERBSN -

HFRNEZEUIRR (FFRS ) %BATE RMPL IR EBHZRIEE) 2 FANFIA -

BROEHBmZN -

HYATZEMNER (RS ) GRER 22 - BRAERBSN -

BHEERX

REFHRBE KRR ARBERBERNEELESERNT

BERIBHEBER  UFANETRITR -

(BfI: =£TT)

EAT
2023 2022
181H - _
BERMERRNBRA KT HBREE
EREX 6,504 -
12831H 6,504 -

97

*&E NG
2023 2022 2023 2022
FRERR 2,944 4,866 32 43
e 4,168 3,451 - 2,770
HNIR S 538 683 137 134
AR 1,019 685 - -
BT 8 7 1 1

REBMARSTHEREFRPEFAEWASRI%$1,139,0005= 70 ( 20224 : $453,00057T ) F$0=7T( 20224 : $26,000

£57) -

24, ERMKREfRENSE

(BfI: X£TT)
&= NG
2023 2022 2023 2022
FERIIRRR 2,045 1,815 153 199
HittREh & E
E &R 1,365 2,660 395 356
ENER 2,564 1,972 155 24
B IR R E RS R ESE 5,974 6,447 703 579
BARRGRIER 28 - BR—FAXN -
Hitt BN REERNBUSHBRIBENEFAN IR -
HE 12 A31 A1t - DOMERHERMIRRREMAE S EIIRAT
(B : =2F7T)
&= EAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
e 1,913 1,178 - -
AR 1,048 1,515 - -
FREERR 605 1,065 67 78




25. sEHAfERR

26. BAREER (4)

(EBfI: E£2F7T) ERR
NEEY FEH . =
= FEEREAT
BUENE e 2023 2022 207 = 5553
HAER RBTR £2Fn BT R T
RIER 1.64% 2024 2,950 978
o y 181H 4,500 2,361 3,000 2,112
”}%f% ) 2.12% 2024 20,911 14,665 ByiS e
EMEtREMEREE 23,861 15,643 - 1,500,000 1 - £82$0.166 =T - - 1,500 249
12831H 4,500 2,361 4,500 2,361

RENRR - MR KRR BEMNEHERZIREEES 5% $4,900,0005=75F1$5,380,000% 75 ( 20224 : 43543 $4,900,000 7071
$833,000%7T ) ( FASEMFTLI2M23 ) - (EARERZRIIEREREE 2 H175$20,911,0003 7T ( 20224 : $14, 665,000

7)) -

RPERGEAEEZERESRNEER  BARATE -

2022#% 1B 1AH
BEEBZRESRE
BERPER
BEEHER
SRBERTE (5 8)
Hith& s

ERAR

2022 # 128318
BEGHZHETRE
BERPER
BEEHER
SAVEERERAIR (M5 8)
Hith& s

ERAR

2023 # 128 31H

26. MRAKEER

EER
Bl EETTT _
(#f: Z2F7) 2022 £ 5 A 27 H ESEMEEHZE 2022 F£6 A 16 HIEZKREREMLE 2 RESHH B SR EER$0.0060 ETIREMKF)
AEBREAT (RER) - RLBFR 2022 F£7 B 13 BT - £585$3,271,000 =73 -
2023 2022

BERAE

3BA% 1,000,000,000 #% - =H& $0.05 =7t 50,000 50,000
LGN
1 A1 HE12 B31 H

LM 549,411,240 B - BK$0.05 ET 27,471 27,471

ANEEBTEBR - TEREBRMEK $0.05 ETHET
SARBANTRMNZHER] -

99

BENRBIRS2E6ER - FMETEE -

FEAfER

9,306

15,643
(9,306)

15,643

23,861
(15,643)

(470)

470

23,861

BRI9E-FAE  ERAATESERRREREES - KRY

27. BSMNEEHBZME RS

a) ESMEEHBZIRE

ESpEERE T MR RU AN ERREDEEMBREZEE  MEEZREER -

2023

181H
SN S ERBHM B RRREFZEY

123318

(BfI: X£TT)

2023

2022

BREMGRESERRAANRETEZEE T ERERBRIRE
ES
Hit”

(375)
394

19

*RREIR 2014 FEITHRUEGFABEEEAFBROBIRATMTOMIFZGIKRE - NEHFBBFEEQANEERS

RIINEEABERERE T 2HitEZNE -

28. B’

2023 FAREMERIRF -
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29. EARBARS

a) BBARS

BHRAGRIERAATESEH AT -

RERMBREEMMEERBEN - AEBEBGABZEARSSIRAT :

(BfI: =£TT)

g3
2023 2022
AARER
EES- 2,092 926
B BRSSO - RIS 15 RGBS - AEEDREMBEARS -
b) TEHEREHHEN
TEEBRERY (QENTESHH ) A5
(Bf1: £2F7)
*%E LV
2023 2022 2023 2022
BEER 214 208 212 205
NS 5,104 2,858 5,104 2,858
R E R BN 25 18 25 18
5,343 3,084 5,341 3,081
EENTES 2 EBRM
AT 4,809 2,539 4,809 2,539
23 - - - -
4,809 2,539 4,809 2,539

*ESERESFATEESES2000 £55(2022 : $3,000 E=7T)
TERERRBEASHFMNEEFNEESEE/ANENRTHBBBETLURE -

£ 2023 71 2022 FREATEEBAESRERRENIEMRBEAERN -

30. HAAE

HEEE

2021118120 - AR EFX—REMEBBANERIFEN HAERF$822,000%7T - 1120226185208 - AEREPHER -
HEREEAABZSEMRIE - 120226108250 - A ESHEF ZPHHR - BEESH$966,0005= 7T - EIMI$144,000
EPEAR HE2024F 28261 - FRIMYB I RF S AR $23,500% 7T - BESMY P EHF IR £ 58 $167,500%7T( 2022
F:$144,000%7T ) - #E2023F12831HEFHFE RS ERD - AWEIHEREEY - W EEURN S HEFPEAIR
WiITHER -

HE 2023 S FE - ANTRBEEBEHEAER - Bt - EREEAEZEREND - W2 EERIIGRRBERRNE
Bk BESEME 21 -
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31. EEEPMER

HEBERL

HESALEZ BRNEME G AR ZERNMRBHAZE  TEHPIRBRSBARSENPIBRE - REVBSEAS
Al - EEAPID BB R R ER KR 2 HERAMAEE - RERMPIRKRS B AR HSRBARDNERRRE 2K
BE R -

EIERMIRIER

HSEBIPINEREREEN  QFEBABR WELAFMAOS EENFMR - ER - RALRYE  REER - KE
REBHT  ELEREMIBRHEAUESEARNZARBRERCHY - EBNERER -

BB A PR H AR RE AR T I ORI 2 BB -

KEHREMEPIEESBHE MEDTECS mBZBERM T BT - ZEREMEME ZERE - AEERRFAELE
B HEEM MR BERRMEN - MRE - BE - WRSERMES -

i BB

FEEZMER D BEHERBAEEREZPIEN - HETIENEFLAGKE PHAEM 2t &RISHE -

SEBER

BMMPZEEER BENAEORUVERBBZEMRURGBLLARIBZIEE - RAOBZEETEOERN 2 EE

FRISMER  RIEMSHEERAR MPRERREEHER - SHAHIZWA - BRNEEERESHMHEZBERS -5
LEHPMBBERSEREREHERBTLUPH -
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31, £EEMER (&)

a) EESPIEM

HE 2023 FR 2022 F 12 B31 B - AEEEFFMIEFBA -

2023

SN
REISMNIEBBA
EBPIRIBA

WA&E

ik

MIEER
FATEWA
PRSI
REFE

B ESPIEE:

BEARAZ

rE R

BEGEKERX
BIERUORRIAIERREIREL
BEAMRBSEERBIER
BEFHE - BERRFERISESX
HitSFR & H-$58

103

BER  EE  AaEREMERSITOT

(Bf7: =£T7T)

BUSER B&FRARTS B REM TEE

34,558 14,544 3,537 52,639
7,481 - - 7,481
42,039 14,544 3,537 60,120
(7,481) - - (7,481)
34,558 14,544 3,537 52,639
(23,516) 731 (218) (23,003)
(816)

1,304

27
(22,488)

147,180 13,951 5,636 166,767
36,056 401 2 36,459
4,443 898 304 5,645
4,513 2,584 112 7,209
3,072 - - 3,072
6,000 4 - 6,004
822 - - 822
2,000 - - 2,000
(503) - - (503)

31. EEEMER (F)

a) EESMER (])

2022

ERUWA
REISMNIEBBA
EBPIEIA

WAER
ik

MBER
ABWA
PRSI
REFE

mEE
FES X

B 1AL E:

BEARAZH

ITEREHE

BEGEKERX
BIERUIORRIAIERREIRER
BEEMRBEERIRER
HithIFR &S H-F 8]

b) &R

(B E&FT)

BUSHET &R ARES S iH R E A AEE
35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243
7,779 - - 7,779
43,459 14,312 6,251 64,022
(7,779) - - (7,779)
35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243
(30,739) 666 (272) (30,345)
(951)
642
1,391
(29,263)
162,732 16,295 3,022 182,049
29,399 274 61 20,734
16,354 1,751 - 18,105
3,757 2,536 11 6,404
10,984 - 764 11,748
3,591 - - 3,591
204 - - 204
327 - - 327

RESMIEPBAKEEMRIFRSEEREEMEMERDERIIROT

NI
SEREE
RIFEE
a%
REE
ERE
ESE]
£

(BfI: X£TT)

RESMEBESBA FREEE
2023 2022 2023 2022

- - 689 702
5,342 11,333 10,169 16,192
- - 41,132 35,604
16,560 18,768 15,442 17,585
- - 1,407 1,577
15,075 11,705 - -
8,487 9,149 - -
4,956 2,507 - -
50,420 53,462 68,839 71,660
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32. &WTH
a) EWMIRZEH

HE2023FR2022F 128318 - £MIEIRNOT :

32.

FEE EAT
2023 2022 2023 2022
ETHEE
REHEMAGEZSMEE 64,596 74,219 56,047 68,514
BRBEREARREGEZEHEE 416 448 - -
BREMGRSEREANRETEZSME
E - 3,303 - -
65,012 77,970 56,047 68,514
EMEE
REBHERAESZERMAE 32,827 25,809 26,859 22,502

b) MBEEERBRKREE

FEENARSEEEERZHEMBARZEE  aafxaR RatRRE -

ERERMNERRR FEERERREE

BREEREMDSNATIRAEIR - USRAUBRBHREBHBIRNKRIBENZBELNZE -

EFETCERIZEZ TR ERIZERIBEE

i. MERERE

NERERGEIEBRARTHE ZERAM S ZBUGR - LB B2 BRENI ZBUR -
BEAABREIRRBESRENE 2 AR - REENRGF B ZBERASTERER

MR -

TREAEERAATSEARARZ /M T ERESE :

e T

REEMNRER EEIHEE—F

AEE
2023 2022
BEEF R
EHER 17,799 23,204
FEFIER
SEERfERR (23,861) (15,643)

AEREBRSRE DT

NTHREIMGERBELEESERAZERIEGRE  DURERSHVREZESE HREFFBNEZER

EMBREHEARER

=-

BREMEEFA/ TR 0.5%  EEEREZAMEHREAENERT - ARER
[E518 538 0/7R /0 $24,000 373 (2022 £ : $16,000 =7T) -

105

NI BERBIN/ED  BREEERE

=MITH (&)

MBEREERRREE (8)

ii. ENE R

REURARGBAEEN A ANRESARBERBENREZEAR - AEERARTHEZRBERBREZREERH
BEEASHAREER 3 -

EEERMRRSE  FAEECEEREERTAREERMREZRERNERSEBEKE - DRERSABRE
B IE AEENAQTEBRTENDRSRAERESERAZHAEAMREET -

TRAFEEBRAATKB GRS 2 A BEIMIET:

(BfI: =£TT)

IEEEE 1T 1E5% 5 EME ait

K&EE

2023

JSEEE P 23,861 24,362 - - 24,362

FEN IR R Bt B & 4 5,922 5,922 - - 5,022

HEaE 3,044 687 1,370 10,569 12,626
32,827 30,971 1,370 10,569 42,910

2022

BB 15,643 15,643 - - 15,643

FEN IR R Bt B 4 6,256 6,256 - - 6,256

HEaE 3,910 830 1,817 10,660 13,307
25,809 22,729 1,817 10,660 35,206

b /N

2023

FEN IR R Bt B & 4 692 692 - - 692

BRNTFATIR 25,960 25,960 - - 25,960

HEaE 207 21 112 706 839
26,859 26,673 112 706 27,491

2022

e IRER Bt B & 4 560 560 - - 560

ERFATIHR 21,626 21,626 - - 21,626

HEaE 316 138 227 611 976
22,502 22,324 227 611 23,162

1: BHBRAENIRR
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32. &MITH(#)
b) BABEISEIREIEREE (&)
iii. EXRER
AEERHERRE - BRI EEABEMEEZRIEREAR - GUAEBINAEMERIINZEAFHE - 26
RIFEERR - A ARBLURIMEE - BERSHEIMEEERETT - NEEK 36% (2022 F:42%) 2 HE
BIMIMEEHE - T 36% (2022 F: 40%) Z A BUAEEAS FREERNEEHEKEE - AEEREERERA
2 FEWIR R R IR FREREE MR SR U IR
REBRANTEFBLNEHEZRBSNERER - ARLEZSHE - REESERH - BEMNEREEELN
AEEARINE A EHE -
AEERGELERBFRENRBEEREREANR - TEGLUABIMNSHEZERER -
EF R RES T
TEREIGIIMNESIEO R HE - TEMEHAET  FRERR AR  aBMURMIKSEREZS) (A
RET ) ERAEERFTFBREZHREITNT
(Bf1: E2Fw)
AEE
2023 2022
RN (18) HWRALEF (18)
FERERR
FHE 0.7% (2022: 9.3%) (16) 267
18 0.7% (2022: 9.3%) 16 (221)
AR
FHE 1.7% (2022: 9.5%) (13) (77)
218 1.7% (2022: 9.5%) 13 63
ma
FHE 0.6% (2022: 10.8%) 99 (1,331)
218 0.6% (2022: 10.8%) (99) 1,071
R
FHE 2.2% (2022: 0.03%) (12) (1)
218 2.2% (2022: 0.03%) 12
FERZEZEM) - ADKRIBEEREE -
iv. SRR

107

ERERGEEFAEHMTIEZRSHARERTENEBMELEMBIBRZER -

FEBBERGERFEEBAMRE - ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%/Jthﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁ%EﬂZ%% FEEEANREERPZE=ARS *
REAEEZRE  FAERUERBRERRZZEF  EAKBEREYR - 55 - HHEEEBUOIRERE - AEE
ZIRRRBIUARER - POMSERRS BRI ZRS - RTATREAZAEN - ERSUERBREETRS -

EREMEMEENRERAERERAMBER (SRGBARS ) ZERER - TERERRSHALRERTEN
FBZEAR  HEANEREREREERNEEZIRAEE -

32.

b)

iv.

=MITH (&)

MBEREEERREE (&)

ERERE (&)

FEBZABERTGERERERRBRRAGENT :

EREEERA FHERARERAEERER
RSUHFEBENRRE - BERETEHHRIE - 12(88
BEMEHARMNI0X - MERAKRERSVMEEEM - FEPE - ERKEE
SEMEHARMNIOR - AFEERERNEZEE - FHEPE - SRS
BRBET  BAERHURWIE  NEBARSHENE | P

ABERFR -

EAEEREZEEN

FEERBEMBREAILRRETIAZENEELREBVEARETLR - A ENEECHEAREEBRAGRS
DURBRZIEN - AEFTEEGR Y EMHATEEEH - O2BELLBNAIRMEES - MARKENTERE - Z&H
AEAFTHBAIRETES -

BHESE

FEERBUTERRREREERARENSEY - ERELER - FEUTE—REZRIIRFESRERE -
EAREZEHEE

E-ENZESHHZERNEEZARAFRBEREGAEEACNZER  ZENEERRRERARIE - NEERBER
ABBREANVBERE FEEVNANSEY  BRBETERAUREAREZNE B EMAMRER | BRMERE
BRZEHMEENTSEREN.L ; IZREERECANBZARITISHEE -

1Bt A EE R

EXMBREPE - RIBGESEMARISEREZ G T ANEERRIIREE -

FEUTFRIR

HE

FEBRANTDHBEIRRIRSIFEBBREMEREL - UHEAERPRSERUBIRRIREIETE - HZSRUIR

RESIFEPRBERBRROT
(BfI: =2F7T)

AE@E A
2023
FEW IR R AR 2R 23,384 21,675
[-EiRiES 8,433 7,621
2022
FEUWIR R AR 2R 27,282 26,335
% =FS 3,675 2,738
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32.

b)

iv.

109

EMIR (&)
MBEREEERREE (8)
ERERE (&)
FEWIFRIE (48 )
ol =1
FEBRBRREERERIBRINRGEFRBBZEPEREL - RERARBRGEEEFELARBNEN
R HEF 2023 F£K 2022 F 12 A 31 BZRBERARBEAT GG ESHERRBERASHMEMEEN - T BHE

ARt EES R ERRWRIANERRBREN -
(B E=2F7T)

AEME
2023 =8 BB1EA EB2EE #BB3EA ##BB4ER &t
IR EERLE 8,263 691 147 57 362 9,520
HIRIBKIRS - - - - (122) (122)
8,263 691 147 57 240 9,398
2022
IREEERZE 3,722 480 48 300 2,320 6,870
HIRIE RIS - - - - (119) (119)
3,722 480 48 300 2,201 6,751
ART
2023
IREEERZE 184 - - - 7 191
HIRIE RIS - - - - - -
184 - - - 7 191
2022
IR EERLE 202 - 3 2 2,066 2,273
HIRIBKIRS - - - - - -
202 - 3 2 2,066 2,273

32.

=MITH (&)

MBEREERRREE (8)

iv. EREME (%)

EFFIRE P &4

FEEBEEEHEERAZSEXRBURRASLOREERARZEPRE - AEERWEANEERFEREZE
RERRSEPREIR T &
(BfI: =2F7T)

*EH
2023 2022

= AR gALE = £ SARERLER
BIE R
BIrES 1,708 % 353 1%
BR 4,382 18% 1,074 4%
TRIE 18,259 75% 28,931 95%

24,349 100% 30,358 100%
HREBFI A
BUEET 21,267 87% 27,707 91%
BaRARTS 2,288 10% 2,245 8%
B RE A 794 3% 406 1%

24,349 100% 30,358 100%

Bk 18% 2 FEWIIRTR (2022 F:4% ) EPRAEBZ =R EEFI - WHREMBEXNEHEAREPIER -

HEEEBERH  AEEZEWRIRTD - 49$4,500,000 =5t (2022 & : $1,300,000 =7t ) REMARIEERENZ
—REEER -

e

FEEZHEE (FREBIRRSN ) ZERRBEIIRNT :

12 ERsSEESEM 2
FREEREX IRE48ER HIRIER FIRE S

2023

BARBERFRE 12 @8 3,000 - 3,000
HitnIpReh s E 12 @8 1,995 - 1,995
HitvRE&E 12 @R 2,677 - 2,677
RERRITERREREFR = 33,041 - 33,041
2022

EhkERE 12 @R 3,303 - 3,303
BARBERFRE 12 @8 3,000 - 3,000
HitnIERe s E 12 @8 2,126 - 2,126
HitvRE&E 12 @R 1,648 - 1,648
RERRITERREREFR = 35,281 - 35,281
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32. &WTHR (&)
b) MBEMERERREEE ()
iv. EREME (%)

EHmE (#)

KTATEHMEE (FREWVIRRSN ) ZERRBEIIRNT :

12 ERSEESRR 2
bEL A EERES IRE 4858 B FIRESE

2023

HityREnEgE 12 @R 156 - 156
il NIl 12 @8 34,835 - 34,835
W —F ATIER FHEEARA 6,504 (6,504) -
RERBITEARRELHFHR i 351 - 351
2022

HitRENE E 12 @8 1,976 - 1,976
FEWF AR 12 @8 38,551 - 38,551
RERRITERREHER i 3,366 - 3,366

FEEZRBARERNNEZ SHEELTEERERY - JOWEREREX - SnBEZEREEGERUERIER
CIRELRAY -

REPDMRRIEZ EHEE (OESEERRRES ) GREEARFZEBA - RERVNERSREMERERR
KESERERABREEZ SRS -

33. HEEVABENARERE

a) AnEERER
FEEFEARAAEEZERNAAEBSEAREBEERETHE  MTFR
F—ER REERTNEZEREENRRNEETHE 2 ARKE (RERE) -

FEM  BRE-SR2ARKRMES LUBRZEENAEE R (TEMER ) ik ( TEIHEESEEMS ) IREZ8A
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Corporate
Profile

Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the "Company"
or "Medtecs") is a leading supplier and distributor of
personal protective equipment ("PPE") and provider of
logistics services to healthcare institutions with over 30 years
of experience in the manufacturing of PPE and workwear. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group")
commenced operations in 1989 and has since established a
strong presence in the United States, Europe and Asia Pacific.
The Group has offices and facilities spanning across Asia
including Singapore, Taiwan, the Philippines, the People’s
Republic of China ("China"), Cambodia and the United States
of America. The Company was listed on the Singapore Dealing
and Automated Quotation System (SESDAQ) of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") on 6 October
1999 and transitioned to sponsor-supervised regime on
Catalist with R & T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. as its
continuing sponsor on 26 February 2010. The Group’s Taiwan

Depository Receipts ("TDRs") have been listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange since 13 December 2002.

The Group’s main lines of business include manufacturing, trading and distribution, and providing integrated hospital
services. As a manufacturer of a wide range of PPE, workwear apparels and protective coverings for hospitals and
manufacturing industries, the Group maintains diversified manufacturing facilities and production lines in the Philippines,
Cambodia, Taiwan and China and the United States to reduce supply chain disruptions. For our trading and distribution
business, the Group has logistics and warehousing centers in Canada, Europe, Japan and the United States and is working
with Amazon, DHL and other e-commerce and logistics services providers to optimise our distribution efficiency. As a
hospital services provider, the Group provides hospitals in Taiwan and the Philippines with integrated services which
include rental and laundry of linens, management of laundry facilities, hospital automation, as well as procurement
solutions for the hospital’s PPE and medical devices needs. In Taiwan, the Group is currently the dominant total solutions

provider for such hospital services, with a customer base of 19 hospitals.
The Group has also successfully expanded its hospital service in the Philippines, covering 30 hospitals.

The Group is dedicated to safeguarding the health and safety of people worldwide.

Coporation Limited
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The Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023



Chairman’s
Message

Dear Shareholders,

First and foremost, on behalf of the Board of Medtecs
Group, please accept my sincerest greetings, as well as
my profound apologies for the Group's less than ideal
operating performance in the post-pandemic era over
the past two years.

Faced with an immensely challenging global landscape,
we remain focused on carrying out targeted efforts and
in executing the Group's operations and we are
proactively reinforcing operational resilience to seize
opportunities arising from the restructuring of global
supply chains, while concurrently planning our foray into

the silver economy and long-term care industries.

The Year In Review

In FY2023, the global PPE market continued to decline,
especially with weak end-user demand. The Group's total
revenue decreased by 6.4% year-over-year to $52.64
million, mainly due to the underperformance of the
domestic markets in Taiwan and the Philippines. In the
second half of FY2023, customers in the original
equipment manufacturer ("OEM") business segment
began placing orders to rebuild their stock levels
following the depletion of their oversupplied inventory,
and revenue from new product lines (such as our nitrile
gloves) also showed a warming trend.

The Group still recorded a net loss of $22.49 million in
FY2023, mainly due to the provision for doubtful
accounts receivable, impairment losses on fixed assets,
higher depreciation expenses from fixed asset
investments, and one-time costs associated with the

retirement of production line employees.

Focus on Core
Strengthen Execution

Business,

Continued Development of Core
Business

We will continue to focus on the development and

Clement Yang
Chairman

production of our core product, namely PPE. By
enhancing product quality and production efficiency, we
can strengthen our competitiveness in the global market.

Over the past two years, we have maintained close
communication with our partner customers, and have
undertaken structural adjustments to address their
concerns over quality assurance, product certification
and compliance, production efficiency, and delivery
times, which will undoubtedly contribute to our long-
term development.

Strict Cost and Expense Managements

Facing the uncertainty of the global economy and the
pressure of rising costs, we strive to maintain the Group's
competitiveness. With the implementation of our
Enterprise Resource Planning ("ERP") system, we will
continue to streamline processes and reduce operational
expenses by optimising production line efficiency,
logistical support department cost management, and
energy management. These efforts will help reduce our
cost-to-income ratio and enhance our profitability.

Strengthening Supply Chain
Management

Amid the escalating risks of geopolitics and warfare,
global supply chains face numerous challenges. The
Group has undertaken relevant optimisation in supply
chain management, including:

. Utilizing ERP and Artificial Intelligence ("Al")
interface to adjust inventory levels

. Establishing robust collaborative relationships with
key suppliers

. Optimising production processes through lean
management and automation to improve
efficiency

. Enhancing logistics and distribution networks to
increase delivery speed

Through these efforts, we can effectively reinforce the
stability and flexibility of our supply chain, mitigate
operational risks, and ensure rapid and efficient

fulfillment of customer demands.

Venturing into Long-Term Care

Since the Group’s establishment, we have upheld the
vision “to better the world’s health for everyone,
everywhere” and the mission of “providing safe and
effective products with speed, warmth, and care”.
Whether in the production and manufacturing of PPE or
the provision of services to medical institutions, we have

consistently advanced in accordance with this philosophy.

As developed nations gradually transition into aging
societies, the longevity industry is also rapidly evolving.
This encompasses, but is not limited to, healthcare,
biotechnology, medical equipment, anti-aging research,
health management, nutritional supplements, elderly

care services, and home nursing care.

The Group is looking to expand product offerings to
include home health products and medical devices to
address the needs of an aging society. We are actively
promoting high-tech elderly care solutions, health
management services, and social participation for the
elderly. Our aim s to progressively build a comprehensive
and diversified longevity industry ecosystem that caters
to the diverse needs of the aging population.

Green Future, Sustainable Development

In response to the environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) and corporate social responsibility (CSR)
requirements, particularly in the realm of green energy,
the Group has implemented a series of strategies to
enhance sustainability and reduce its environmental
footprint. This includes transitioning towards the use of
renewable energy sources such as solar and biomass to
increase the proportion of green energy consumption at
existing production sites, thereby reducing carbon
emissions; building a green supply chain; training
employees to raise environmental awareness; and
participating in green community projects. Through
these initiatives, we not only mitigate the environmental
impact of our operations but also bolster our corporate
image and competitiveness to achieve corporate
sustainability.

Acknowledgement

Amidst the fluctuations and challenges in the global
political, economic, and financial landscape, and in
addition to implementing the aforementioned
operational strategies and countermeasures, we will
continue our efforts to execute the “4A Project” initiated
last year. This encompasses Al, Application Programming
Interface (API), Analytics, and Automation, with the aim
of enhancing operational efficiency and effectiveness. In
2024, we will persist in actualizing the 4A Project
implementation. Furthermore, we will maintain our
unwavering commitment to the 55/7S activities that have
been promoted for the past six years. We firmly believe
that by upholding our core values of "Customer Focus,
Valuing Our People, and Sustainable Practices," we will
undoubtedly scale to new heights through the collective
efforts of all our colleagues.

Once again, we extend our gratitude to all shareholders
for their support and trust. We look forward to
continuing this journey with you in the future.

o 2

Clement, Yang Ker-Cheng
Chairman



Financial
Highlights

Revenues slightly declined in FY2023 following decline in global demand but

improved orders from existing OEM customers

Historical Revenue
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FY2023 noted improvements in profits and margins from recovery in OEM orders
and lower inventory provisions

Historical Profits and Margins
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= |mprovement in profit margins in FY2023 was due to the higher provisions for inventory losses in
FY2022, which was also due to a lowered global demand for the Group’s PPE as a result of the
easing of COVID-19 prevention measures in FY2022. The Group recognized provision for inventory

losses amounting to US$3.1 million in FY2023 in respect mostly of the nitrile gloves.

= The Group has leveraged on its existing OEM customers who have increased PPE orders in FY2023
following depletion of their oversupplied inventories of PPE stockpiled in prior years. The Group also

started delivering orders for nitrile gloves after the inauguration of its factory in Cambodia.

Financial Position

Balance Sheet Highlights Capex level — Reduced spending after

) As at As at : :
(uss'm) e inauguration of new glove factory
(USS'm) W Capex
Cash and cash equivalents 33.0 353 200
Inventories 37.4 36.4
- Inventory days 292 223 -
311
Account Receivables 243 30.4 0.0
FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023
- AR days 169 197
Account Payables 2.0 1.8 (US$'000) FY2023 FY2022
- AP days 16 u Cashflow from operating activities (7,185) 1,265
Key Ratios Cashflow from investing activities 9,608 (29,163)
Debt / Equity (x) 0.3x 0.2x Cashflow from financing activities 1,840 (3,017)
Net Debt / Equity (x) n.m. n.m. Net cash flow 4,263 (30,915)
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Financial
Review

Business Overview

The Group’s revenue decreased by 6.4% to USS52.6
million in FY2023 from US$56.2 million in FY2022 due to
an overall decline in demand of PPE and facemasks and
lower stockpiling projects of the Group. Despite that, the
Group has leveraged on its existing OEM customers who
have increased PPE orders in FY2023 following the
depletion of their oversupplied inventories of PPE that
were stockpiled in prior years. The Group in FY2023 also
started delivering orders for nitrile gloves after the
inauguration of its factory in Cambodia in the second half
of FY2022. Net loss decreased by 23.2% to USS$22.5
million in FY2023 from US$29.3 million in FY2022 due to
higher provisions for inventory losses in FY2022, which
was also due to a lowered global demand for the Group's
PPE as a result of the easing of COVID-19 prevention
measures in FY2022.

The Group revenues declined by 6.4% to
US$52.6 million and generated a net loss
of US$22.5 million on drop in global

demand of PPE and provisions from
expected credit loss and impairment of
property, plant and equipment.

Revenue

Revenue from the Original Product Manufacturing
(“OPM”) division decreased by 3.1% to US$34.6 million
in FY2023 from US$35.7 million in FY2022 due to decline
in global demand for PPE and facemasks.

Revenues from Hospital Services division increased
slightly by 1.6% to USS$14.5 million in FY2023 from
US$14.3 million in FY2022 due to increased linen
consumption in Taiwan and Philippines. Revenues from
Distribution and Others decreased by 43.4% to US$3.5
million in FY2023 from USS$6.3 million in FY2022 due also
to lower demand in Taiwan for PPE and facemasks.

1"

Profitability

The Group’s gross profit increased significantly by 278.5%
to US$6.0 million gross profit in FY2023 from US$3.3
million gross loss in FY2022 due to lower provision for
inventory losses in FY2023 amounting to US$1.6 million,
compared to US$11.7 million in FY2022. This led to an
increase in the Group’s gross profit margins to a positive
11.3% in FY2023 from a negative 5.9% in FY2022.
Without the provision for inventory losses, the Group’s
gross margins would be approximately 14.4% in FY2023
and 14.9% in FY2022.

Gross profit from the OPM division increased significantly
by 167.0% to US$3.7 million gross profit in FY2023 from
USS$5.6 million gross loss in FY2022 due to lower
inventory provisions and an increase in orders from
existing OEM customers in FY2023. This also resulted to
OPM gross profits margins to increase by 169.1% to
positive 10.9% in FY2023 from negative 15.7% in FY2022.

Hospital Services division gross profit increased by 7.0%
to US$1.9 million in FY2023 from US$1.8 million in
FY2022 arising from higher linen consumption in Taiwan

and Philippines.

Gross profit from Trading, Distribution and Others
division decreased by 38.1% to US$301,000 in FY2023
from US$487,000 in FY2022 due also to lower sales.

Other operating income net decreased by 19.3% to
USS$2.0 million in FY2023 from US$2.5 million in FY2022
from fewer foreign exchange gains and scrap sales of
fabrics and factory supplies.

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by 36.4% to
USS$7.6 million in FY2023 from US$12.0 million in FY2022
from decline in selling and platform fees from lower e-
commerce sales. General and administrative expenses
increased by 31.5% to US$23.3 million in FY2023 from
USS$17.7 million in FY2022 from higher provisions for bad
debts on trade receivables and provision for impairment

loss on machineries.

Financial expenses decreased by 14.2% to US$816,000 in
FY2023 from US$951,000 in FY2022 due to lower
financing cost from lease liabilities.

Income tax benefit decreased by 98.1% to US$27,000 in
FY2023 from US$1.4 million in FY2022 arising from lower
loss before tax of the Group.

Net loss decreased by 23.2% to USS$22.5 million in
FY2023 from US$29.3 million in FY2022 due to lower
provision for inventory losses recognized in FY2023 in
respect of the Group's nitrile gloves.

Cash Flow and Statements of Financial
Position

Total assets of the Group decreased by US$15.2 million
to US$166.8 million in FY2023 from USS$182.0 million in
FY2022 due to higher net cash used from operations and
decrease in trade receivables from provision for bad

debts amounting to approximately US$6 million from
receivables that have been outstanding for more than six
months. Property, plant and equipment decreased to
US$40.6 million in FY2023 from USS$43.6 million in
FY2022 from depreciation expense and provision for

impairment loss on machineries.

The Group used cash from its operating cash flow of
USS$7.2 million in FY2023 from USS$1.3 million generated
from FY2022, attributable to the lower net working
capital generated for the period. Cash outflow for
investing activities decreased to US$9.6 million
generated in FY2023 from US$29.2 million used in
FY2022, due to the completion of the construction of the
nitrile glove production factory in Cambodia and
reduction of fixed deposit placements. Cash inflow from
financing activities of US$1.8 million came from new
bank borrowings, partially offset by payments of interest
and lease liabilities.

12



Business Outlook and

Prospects

As we look ahead to 2024, the Group is poised for growth,
building on our legacy of safeguarding personal and
family health with our products and services. Our outlook
is anchored in a strategic commitment to expanding our
offerings in home health products and medical devices to
address the needs of an aging society and enhance our

product lines for improved business resilience.

We plan to expand the Group's market reach and
innovation through reaching new customers as well as
developing new products and channels of distribution.
Developing and launching new products, such as health
supplements, bug repellents, anti-viral disinfectants, and
medical devices equipped with Al technology, remains a
cornerstone of our strategy. These efforts are geared
towards aligning our portfolio with changing market
demands. The Group will also be exploring new
distribution channels to enhance market penetration and

consumer access to our products.

To support our growth, we will continue to review our
Group's operations in order to enhance operational
efficiency, by streamlining processes and reducing
operational expenses so as to achieve a leaner, more
agile operational model. This includes a thorough
reassessment of back-office, management, and sales

expenses.

Building on our commitment to overcoming challenging
business environments in 2023, we remain dedicated to
further strengthening our supply chain in 2024. Our focus
will be on building resilience, optimizing demand
forecasting, and enhancing cooperative relationships
with suppliers and distributors. This strategic approach is
designed to enable swift responses to market changes
and customer needs, ensuring we remain agile and

responsive in a dynamic industry landscape.

Our diversification efforts include the full operation of
Resilient Medical Pte. Ltd., to support our strategy for
global stockpiling business and expanding into the
business-to-consumer ("B2C") sector. As part of the

effort, we are currently exploring the possibility of
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installing solar panels in our existing factories and
pursuing  renewable  energy  opportunities in
collaboration with strategic partners in Cambodia and
the Philippines.

As disclosed previously, we remain open to exploring
renewable energy markets to develop another growth
driver for the Group, such as solar power and energy
storage services. This initiative reflects our commitment
to sustainability efforts and green manufacturing and will
be explored in partnership with external strategic
partners. As and when there are developments, more
information on future plans will be provided to, and
requisite approvals will be obtained from, shareholders
at the appropriate juncture.

Manufacturing

Manufacturing remains the dominant segment in the
Group in terms of revenue and profitability.

With the completion of the nitrile glove factory in
Cambodia through its subsidiary, Resilient Medical Pte.
Ltd., the manufacturing operations of the Group are
poised to benefit from our diversification efforts with an
expanded product base. The Group is also entering
strategic partnership and alliances with suppliers to
enhance its supply chain management to ensure
flexibility on changing demands in our product lines.

The Group will also leverage on the heightened
awareness of our healthcare and safety products globally.
We have also invested in branding and marketing
initiatives to develop and promoted the “Medtecs” and
“CoverU” brands for both facemasks and PPEs and will
leverage on the brand. We have boosted our E-commerce
sites like Amazon and retail chains to make our products

more accessible globally.

We have tapped the business-to-business and B2C
business models to channel the growth in our operations
and are working to expand our presence in more e-

commerce platforms. We are working on having long-
term PPE and facemask stockpiling arrangement with
governments and hospital groups to provide stability in
demand and be the lead partner in abating infectious
diseases globally.

Hospital Services

Our Hospital Services division provides us with a stable
source of income. We are looking to strengthen our
market presence and grow our market share in both
Philippines and Taiwan with more hospitals outsourcing
trend for non-core hospital operations over the region.
We are also undertaking cost-reduction procedures to
optimise margins in this segment.

Trading and Distribution and Others

Our trading and distribution business is critical to the
Group not only as a stand-alone profit center but also
provides auxiliary support to our other divisions. The
Group aims to be one-stop total solutions healthcare
provider and the heightened awareness on the

healthcare industry has boosted this division.

14



Research and
Development

As we enter the post-pandemic era, Medtecs is not only
enhancing its PPE line but also leveraging existing sales
channels and crafting new business strategies. In 2023,
we launched cleaning products and consumer goods to
enrich our product portfolio to meet evolving needs of

our target consumer.

In 2023, the Group broadened its Amazon protective
clothing lineup with the introduction of the Coverall
Yellow and Coverall Collar. These products, crafted from
PPSB fabric coated with PE film, meet the AAMI Level 4
standard, ensuring comprehensive protection for users.
Furthermore, we added nitrile glove to our product
portfolio. Nitrile gloves are favored for their enhanced
durability, puncture resistance, and longevity compared
to latex gloves. They are ideal for prolonged use and
eliminate the risk of latex allergies, making them versatile
for various uses, such as medical exams and food

processing.

We also launched the OMO Acne Patch ("OMO"), which
features a patented zero-contact easy removal
technology from Korea and an ultra-thin design of 0.01
centimeters. This innovation overcomes the drawbacks
of current market offerings, making removal easier and
more hygienic. The successful introduction of OMO has

15

allowed Medtecs to tap into physical beauty retail
channels smoothly.

In 2023, we continued to prioritize product certifications,
receiving U.S. Food and Drug Administration 510(k)
premarket notification for our nitrile gloves and Taiwan
Food and Drug Administration Class | Medical Device
Permit Licenses for four of our products. Additionally, we
obtained four Taiwan Food and Drug Administration
medical device permits for our surgical mask and CoverU
Coverall, along with one pharmaceutical distributor
license. These certifications underscore our commitment
to providing high-quality and safe products to our
customers.

For 2024, our strategy includes closely monitoring
market trends and consistently introducing new safety
and health-related products to offer a broader variety of
options to consumers. This approach aligns with the
Company's vision and mission to better the health of
everyone, everywhere and provide safe and effective
products with speed, warmth, and care. The products
planned for launch include bug repellent, which is safe,
effective, gentle and non-irritating, with super long-
lasting anti-mosquito effect, and a series of healthcare
products so that we can offer a more diversified and
complete product line for consumers.

Corporate
Social
Responsibility

Medtecs Group is committed to enhancing global
health, safety, and environmental sustainability. As a
leading producer of PPE, we embrace the responsibility
to extend our influence beyond mere business
operations. In 2023, we participated in initiatives across
Taiwan, the Philippines, and Cambodia that reinforce
our dedication to community welfare and
environmental stewardship.

Taiwan

In Taiwan, Medtecs demonstrated its commitment to
public health through strategic partnerships with local
healthcare organizations. We donated 150,000 medical
masks to facilitate blood drive campaigns organized by
Lotung Bo-Ai Hospital in Yilan, Taiwan. We further
extended our reach by supplying bouffant caps to the
oral health team of Taipei Medical University. This
essential support played a crucial role in the team's
dental healthcare missions focused on delivering services
to remote mountain communities.

As the year drew to a close, we expanded our
commitment to community service by teaming up with
eight local non-profits focused on assisting people with
physical and mental challenges, as well as the elderly.
This timely collaboration provided critical support during
the flu and COVID-19 season by donating medical
supplies to safeguard these vulnerable populations. The

donated items, including masks, face shields,
antibacterial wipes, nitrile gloves, and leak-proof bed
sheets, helped to enhance care and protection for those
most susceptible to illness.

Continuing our tradition from 2022, we reinforced our
dedication to environmental conservation with a beach
clean-up in September 2023, organized for our Taipei
Headquarters staff. The event not only contributed to
local ecological efforts but also the enhancement of
collective responsibility among our employees.

To raise breast cancer awareness, Medtecs sponsored a
charity marathon in partnership with the Taiwan Cancer
Clinical Research and Development Foundation. The
event drew approximately 5,000 participants and
successfully raised awareness and funds. Medtecs
awarded participants with acne patches and masks to
recognize their efforts and support for the cause.
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Philippines

In the Philippines, our contribution of nearly 40,000 face
masks to healthcare facilities and community
organizations underscored the importance of protective
gear in ensuring health and safety. At the Philippine
Dental Association's annual convention, we provided
10,000 face masks to member dentists, a move aimed at
bolstering infection control and protecting the health of
dental professionals and their patients. Our efforts also
included donating linens to institutions such as Our Lady

of Peace Hospital in Parafiaque City, and to students at

Cambodia

In Cambodia, Medtecs strengthened its commitment to
advocating for labour rights and community welfare. To
celebrate International Labour Day in 2023, we hosted an
event for over 2000 workers and government officials
that included prizes and gifts to reward our dedicated

team members. We also deepened our partnership with

Blessed Regina Protman Catholic School and Mariveles
National High School, to support environments
conducive to health and well-being.

Our ongoing collaboration with the Alagang Kapatid
Foundation, Inc. ("AKFI"), which began in 2022,
continued with the provision of Medtecs face masks and
gloves. This support significantly bolstered AKFI's efforts
in delivering aid to communities impacted by natural
disasters.

the Cambodian Red Cross through a $100,000 donation,
further demonstrating our focus on supporting local
communities. At the same time, we also contributed
$5,000 to the Special Forces Command of the Cambodian
Armed Forces in recognition of their role in preserving

national stability and safety.

These initiatives spotlight Medtecs' values of engaging with partners for social good, and investing in stronger

communities. Further details about the positive impacts of our sustainability efforts across all locations will be shared in

our upcoming FY2023 sustainability report, to be published on or before 31 May 2024.
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Profile of the
Board of Directors

Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng

Chairman - Executive Director
Appointed as Director in 1997, and subject to re-election in 2024
Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng is the Chairman of the Company. He oversees the overall management, strategic planning,

product development and marketing of the Group. He was the Chief Executive Officer of the Group’s operations since
1990 until 2 May 2018 when Mr William Yang Weiyuan took over as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr Clement
Yang is a member of the Nominating Committee. Under his leadership, the Medtecs Group has grown into an integrated
healthcare services provider and original product manufacturer of a wide range of medical consumables for large
multinational healthcare distributors, pharmaceutical companies and hospital groups around the globe.

Prior to founding the Medtecs Group, Mr Clement Yang served as senior vice-president of the Fu-I Industrial Group of
companies, and the Chief Executive Officer of Shentex Corporation. From 1986 to 1989, he was director of Taiwan Cotton
Weavers Association. Mr Clement Yang was president of the Taiwanese Business Association of Subic Bay and now serves
as Chairman of the Cambodia and Philippines committees of the Chinese-Philippine Business Council as well as the

Founding Chairman of the Confederation of Philippine Manufacturers of PPE.

Mr Clement Yang has more than forty years of experience in the textile manufacturing industry, with majority of those

years devoted to the development of medical consumables for the healthcare industry.

Mr William Yang Weiyuan

Deputy Chairman - Executive Director - Chief Executive Officer
Appointed as Director in 2013 and re-elected in 2023
Mr William Yang Weiyuan was appointed as an Executive Director on 2 September 2013. Mr William Yang was appointed

as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, in place of Mr Clement Yang, on 2 May 2018 and was subsequently appointed
as the Company's Deputy Chairman on 26 February 2021.

Mr William Yang graduated from New York Institute of Technology with a degree in Electrical and Computer Engineering
in 2005. He is the General Manager of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation
since 1 July 2010 and Hangzhou Jincheng Medical Supplies Manufacture Co., Ltd. since 2008. As General Manager of two

subsidiaries, he takes an active role in the marketing, production, human resources and finance departments.

Mr William Yang has over 15 years of experience in the textile industry, with majority of those years devoted to
developments of medical textile products, PPE, and hospital service for the healthcare industry.
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Mr Lim Tai Toon

Mr Lim Tai Toon was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 29 October 2010 and Chairman of the
Audit Committee and Lead Independent Director on 4 May 2012. He is also a member of the Nominating and
Remuneration Committees.

Mr Lim spent the earlier part of his career with the Singapore Armed Forces before embarking on a broad and varied
financial and business career. Since 1994, Mr Lim had worked in a number of SGX listed companies; as financial advisor
of REA Ltd (formerly known as Superior Fastening Ltd), as executive director of Eastgate Technology Limited (2006 to
2009), managing director of Vashion Group Limited (formerly known as Startech Electronics Limited) from 2003 to 2006
and vice-president (corporate affairs) of Ipco International Limited (1995 to 1996). Between those years, Mr Lim also
founded a software development company and was based in China as Country Chief Executive Officer for an Asian
company from 1996 to 2000. In addition, Mr Lim served as adjunct lecturer with Loughborough University for 17 years
till 2019 and was a council member of Biblical Graduate School of Theology between 2015-2020. Mr Lim is a co-founder
of a group of missional companies focused on social impact and poverty alleviation since 2014.

Since March 2021, Mr Lim works as the General Manager of Student Castle Property Management Service (UK) with
Cuscaden Peak Investment Private Limited. He is also an independent director and AC Chairman of Medinex Limited
(since 2018) and Aedge Group Limited (since 2023).

Mr Lim holds a Master of Business (Information Technology) from Curtin University of Technology (Australia), Master of
Business Administration from Henly Management College (United Kingdom) and Bachelor of Accountancy from National
University of Singapore (Singapore). He also attended the executive learning on Circular Economy and Sustainable
Strategies conducted by University of Cambridge’s Judge Business School. He is a Fellow Chartered Accountant of The
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants.

Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 1 May 2005 and Chairman of
the Nominating Committee on 14 August 2012. She is a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Ms Yang is Vice President and China Chief Representative of Give2Asia. She is the co-founder of Galaxaco China Group
LLC., which is an International Investment Advisory and Development Firm. Ms Yang has been working to support
international corporations investing in China. Ms Yang has extensive experience in inbound investments, international
business developments, and state regulatory matters. She has been engaged in hands-on project development in China
and has served as senior advisor to multinational companies. Ms Yang was once employed as a foreign expert by the
State Council of China. For three years in a row from 2007 to 2009, Ms Yang received the award for Best Foreign
Investment Advisor from the City of Guangzhou. Ms Yang joined Give2Asia in 2018. In 2020, she led the China team to
actively support China's efforts to respond to the COVID-19 outbreak and completed donations worth more than 10
million U.S Dollars.

Ms Yang holds a Bachelor of Arts in Journalism from Jinan University, People’s Republic of China. She also attended
Stanford University on a Communications Fellowship in 1985. Subsequently, Ms Yang received her Master of Arts in
Communications Management & Investor Relations from Simmons College in Massachusetts.
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Dr Nieh Chien-Chung

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company and Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee on 8 August 2019. He is a member of the Audit and Nominating Committees.

Dr Nieh is currently a professor at Tamkang University and National Taipei University. He was also formerly a professor
at National Cheng-Chi University. Dr Nieh holds an MBA in Finance in Baruch College, New York, USA. He also holds an

MSc in Industrial Engineering, an MA in Economics and a PhD in Economics from Rutgers University, New Jersey, USA.
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Financial Report on
Calendar Corporate Governance

Medtecs is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the Group by
embracing the tenets of good governance, including accountability, transparency and sustainability, which will engender
investor confidence and achieve long-term sustainable business performance. Good corporate governance establishes
and maintains an appropriate culture, values and ethical standards of conduct at all levels of the Company, which helps

FY ended 31 December 2023 to enhance long-term shareholder value whilst taking into account the interests of other stakeholders.

The Company will also be publishing its Sustainability Report as a standalone report on or before 31 May 2024, in line

Announcement of Full Year Results

with the requirements on sustainability reporting prescribed by the SGX-ST.

This report describes the corporate governance framework and practices of the Company that were in place during
Annual General Meetin FY2023 with specific reference made to the principles and provisions of the revised Code of Corporate Governance (the
& "2018 Code") issued in August 2018, which forms part of the continuing obligations of the Company under the listing

rules of the SGX-ST.

This Report should be read as a whole, instead of being read separately under the different principles of the 2018 Code.

FY ending 31 December 2024

The Company has complied in all material aspects with the principles and provisions of the 2018 Code. When there are
Announcement of Half Year Results variations from the provisions under the 2018 Code, we have provided our explanations in relation to the Company’s
practices as to how our practices are consistent with the aim and philosophy of the principles in question, when

appropriate.

Announcement of Full Year Results (A) BOARD MATTERS

Board's Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with

Management for the long-term success of the company.

Role of the Board of Directors (the "Board")

The Board has the dual role of setting strategic direction, and the company’s approach to governance. This
includes establishing the appropriate culture, values and ethical standards of conduct at all levels of the Company.
The role of the Board is broader than that of providing oversight as a well-constituted Board would foster more
complete discussions, leading to better decisions and enhanced business performance. The Board also sets the
tone for the Group in respect of ethics, values and desired organisation culture, and ensure proper accountability

within the Group. The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company.

The Board assumes responsibility for stewardship of the Group and is primarily responsible for the protection
and enhancement of long-term value and returns for the shareholders. Through the Board's supervision of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group, the Board is able to set the appropriate and desired
organisational culture and ensures proper accountability within the Company. The Board is also responsible for
providing corporate direction, monitoring managerial performance and reviewing financial results of the Group.
In addition, the Board is directly responsible for decision making in respect of the following matters:

a. approving business strategies including significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries or assets and
liabilities;
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b. approving the annual budgets, major funding proposals, significant capital expenditures and investment
and divestment proposals;

c. approving the release of the Group’s half year and full year financial results and interested person
transactions;

d. overseeing the processes for risk management, financial reporting and compliance, and evaluate the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, as may be recommended by the Audit Committee ("AC");

e. reviewing the performance of management, approve the nomination to the Board and appointment of Key
Management Personnel ("KMP"), as may be recommended by the Nominating Committee ("NC");

f.  reviewing and endorsing the framework of remuneration for the Board and KMP, as may be recommended

by the Remuneration Committee ("RC");

establishing corporate policies in keeping with good corporate governance and business practice; and

considering sustainability issues, e.g. environmental, social and governance factors, as part of the strategic

formulation.

ER

The Board provides shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects on a half-yearly basis.

The Directors are fiduciaries who act objectively in the best interests of the Company and hold Management
accountable for performance. The Directors are of the view that they have objectively discharged their duties
and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in the interest of the Company for FY2023. Directors are entitled to
request from Management and should be provided with additional information as needed to make informed
decisions. The Directors further understand that they must avoid situations in which their own personal or
business interests directly or indirectly conflict or potentially conflict with the interest of the Group. Where a
Director has a conflict or potential conflict of interest in relation to any matter, he will immediately declare his
interest at the meeting of the Directors or send a written notice to the Chairman and/or Company Secretary,
setting out the details of his interest and the conflict and recuse himself from any discussions on the matter and
abstain from participating in any Board decision.

Other matters which specifically require the full Board's decision are those involving, inter alia:

e  conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director;

e  material acquisitions and disposals of assets;

e  corporate or financial restructuring and share issuances;

e dividends and other returns to shareholders;

e  matters which require the Board's approval as specified under the Company’s interested person
transactions policy; and

e the appointment and removal of the Company Secretary.

The Board will oversee the Group’s sustainability reporting framework by monitoring the environment, social
and governance issues that impact the Group’s sustainability of its business.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established Board committees, namely
the AC, the NC and the RC (collectively, the "Board Committees"), each of which functions within clearly defined
terms of reference and operating procedures which are reviewed on a regular basis. Each Board Committee is
formed by clear written terms of reference, setting out the composition, duties, authority and accountabilities
of each committee, which have also been detailed in this report on pages 31 to 45.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board meets on a quarterly basis and whenever necessary for the discharge of their duties. Dates of Board
meetings are normally set by the Directors well in advance. Telephonic attendance and conference audio-visual
communication at Board and Board Committee meetings are allowed under the Company’s Bye-Laws. Decisions
of the Board and Board Committees may also be obtained through circular resolutions. The Board, with the
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concurrence of the NC, is of the view that the Directors have actively participated in Board and Board Committee
meetings, and that each Director has dedicated sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group for
FY2023, regardless of their other directorships and/or principal commitments.

The number of meetings held by the Board and Board Committees and attendance thereat during the past
financial year are as follows:

DIRECTORS AGM SGM BOARD AC RC NC
No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Meetings  Attended Meetings A yeerings  Attended  yoiing  Attended  yoiings  AReNded  yoatingg  Attended
Clement Yang
e 1 1 1 1 4 4 - - - - 4 4
William Yang
it 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 4
Lim Tai Toon 1 1 1 1 4 4 6 6 4 4 4 4
Carol Yang 1 1 1 1 4 4 6 6 3 4 4 4
Xiao-Qing
Dr Nieh
Py . 1 1 1 1 4 4 6 6 4 4 4 4

Induction and Training of Directors

The Board will constantly examine its size and, with a view to determining the impact of its number upon
effectiveness, decide on what it considers an appropriate size for the Board. The composition of the Board will
be reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and
experience.

The NC ensures that new Directors are aware of their duties and obligations and is tasked with deliberating
whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director. At the time of
their appointment, Directors are provided with formal letters setting out their duties and obligations. Newly
appointed Directors will be interviewed by the Sponsor and be given briefings by the Executive Chairman and/or
the Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ") and/or management of the Company on the business activities of the Group
and its strategic directions and corporate governance practices.

The Board recognises that it is important that all Directors remain updated with the business and legal
developments so as to be able to serve effectively on, and contribute to, the Board. All Directors have had many
years of corporate experience and are familiar with their duties and responsibilities as Directors (including their
respective roles as executive, non-executive and Independent Directors). In addition, the Directors understand
the Group's business and are provided with opportunities to develop and maintain their skills and knowledge as
Directors at the expense of the Company, including visits to the Group’s operational facilities and meetings with
Management in order to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business operations.

The Directors are provided with continuing briefings and updates in areas such as Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, corporate governance, changes in financial reporting standards and issues which have a direct
impact on financial statements, so as to enable them to properly discharge their duties as Board or Board
Committee members. The scope of such continuous briefings and updates includes overview of industry trends
and developments, governance practices and developing trends, and changes in trends in governance practices

and regulatory requirements pertaining to the business.

The Directors had attended the mandated sustainability training course, LED-Environmental, Social and

Governance Essentials (Core), conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors on 31 May 2022.
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Access to Information

To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, the Management provides the Board with a management
report containing complete, adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings. The Management
welcomes Directors to seek explanations or clarifications from and/or convene informal discussions with the
Management on any aspect of the Group’s operations or business. Necessary arrangements will be made for
informal discussions or explanations as and when required.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the Management, the Company Secretary and external
advisers (where necessary) at all times, at the Company’s expense. The Company Secretary attends all Board
meetings and ensures that Board procedures and all other rules and regulations applicable to the Company are
complied with. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval.

Changes to regulations are closely monitored by Management and for changes which have an important bearing
on the Company or the Directors’ disclosure obligations. The Directors are briefed during Board meetings.

The Directors and the chairmen of the respective committees, whether as a group or individually are able to seek
independent professional advice as and when necessary, in furtherance of their duties at the Company's expense.
The appointment of such professional advisor is subject to approval by the Board.

Board Composition and Balance
Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and
background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company.

The Board consists of five (5) Directors, of whom three (3) are independent. The list of Directors is as follows:

Executive Directors

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng (Chairman, Executive Director)
William Yang Weiyuan (Deputy Chairman, Executive Director and CEO)

Independent Directors

Lim Tai Toon (Lead Independent Director)
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing (Independent Director)
Dr Nieh Chien-Chung (Independent Director)

The size and composition of the Board and the Board committees are reviewed from time to time by the NC to
ensure that they are of an appropriate size and comprise Directors who as a group provide the appropriate
balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age so as to
foster effective discussions and decision making. The NC is of the view that the current Board size of five (5)
Directors, of whom three (3) are Independent Directors, is appropriate and effective for the time being, taking
into account the nature and scope of the Company's operations.

The current Board comprises persons with diverse expertise, skill and experience in various areas that are
relevant to the Group’s business and composition of the Board, which includes accounting, business and
management, finance and risk management. The Board and NC consider the current composition of the Board
as a group possesses the core competencies necessary to meet the Company's requirements. The Directors'
objective judgment on corporate affairs and their diverse range of experience and knowledge are invaluable to
the Group and allows for the useful exchange of ideas and views.
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The current Board's skill matrix is as follows:

Banking
Skills and  Accounting Legal
finance

Entrepreneurship Strategic
Investment Shipping Commerce and

Corporate Risk Industry and
Management Analytics

Governance Management knowledge

Corporate
Restructuring

of 3 4 1 3 3 2 3 3 2 4 3 3
IR Directors  Directors  Director  Directors Directors Directors Directors Directors Directors Directors = Directors Directors
skilled

While the Board is of the view that the present combination of skills, talents, experience and diversity of its
directors serves the needs and plans of the Company, as detailed above, the Board acknowledges that
improvements to Board diversity are an ongoing process and the Board is fully committed to continue to ensure
that the Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its
composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company. Pursuant to provision 2.4 of the
2018 Code, the Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2020. Under the Company’s Board Diversity
Policy, the NC will, in reviewing the Board’s composition, rotation and retirement of Directors and succession
planning, consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, nationalities, ethnicity, cultural
background, educational background, experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service. These
differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible, should
be balanced appropriately.

As at the end of FY2023, one (1) out of five (5) Directors are female. This represents 20% of the Board. By 2027,

the Company aims to have a minimum representation of 40% women directors on the Board. This target reflects

the Group's recognition of the importance of gender diversity in leadership positions and the value it brings in

driving innovation and decision-making. To achieve diversity on the Board, the Group will undertake the following

initiatives:

a. Broaden the candidate pool: The Company will expand the search and recruitment process to attract a
diverse range of candidates for Board positions. This will involve actively seeking candidates from different

backgrounds, including those with diverse gender, age, nationalities, cultural background, educational
background, experience, skills, and knowledge.

b. Review the Board appointment criteria: The Company will conduct a thorough review of its board
appointment criteria to ensure they are inclusive and unbiased. This includes examining the qualifications,
experiences, and skills required for board positions to identify any potential barriers that may
disproportionately affect women. By adopting more inclusive criteria, the Company will be better
positioned to attract a wider range of candidates and create a more gender-diverse Board.

By adhering to the Board Diversity Policy and actively working towards achieving the established targets, the

Company is committed to creating a diverse and inclusive Board that reflects the broader stakeholder base and

supports the Company's long-term success.

Independence of Directors

The NC reviews the independence of each Director on an annual basis based on the Listing Manual Section B:
Rules of Catalist of the SGX-ST (the "Rules of Catalist") and the 2018 Code's definition of what constitutes an
independent director. Each Director is required to declare their relationships with the Company, its related
corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers (if any) which may affect his/her independence through
the completion and submission of a ‘Confirmation of Independence’ form. Such relationships include business
relationships which the Director, his/her immediate family member, or an organisation in which the Director
and/or his/her immediate family member is a director, substantial shareholder, partner (with 5% or more stake)
or executive officer has with the Company or any of its related corporations and the Director’s direct association
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with a substantial shareholder of the Company, in the current and immediate past financial year. The said form,
which is drawn up based on the definitions and guidelines set forth in Principle 2 of the 2018 Code and the
Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore (Third Edition) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, the
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority and the Singapore Exchange in August 2018, requires each
Director to assess whether he/she considers himself/herself independent despite not having any relationships
identified in the 2018 Code.

The NC is of the view that the three (3) Independent Directors (who represent more than half of the Board) are
independent under Rule 406(3)(d)) of the Rules of Catalist during FY2023, and that there has been a strong and
independent element on the Board which is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate matters
independently, in particular, from Management, and that no individual or small group of individuals has

dominated the Board's decision-making process.

Effective from 11 January 2023 and pursuant to Rule 406(3)(d)(iv) of the Rules of Catalist, a director will not be
independent if he has been a director for an aggregate period of more than nine (9) years (whether before or
after listing). Such director will continue to be considered independent between 11 January 2023 and until the
conclusion of the issuer's annual general meeting for financial year ending on or after 31 December 2023 (the
"Transitional Period").

In respect of Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon, who have served on the Board for more than nine
years from the date of their first appointment on 1 May 2005 and 29 October 2010 respectively, the NC has
reviewed (with Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon abstaining in relation to their respective
assessments) based on, amongst others, their attendance and contributions at meetings of the Board and Board
Committees and determined that Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon are considered independent
within the meaning of the Rules of Catalist and the 2018 Code during the Transitional Period.

Taking into account the views of the NC, the Board concurred that Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon
continue to demonstrate strong independence in character and judgment in the discharge of their
responsibilities as the Directors of the Company. Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon have continued
to express their individual viewpoints, debated issues and objectively scrutinised and challenged the
Management. Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon have sought clarification and amplification as they
deemed required, including through direct access to the Group's employees. The Board as a whole has also
considered and determined that Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon have, over time, developed
significant insights into the Group's business and operations and provided valuable contributions to the Board
through their integrity, objectivity and professionalism notwithstanding their years of service. Further, having
gained in-depth understanding of the business and operating environment of the Group, Ms Carol Yang Xiao-
Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon provided the Company with much needed experience and knowledge of the industry.
Based on the declaration of independence from Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon, they have no
association with the Management that could compromise their independence. Based on the above and on the
NC’s review and recommendations, the Board has determined that Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon
are independent within the meaning of the 2018 Code and the Rules of Catalist . Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and
Mr Lim Tai Toon have abstained from participating in the deliberation and decision on their independence.

The Board, after taking into account the NC’s views, is satisfied that Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing, Mr Lim Tai Toon
and Dr Nieh Chien-Chung remain as Independent Directors during FY2023 as there are no relationships or
circumstances which could interfere, or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with the exercise of
independent business judgment of each Independent Director. Nonetheless, in compliance with Rule 406(3)(d)(iv)

of the Rules of Catalist, Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon will no longer be considered independent
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following the conclusion of the Company’s Annual General Meeting for FY2023 ("AGM"), and will retire at the
forthcoming AGM and will not seek re-election.

Following the retirement of Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon at the AGM for FY2023, the Board
composition will not comprise a majority of Independent Directors, the composition of each of the AC, NC and
RCwill be less than the requirement of three (3) members, and the Company will not have at least one (1) director
who is resident in Singapore. Accordingly, and as required under Rules 406(3)(c) and 704(7) of the Rules of
Catalist, the Company will endeavour to fill the vacancies as soon as possible and by no later than two (2) months
from the date of the AGM. The NC and Board are in the process of reviewing and identifying suitable candidates
put forward by the Management to be appointed as Independent Directors to ensure the composition of the
Board and the committees are reconstituted for compliance with the Rules of Catalist and the 2018 Code and
will make further announcements as and when there are material developments.

The Non-Executive Directors and/or the Independent Directors participate actively in Board and Board
Committees meetings. With their professional expertise, experience and knowledge, they provide constructive
advice and guidance for effective discharge by the Board of its principal functions over the Group's strategies,
businesses and other affairs. The Non-Executive Directors and/or Independent Directors also constructively
challenge and aid the development of directions on strategy as well as review the performance of the
Management in achieving agreed goals and objectives. In addition, they also monitor the reporting of the Group's
performance. To facilitate a more effective check on the management, the Non-Executive Directors and/or
Independent Directors meet and discuss on the Group's affairs without the presence of the Management where
necessary, and the chairman of such meetings provides feedback to the Board and/or Chairman as appropriate.

Chairman and CEO
Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and
Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

The Group’s Chairman is Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, who was also the CEO of the Company until 2 May 2018,
and who plays an instrumental role in developing the business of the Group and has also provided the Group
with strong leadership vision.

As part of the Group’s management succession plan, Mr William Yang Weiyuan, son of the Chairman, Mr. Clement
Yang Ker-Cheng, was appointed as the CEO of the Company with effect from 2 May 2018 and subsequently as
the Deputy Chairman on 26 February 2021 to comply with the requirement under Bye-Law 126 of the Company's
Bye-Laws that a Deputy Chairman be appointed. Mr. William Yang Weiyuan is mainly responsible for the day-to-
day operations of the Group.

Given the centrality of the Board to good corporate governance, it is fundamental that the Chairman sets the
right tone. The Chairman, in consultation with Management, sets the agenda for Board meetings and ensures
that meetings are held when necessary, and during such meetings encourages a full and frank exchange of views
from all Directors so that debates benefit from the full diversity of views.

The CEO is responsible for the management of the overall business and development of the Group. The CEO
together with senior Management execute plans which are in line with the strategic decisions and goals set out
by the Board and ensures that the remaining Directors are kept updated and informed of the Group’s business
operations and financial position.

Both the Chairman and the CEO exercise control over the quality, quantity and timelines of information flow
between the Board and the Management. They ensure that Board meetings are held when necessary and set
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the Board meeting agenda in consultation with the Directors. The Chairman and the CEO review the Board papers
before they are presented to the Board, and they ensure that Board members are provided with complete,
adequate and timely information. Management staff who prepared the papers, or who can provide additional
insight into the matters to be discussed, are invited to present the papers or participate in Board meeting at the
relevant time. The Chairman and the CEO are responsible for ensuring effective communication with

shareholders and the Company's compliance with the 2018 Code.

Mr Lim Tai Toon is the Lead Independent Director, and provides leadership in situations where the Chairman is
conflicted. To ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority, increased accountability and greater
capacity of the Board for independent decision making, a new Lead Independent Director of the Company will
be appointed in place of Mr Lim Tai Toon following his retirement after the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.
Shareholders with concerns may contact the incoming Lead Independent Director directly, when contact through
the normal channels via the Chairman, the CEO or the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") has failed to provide
satisfactory resolution, or when such contact is inappropriate. All the Independent Directors, including the Lead
Independent Director, meet annually without the presence of other Executive and Non-Independent Directors
to discuss matters of significance which are then reported to the Chairman and the CEO accordingly.

All Board committees are chaired by the Independent Directors. The Board is of the view that there are sufficient
safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision making by the Board is independent and based on
collective decisions without any individual or group of individuals exercising any considerable concentration of

power or influence.

Board Membership
Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and
reappointment of directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

The NC comprises the following five (5) members:

Carol Yang Xiao-Qing  (Chairman)
Lim Tai Toon

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng

William Yang Weiyuan

The existing NC comprises five (5) Directors, of which two (2) are Executive Directors and three (3) are Non-
Executive Independent Directors. The Lead Independent Director is also a member of the NC. In addition, the NC
is cognisant of and ensures that (i) each member of the NC abstains from voting on any resolutions if there is any
conflict of interest and/or prior relationship (ii) rigorous interviews are conducted with incoming/re-appointed
Directors to ensure they are aware of their obligations as a Director and/or and (iii) it progressively reviews the
criteria for candidacy. In view of the above, the Board is of the view that there is a sufficiently formal and

transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of Directors.

The NC, which follows written terms of reference, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on

all Board appointments and re-appointments. The key terms of reference of the NC are as follows:
e toidentify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment of members of

the Board, the managing director of the Group, and to determine the selection criteria;
e toensure that all Board appointees undergo an appropriate induction programme;
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e toregularly review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board
with regard to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

e toidentify gaps in the mix of skills, experience and other qualities required in an effective Board and to
nominate or recommend suitable candidates to fill these gaps;

e  todecide whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of
the Company, particularly where the Director has multiple board representations;

e toreview the independence of each Director annually, having regard to the circumstances set forth in the
2018 Code;

e todecide how the Board's performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria for
the Board's approval; and to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and assess the
contribution by each individual Director, to the effectiveness of the Board.

For the financial year under review, the NC held four (4) meetings.

When deciding on the appointment of new Directors to the Board, the NC and the Board consider a variety of
factors, including the core competencies, skills and experience that are required on the Board and Board

Committees, the Board diversity policy, independence, conflicts of interest and time commitments.

The NC is responsible for the re-appointment of Directors. In its deliberations on the re-appointment of existing
Directors, the NC takes into consideration the Directors' contribution and performance. The assessment

parameters include attendance as well as the quality of intervention and special contribution.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, one-third (1/3) of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each AGM and each Director shall retire at least once every three (3) years. In addition, Rule 720(4)
of the Rules of Catalist which came into effect on 1 January 2019 requires that all directors must submit
themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment at least once every three (3) years. A newly appointed
Director is required by Bye-Law 85 of the Company’s Bye-Laws to hold office until the following AGM of the
Company and shall be eligible for re-election at that AGM.

In this respect, the NC has recommended that Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, in pursuant of Rule 720(4) of the
Rules of Catalist and Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, who is retiring and/or up for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM, be re-elected as a Director.

Each member of the NC abstains from making any recommendations and/or participating in any deliberation of
the NC and from voting on any resolution, in respect of the assessment of his own performance or re-nomination
as a Director.

The NCis satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the Directors to the affairs of the Company
and Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representations. The NC is of the
view that it would not be necessary to put a maximum limit on the number of listed company board
representations and other principal commitments of each Director. In its search and nomination process for new
Directors, the NC has, at its disposal, search companies, personal contacts and recommendations, to cast its net

as wide as possible for the right candidates.
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Key information on the Directors is set out below:

Name of

. Position
Director

Chairman,
Clement Yang A
Ker-Cheng Executive
Director
Deputy
Chai
William Yang airman,
Weiyuan Executive
Director and
CEO

Carol Yang  Independent

Xiao-Qing Director
Lead
Lim Tai Toon Independent
Director

Dr Nieh Chien- Independent
Chung Director

Note:

appointment asa appointment as chairmanships in

Directorships or
chairmanships
held over the
preceding three
years in other
listed companies

Present
Date of first Date of last re-  Directorships or

Director a Director other listed
companies

19 November 28 April

1997 2021 None None
2 September 30 June
2013 2023 None None
1 May 29 April
2005 2022 None None
*  Medinex
29 October 30 June Limited
None
2010 2023 *  Aedge Group
Limited
. Microtips
8 August 29 April 'Il:shnology None
208 2022 *  FullTech Fiber
Glass Corp.

Due for re-
appointment
atthe AGM

Other principal
commitments

Universal Weavers
Corporation

Contex Corporation
Medtex Corporation
Medtecs (Asia Pacific) Pte
Ltd

Medtecs (Far East) Ltd
Medtecs (Taiwan)
Corporation

Medtecs Materials
Technology Corporation
Cooper Development Ltd
Medtecs (Cambodia)
Corporation

Retirement by
rotation (Bye-
Law 86)

Medtecs (Taiwan)

Corporation

Medtecs MSEZ Corp., Ltd

Cooper Development Ltd

Hangzhou Jincheng No
Medical Supplies

Manufacture Co., Ltd

World Join International

Ltd.

Give2Asia No

General Manager, Student
Castle Property
Management Service (UK)
with Cuscaden Peak
Investments Private
Limited

Food Studio Pvt Ltd (Sri
Lanka)

Biblical Graduate School
of Theology (Singapore)

GloLiv Asset Management
Ltd

Tamkang University
National Taipei University

The details of Directors’ credentials including working experience, academic and professional qualifications, shareholding
in the Company and its related corporations and directorships can be found in the Board of Directors and Directors’ report
sections of the annual report.
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The information required under Rule 720(5) of the Rules of Catalist on Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, who is

retiring at the forthcoming AGM and is up for re-election, is set out below:

Name of person

Date Of Appointment

Date of last re-appointment (if applicable)

Age

Country Of Principal Residence

The Board's comments on this appointment (including
rationale, selection criteria, and the search and nomination

process)

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of
responsibility

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member etc.)

Professional Qualifications

Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 10 years

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries

Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) with
any existing director, existing executive officer, the issuer
and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of
its principal subsidiaries

Conflict of interest (including any competing business)

Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7H) under Rule
720(1) has been submitted to the listed issuer

Other Principal Commitments* including Directorships”

* "Principal Commitments" has the same meaning as defined in
the 2018 Code.

# These fields are not applicable for announcements of
appointments pursuant to Listing Rule 704(8) (for the past 5
years)

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of
director, CEO, CFO, General Manager or other officer of
equivalent rank.

If the answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an
application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any
jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership
of which he was a partner at the time when he was a
partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he
ceased to be a partner?

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng

19 November 1997
28 April 2021
72 years old

Taiwan

After assessing Mr Clement Yang’s contributions and performance, the NC
has recommended that Mr William Yang be re-elected as a Director of the
Company.

Executive.
Overall business strategy and development of the Group.

Chairman, Executive Director
Member of the NC

Bachelor’s Degree

CEO of Medtecs Group until 2018.

Chairman of the Cambodia and Philippines committees of the Chinese-
Philippine Business Council

Founding Chairman of the Confederation of Philippine Manufacturers of
PPE

36,373,285 (Direct Interest)
21,375,198 (Deemed Interest)

Father of Mr William Yang Weiyuan, Deputy Chairman, Executive
Director and CEO of the Company; and Ms Wan Chien Yang, general
counsel of the Company, a director of Medtecs USA Corporation and
Medtecs MSEZ Corp Ltd (Cambodia) and supervisor and director of
Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation; Spouse of Ms Sherry Chen Su-Tien, Non-
Executive Chairman of Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation, a principal
subsidiary of the Company.

Nil

Universal Weavers Corporation

Contex Corporation

Medtex Corporation

Medtecs (Asia Pacific) Pte Ltd

Medtecs (Far East) Ltd

Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation

Medtecs Materials Technology Corporation
Cooper Development Ltd

Medtecs (Cambodia) Corporation
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Name of person

(b

(c

(d

)

(g

(h

(i)

()

(i)

(i)

(iii)
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Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an
application or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction
was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of
which he was a director or an equivalent person or a key
executive, at the time when he was a director or an
equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or at any
time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a
director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that
entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or,
where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that
business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?

Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in
Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty
which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the
subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending
criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such
purpose?

Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in
Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or
regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the
subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending
criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such
breach?

Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has
been entered against him in any civil proceedings in
Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or
regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of
fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he
has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including any
pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving
an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on
his part?

Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or
elsewhere of any offence in connection with the formation
or management of any entity or business trust?

Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a
director or an equivalent person of any entity (including
the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly
or indirectly in the management of any entity or business
trust?

Whether he has ever been the subject of any order,
judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental
body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from
engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned
with the management or conduct, in Singapore or
elsewhere, of the affairs of:—

any corporation which has been investigated for a breach
of any law or regulatory requirement governing
corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

any entity (not being a corporation) which has been
investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory
requirement governing such entities in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

any business trust which has been investigated for a breach
of any law or regulatory requirement governing business
trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng

No

No

Name of person Clement Yang Ker-Cheng

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been
investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory
requirement that relates to the securities or futures
industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in connection
with any matter occurring or arising during that
period when he was so concerned with the entity or
business trust?

No

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past
investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has been
reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary
Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, No
exchange, professional body or government agency,
whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the
Exchange? Yes

Current Executive Director and Chairman of Medtecs International

If Yes, please provide details of prior experience. Corporation Limited

If No, Please state if the director has attended or will be
attending training on the roles and responsibilities of a director
of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant experience and the
nominating committee’s reasons for not requiring the director

to undergo training as prescribed by the Exchange (if N.A.
applicable).

Board Performance
Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and
that of each of its board committees and individual directors.

The NC reviews the criteria for evaluating the Board's performance and recommends to the Board a set of
objective performance criteria and process for the evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, each
Board committee separately as well as the contribution by the Chairman and each individual Director to the
Board with a view to enhancing effectiveness to promote long-term shareholders’ value. Based on the
recommendations of the NC, the Board has established processes for evaluating the effectiveness of the Board
as a whole and of each Board committee separately.

The performance criteria for the evaluation includes an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board and
the respective Board committees, the Board/committee/Directors' access to information, accountability,
Board/committee processes, Board/committee performance in relation to discharging its principal
responsibilities, communication with Management and standards of conduct of the Directors thereto. The
Chairman and the CEO would then act on the results of the performance evaluation, and where appropriate,
propose new members to be appointed to the Board or seek the resignation of Directors, in consultation with
the NC.

In the course of the year, the NC has assessed the performance of individual Directors by preparing a
questionnaire to be completed by each Director, which were then collated and the findings were analyzed and
discussed with a view to implementing certain recommendations to further enhance the effectiveness of the
Board.
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The Board, with the concurrence of the NC, is of the view that the performance of the Board as a whole is
satisfactory, the Board Committees operate effectively and each Director is contributing to the overall
effectiveness of the Board. No external facilitator was used in the evaluation process for the financial year under

review.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director
and executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and
key management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The RC reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on a framework of remuneration as well as specific
remuneration packages for each Director and KMP to and considers all aspects of remuneration including but
not limited to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, benefits-in-kind and termination terms, to
ensure they are fair.

The RC comprises the following three (3) members, all of whom, including the RC Chairman are Independent
Directors:

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung (Chairman)
Lim Tai Toon
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

The members of the RC have many years of corporate experience. In addition, the RC has access to expert
professional advice on remuneration matters as and when necessary.

The members of the RC carry out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference which include, amongst
others, the following:

e toreview Directors' fees to ensure that they are at sufficiently competitive levels;

e toassess the benefits of implementing a new share option scheme to incentivise and retain talent within
the organization;

e toreview and administer Medtecs Share Option Scheme for the Directors of the Company and employees
of the Group, details which can be found in Directors’ report in the annual report;

e toreview and advise the Board on the terms of appointment and remuneration of its members, CEO, KMP
of the Group and all managerial staff who are related to any of the Directors or the CEO;

e toreview the terms of the employment arrangements with Management so as to develop consistent
group wide employment practices subject to regional differences;

e toreview the Group’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive Directors’ and KMP’s
contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable termination
clauses which are not overly generous.

e torecommend to the Board in consultation with senior Management and the Chairman of the Board, any
long-term incentive scheme; and

e toreview and approve any proposals or recommendations relating to KMPs' remuneration.

For the financial year under review, the RC held four (4) meetings.

There being no specific necessity, the RC did not seek the service of an external remuneration consultant in
FY2023.
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Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel
are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the
company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the company.

The Company adopts a formal procedure for the fixing of the remuneration packages of individual Directors. No
Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. In setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into
account pay and employment conditions within the same industry and in comparable companies, as well as the
Group's relative performance and the performance of individual Directors.

Each of the two (2) Executive Directors has signed a service contract and the compensation framework for the
KMP and the Executive Directors comprises monthly salaries, annual bonuses and allowances. Each Executive
Director’s annual bonus is determined with reference to the performance and value creation taking into account
the strategic objectives of the Company.

The Company’s Share Option Scheme, last renewed in 2012, lapsed on 29 May 2022. The Company believes
implementing a new share option scheme will provide long-term incentives for Directors and KMP to encourage
loyalty and dedication and will be seeking shareholders’ approval for the proposed new share option scheme,
terms and information for which as set out in the Appendix to the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 15
April 2024. None of the service contracts has onerous removal clauses. Each of the Chairman’s and the CEOQ’s
service contracts has a fixed appointment period.

Annual review of the remuneration of Executive Directors and KMP is also carried out by the RC to ensure that
the remuneration of the Executive Directors and KMP is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors
to provide good stewardship of the Company and KMP to successfully manage the Company for the long term,
and that such remuneration are commensurate with their performance and value-add to the Group, giving due
regard to the financial and commercial health and business needs of the Group. The performance of the
Chairman and the CEO (along with that of other KMP) is reviewed periodically by the RC.

The Non-Executive Directors have no service contracts with the Company and their terms are specified in the
Bye-Laws. Non-Executive Directors are paid a basic fee for serving as a Director and an additional fee for serving
on any of the Board Committees. In determining the quantum of such fees, factors such as frequency of meetings,
time spent and responsibilities of Directors are taken into account. Such fees are subject to the approval of the
shareholders as a lump sum payment at the AGM. The Board is of the view that the remuneration of the Non-
Executive Directors for FY2023 is appropriate to the level of contribution based on the factors above.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration,
the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance
and value creation.

The breakdown of remuneration of the Directors, the top KMPs (who are not also Directors or the CEO) and
employees who are immediate family members of a Director/CEO/a substantial shareholder of the Company is
set out below:
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Remuneration of Directors

5 Variable or performance ) )
Based/fixed Director’s fee ® Remuneration Bands

Names of Directors related income/bonus ? Total %
salary @ % o % (S$)
3

Executive Directors
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng 99% - 1% 100% 500,000 and above
William Yang Weiyuan 99% - 1% 100% 500,000 and above

Independent Directors

Lim Tai Toon - - 100% 100% Below 250,000
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing = - 100% 100% Below 250,000
Dr Nieh Chien-Chung - - 100% 100% Below 250,000

() Base salary includes contractual bonus.

@) Variable payment includes performance bonus and profit sharing.

() Approved by shareholders of the Company as a lump sum of S$284,000 at the AGM held on 30 June 2023.
Remuneration of Top Five Key Management Personnel who are not Directors or the CEO

Names of key management

Variable or performance

personnel Based/fixed Remuneration Bands
(who are not Directors or salary M % R ™ Total % (S$)
the CEO)
James Lin Yi-Ching 100% - 100% Below 250,000
Kao Vereak 100% - 100% Below 250,000
Alex Chang 100% - 100% Below 250,000
Shyr Mingjung 100% = 100% Below 250,000
Duanmu Jianliang 100% - 100% Below 250,000

() Base salary includes contractual bonus.

@) Variable payment includes performance bonus and profit sharing.

The 2018 Code requires companies to fully disclose the remuneration of each individual Director and the CEO on
a named basis in exact quantum. In the event of non-disclosure, the Company is required to provide reasons for

such non-disclosure and how the Company’s practices confirm to the principle.

After much deliberation, the Board is of the view that full disclosure of the specific remuneration of each
individual Director and the CEO is not in the best interests of the Company or its stakeholders. In arriving at this
decision, the Board had taken into consideration, inter alia, the commercial sensitivity and confidential nature of
remuneration matters, the relative size of the Group, the competitive business environment in which the Group
operates in, and the negative impact such disclosure may have on the Group in attracting and retaining talent at
the Board level on a long-term basis. The Board is of the view that the remuneration of the Non-Executive
Directors and the Executive Directors (including the Chairman and CEQ), is in line with industry practice. As an
alternative, the Company has disclosed the name and remuneration of each individual Director and the CEO
within bands of $$250,000.

The aggregate of total remuneration paid to the top five KMP (who are not Directors or the CEO) in FY2023 was
$$465,000.
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The breakdown of the remuneration of immediate family member(s) of a Director or the CEO or a substantial
shareholder of the Company in FY2023 in bands of $$100,000 with a percentage breakdown of various

components is as follows:

Names of key executives Based/fixed salary¥  Variable or performance — Remuneration Bands
otal %
(who are not Directors) % related income/bonus ¥ % (%)
Sherry Chen Su-Tien 100% = 100% 100,000 - 200,000
Wan Chien Yang 100% - 100% 100,000 - 200,000

Save as disclosed above, there was no employee who is a substantial shareholder of the Company, or an
immediate family member of a Director or the CEO, or a substantial shareholder of the Company and whose
remuneration exceeded S$100,000 during FY2023.

There are no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to Directors and KMP

(who are not Directors or the CEO) that may be granted over and above what has been disclosed.

Approval of Shareholders

Directors’ fees for FY2023 were approved by shareholders at the AGM convened in 2023. The remuneration
framework for Executive Directors and KMP has been approved by the RC and endorsed by the Board. The Board
considers that the remuneration framework need not be approved by the shareholders.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of
the company and its shareholders.

The Board, with the assistance from the AC, is responsible for the overall governance of risk by ensuring that the
Management maintains sound systems of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders'
interest and the Group's assets, and for determining the nature and extent of the significant risks which the

Company is willing to take in achieving strategic objectives and value creation.

The AC is responsible for making the necessary recommendations to the Board such that an opinion regarding
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group can be made
by the Board in the annual report of the Company according to requirements in the Rules of Catalist and the
2018 Code.

On an annual basis, the Group's internal audit function prepares an audit plan taking into consideration risks
identified and assessed from the risk management system. This risk-based audit plan is approved by the AC and
audits are conducted to assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's internal control systems in
addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management system.
In addition, material control weaknesses over financial reporting, if any, are highlighted by the external auditors
in the course of the statutory audit.

All audit findings and recommendations made by the internal and external auditors are reported to the AC and
significant findings are discussed at the AC meetings. The Group's internal audit function follows up on all
recommendations to ensure timely remediation of audit issues and reports the status to the AC every quarter.
The Board, led by AC, having reviewed the adequacy of the Group’s internal control systems, is satisfied that
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effective internal controls were put in place and supported by a sound internal audit process and is of the view
that the Group’s internal audit function is independent, effective and adequately resourced.

Assurance from the CEO and the CFO

The Board has received written assurance from the CEO, CFO and key personnel who are responsible regarding

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems that:

a. the financial records of the Group have been properly maintained and the financial statements for FY2023
give a true and fair view of the Group's operations and finances; and

b.  the risk management and internal control systems in place within the Group are adequate and effective in
addressing the material risks in the Group in its current business environment including material financial,
operational, compliance and information technology risks.

Based on the reviews conducted by the management and findings from both the internal and external auditors
throughout the financial year, as well as the assurance from the CEO and the CFO, the Board with the concurrence
of the AC, is of opinion that the Group's internal controls in addressing financial, operational, compliance and
information technology risks as well as the Group's risk management system which the Group considers relevant
and material to its operations were adequate and effective as at 31 December 2023.

The Board notes that the systems of internal controls and risk management provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen.
Furthermore, the Board also acknowledges that no systems of internal controls and risks management can
provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor
judgment in decision-making, human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

Financial risks relating to the Group are set out in Note 32 to the Financial Statements of this annual report.

Audit Committee
Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee ("AC") which discharges its duties objectively.

The AC comprises the following three (3) members, all of whom are Independent Directors: -

Lim Tai Toon (Chairman)
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing
Dr Nieh Chien-Chung

All members of the AC have many years of experience in senior management positions in both financial and
industrial sectors, and at least two members, namely Lim Tai Toon and Carol Yang Xiao-Qing have recent and
relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience, and none of the members of the
AC are former partners or directors of the Company's existing auditing firm or auditing corporation (a) within a
period of two (2) years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be a partner of the auditing firm or director
of the auditing corporation; and in any case, (b) for as long as they have any financial interest in the auditing
firm or auditing corporation. The Board is of the view that the AC members, having recent and relevant
accounting and related financial management expertise or experience, are appropriately qualified to discharge

their responsibilities.

The primary reporting line of the internal audit functionis to the AC, which also oversees the quality and integrity
of the accounting, auditing, internal controls and financial practices of the Group as well as determines the
appointment, termination and remuneration of the head of the internal audit function. The internal audit
function has full access to the Company's documents, records, properties and personnel, including the AC.
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The AC performs the following delegated functions in accordance with its terms of reference:

e reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the
financial statements of the Company and any announcements relating to the Company's financial
performance;

e reviewing the half-yearly announcements and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the
annual financial statements of the Group before they are presented to the Board, focusing on:

- significant changes in accounting policies and issues which have a direct impact on financial
statements and presentation of the financial statements;

- compliance with accounting standards, legal and the SGX-ST requirements;

- management judgments and estimates that may have a material impact on the Group; and

- findings of the external auditors, including significant audit adjustments and any other matters
which the external auditors would like to bring to the attention of the AC;

e reviewing the audit plans and scope of audit examination of the external auditors;

e evaluating the cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of external auditors;

e reviewing the adequacy of the internal audit function (including the internal accounting controls) and the
scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

e ensuring the adequacy of the co-operation given by Management to the internal and external auditors;

e evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems including financial, operational,
compliance and information technology controls, and risk management of the Group by reviewing written
reports from the internal and external auditors, and the Management’s responses and actions to correct
any deficiencies;

. reviewing the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the financial records and financial statements;

e reviewing interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Rules of Catalist;

e meeting with the internal and external auditors, other committees, and the Management to discuss any
matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

e reviewing legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact or a possible impropriety on the
financial statements, related compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from
regulators;

e reviewing the independence, effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function;

e reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by external auditors; reporting actions and
minutes of the AC to the Board of Directors with such recommendations as the AC considers appropriate;

e making recommendations to the Board on: (i) the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment and
removal of external auditors; and (ii) the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

e reviewing the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or
other matters to be safely raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up on. The
Company publicly discloses, and clearly communicates to employees, the existence of a whistle-blowing
policy and procedures for raising such concerns; and

e considering other matters as requested by the Board.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy which sets out the procedures for employees of the Group
to, in confidence, make a report to the Company on misconduct or wrongdoing relating to the Company and its
officers. A whistle-blower may report his or her concerns to his or her immediate supervisor, the HR Supervisor
or HR Manager or confidentially to the Company’s AC through a designated email address. If the whistle-blower
is not comfortable about writing in, he or she can telephone or meet the appropriate officer in confidence at a
time and location to be determined together. Depending on the nature of the concern raised or information
provided, the investigation conducted may involve, in order of succession, the HR Department, the Country
Manager, the Executive Committee, the AC and the external or internal auditors. The investigating officer(s) will
communicate the findings of the investigation(s) to the Chairman or the AC for their necessary action. The
Company ensures that the identity of the whistle-blower is kept confidential (unless the whistle-blower chooses
to identify himself or herself) and all concerns raised and communications made by the whistleblower are

considered highly confidential.

The Company is committed to ensuring protection of the whistle-blower against detrimental or unfair treatment.

If an employee raises a genuine concern under the whistle-blowing policy, he or she will not be at risk of losing
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his or her job or suffering from retribution or harassment as a result. If the concern raised is not confirmed by
the investigation, no action will be taken against the employee provided that he or she acts in good faith. The AC
is responsible for overseeing the implementation of the whistle-blowing policy and its terms of reference include

the oversight and monitoring of whistle-blowing.

The AC also monitors proposed changes in accounting policies, standards and issues which have a direct impact
on financial statements and discusses the accounting implications of major transactions. In addition, the AC
advises the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls and risk management

systems, and the contents and presentation of its reports.

The AC is authorised to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has full access to the
Management and also full discretion to invite any Executive Director or KMP to attend its meetings, as well as
reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function properly. The AC has also conducted a review of
interested person transactions, details of which are set out in the Directors’ Statement.

Each member of the AC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of matters he/she is interested in.

In the course of the financial year, the AC carried out independent reviews of the financial statements of the
Group before announcements of the Group’s half-year and full-year results were released. In the process, the AC
considered the reasonableness of estimates, judgements and assumptions made and applied by management
and any significant matters which would have a material impact on the financial statements.

In its review of the financial statements for FY2023, the AC also reviewed together with Management, the
following key audit matters ("KAMs") reported by the external auditor. The AC had concurred with Management
on the methodologies, accounting treatments and estimates adopted, as well as the disclosures made in the
financial statements, in respect of such KAMs raised. This should be read in conjunction with the Independent
Auditor’s Report for FY2023.

KAMs How the KAMs were addressed by AC

Assessment of inventory The AC considered and evaluated the judgement by management in
valuation establishing a basis of allocation of direct labour costs and factory overheads
to the finished goods and work-in-progress. The AC also considered and
evaluated the valuation technique applied by management, focusing on the
key assumptions applied in estimating the amount of allowance required to
write down inventories to net realisable value based on replacement costs and

latest selling price.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including their
assessment of the suitability of the valuation technique and key assumptions

applied.

The AC was satisfied with the inventory valuation process, appropriateness of
the valuation technique applied and key assumptions applied for the

inventory as disclosed in the financial statements.

Allowance of expected The AC considered and evaluated the ECL valuation technique applied by
credit losses (“ECL”) for management, focusing on the assumptions applied for specific assessment on
trade receivables significant long outstanding trade receivables and provision matrix for other

trade receivables by considering both quantitative and qualitative information

43

that is reasonable and supportable, including credit profile and characteristics
of trade receivables.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including their
assessment of the suitability of the valuation technique and key assumptions

applied in the ECL impairment assessment for trade receivables.

The AC was satisfied with the ECL impairment process, appropriateness of the
valuation technique applied and key assumptions applied for the trade
receivables as disclosed in the financial statements.

Impairment assessment on The AC considered and evaluated the valuation technique applied by
property, plant and management, focusing on the key assumptions applied in the determination
equipment of the recoverable amount of these assets.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including their
assessment of the suitability of the valuation methodology and underlying key
assumptions applied in determining the recoverable amount of these assets.

The AC was satisfied with the impairment review process, the valuation
methodology applied and the assessment that no impairment in property,
plant and equipment was required.

In compliance with the Rule 712(2) of the Rules of Catalist, the Company had appointed Baker Tilly TFW LLP
("Baker Tilly") as its external auditor for FY2023 at the Company’s SGM held on 30 October 2023.

At least annually, the AC meets with the internal auditors and the external auditors separately in the absence of
the Management to review the adequacy of audit arrangements, with particular emphasis on the scope and
quality of their audits, the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the observations of the
auditors.

The AC has reviewed the independence of the external auditor through discussion with the external auditor as
well as by reviewing any non-audit services rendered by the Company’s independent external auditor, as set out
below and the nature and extent of such services which would prejudice the independence of the external
auditor. The AC has recommended to the Board that the external auditor of the Company be re-appointed for

the ensuing year subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

Fees paid/payable FY2023 % of total
Audit fees - Baker Tilly 180.4 48
Audit fees - SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. 154.6 42
Audit fees - Ernst & Young Taiwan 29.5 8

Non-audit fees - SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. and Ernst &
Young Taiwan (Agreed upon procedures and transfer 8.1 2
pricing study)
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Total 372.6 100

Fees (including fees for non-audit services) paid to the external auditors may be found in Note 9 of the financial
statements of the annual report.

The AC and Board, having taken into consideration various factors, including the adequacy of the resources and
experience of Baker Tilly, the audit engagement partner assigned to the audit, the number and experience of
supervisory and professional staff to be assigned to the audit, and most importantly, the other audit
engagements of Baker Tilly, which in the Board's view, align well with the Group's audit requirements, taking
into consideration the size and complexity of the Group and the jurisdictions in which it operates, given that
Baker Tilly has experience in the audit of mid-market companies with operations in Asian emerging economies,
and is familiar with the intricacies of operating in such Asian emerging markets and able to effectively work with
the local auditors to ensure a smooth audit process, are satisfied that the appointment of Baker Tilly meets the
audit requirements of the Group and will not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the
Company and the Group.

The AC has accordingly recommended to the Board the re-appointment of Baker Tilly as the external auditors of
the Company at the forthcoming AGM, subject to shareholders’ approval.

The Company hereby confirms its compliance with the requirements under Rule 712 and Rule 715 of the Rules
of Catalist. The Board and the AC are of the opinion that Baker Tilly fulfills the audit needs of the Group in
accordance with Rule 712 of the Rules of Catalist. Furthermore, in alignment with Rule 715 of the Rules of Catalist,
Baker Tilly has been appointed to audit all Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries to maintain the previous audit
scope consistency.

(D) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to
exercise shareholders' rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters
affecting the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable
assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the
participation of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to
communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Engagement with Stakeholders
Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and
interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best
interests of the company are served.
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Shareholder rights and shareholder meetings

General meetings (including AGMs) are important forums for dialogue and interaction with shareholders. All
shareholders are treated fairly and equitably by the Company and all shareholders will receive the notice of the
general meeting and the accompanying documents in order to enable them to exercise their rights at the relevant
meeting. All shareholders will be informed in the relevant notice or accompanying documents the rules
governing voting at such meeting.

Further, the Company welcomes the views of the shareholders on matters concerning the Company and
encourages shareholders' participation at the AGM, which is held in Singapore. The chairmen of the AC, NC and
RC of the Company are present at the general meetings to answer questions from the shareholders. The external
auditors are also present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. All Board
members had attended the Company’s AGM last year, and had addressed the questions put forward by the
shareholders at the AGM.

Under the Bye-Laws of the Company, shareholders can vote in person or by proxy through the appointment of
not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote on their behalf at general meetings of shareholders. There is
no limit on the number of proxies that can be appointed by nominee companies. Voting and vote tabulation
procedures used are disclosed before the general meetings proceed, with independent scrutineers appointed to
validate the voting process and procedures. All shareholders are entitled to vote by poll in accordance with the
Rules of Catalist and established voting rules and procedures. In absentia voting at general meetings of
shareholders by way of mail, facsimile or email is supported and made available.

Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting, unless the issues are
interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal, in which case the Company will explain the
reasons for bundling the resolutions and disclose the material implications in the notice of the general meeting.
Each item of special business included in the notice of the general meeting is accompanied, where appropriate,
by an explanation for the proposed resolution. All resolutions are voted by poll, following which the detailed
results showing, inter alia, the number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective
percentages will be announced. An announcement of the detailed results is made immediately after the
conclusion of the general meeting.

The Company Secretary, with the assistance of his representatives, prepares minutes of shareholders’” meetings.
These minutes are available to shareholders upon request, and such minutes which record substantial comments
or queries from shareholders and responses from the Board and the Management are released via SGXNET and
will be published on the Company's corporate website as soon as practicable after such meetings and in any case,
within one (1) month from the date of the general meeting.

In line with the continuing disclosure obligations of the Company pursuant to the Rules of Catalist, the Board's
policy is that all shareholders should be informed in a comprehensive manner and on a timely basis of all material
developments that would be likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s shares. The Board is
of the view that the Company has been compliant with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Rules of
Catalist in ensuring that price and/or trade sensitive information is publicly released on a timely basis, and
financial results and annual reports are announced or issued within the period stipulated under the Rules of
Catalist and applicable laws. All shareholders of the Company receive the annual report and notice of AGM. The
notice of AGM is also advertised in the newspapers.

As disclosed in the unaudited results for FY2023, the Board is not recommending any dividend distribution to its
shareholders for FY2023 to focus the Group's resources on working capital requirements and upcoming
expansion projects. The Company is committed to achieving sustainable income and growth to enhance long-
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term shareholder return. The Company does not have a fixed policy on the declaration of dividends. The form,
frequency and amount of future dividends declared will depend on earnings, general financial position, results
of operation, capital requirements, cash flow, general business condition, or development plans and other factors
as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem appropriate.

Engagement with shareholders

The Company believes that a high standard of disclosure is key to raising the level of corporate governance. Apart
from the SGXNET announcements released on the half and full year results and news releases and its annual
report and minutes of its general meetings, the Company updates shareholders on its corporate developments
and new initiatives through its corporate website at http://www.medtecs.com. The Company currently does not
have an investor relations policy. However, the shareholders can contact the Company with questions via
investor.relations@medtecs.com, which has been made available on the Company’s corporate website.

The Company values dialogue sessions with its shareholders. The Company believes in regular, effective and fair
communication with shareholders and is committed to hearing shareholders' views and addressing their

concerns.

Engagement with stakeholders

The Company has identified material stakeholders as those who are impacted by the Group’s business and
operations as well as those who have a material impact on the success of the Group’s business and operations.
Such stakeholders include shareholders (including institutional and individual investors), customers, employees,
government and policy-makers, local communities, suppliers, and financial institutions. The Company considers
that addressing the feedback and needs of the material stakeholders is essential to the success of the Group's
business as well as integral to achieving sustainable growth. For more on how the Company identifies material
stakeholder groups, as well as the Company’s strategy and key areas of focus in terms of stakeholder engagement,
please refer to the Company’s Sustainability Report for FY2023 which will be published on or before 31 May 2024.
The Company engages its stakeholders through various channels to ensure that the best business interests of the
Group are balanced against the needs and interests of its stakeholders.

The Group engages with their different stakeholders through their website at http://www.medtecs.com (which
provides for various communication channels to the Company and its subsidiaries), at the Company’s annual
general meeting, through corporate publications and announcements, trade shows, charities and donations
among others. A detailed explanation on this engagement process will be provided in the Sustainability Report
to be published by the Company on or before 31 May 2024.

(E) MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interests
of the CEO, each of the Directors or controlling shareholders, which are either still subsisting at the end of FY2023
or if not subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year ended 31 December 2022.

(F) DEALING IN SECURITIES

In line with the Rules of Catalist, the Company has adopted and implemented its own internal compliance code
on dealing in securities. This has been made known to Directors, officers and staff of the Company and of the
Group. In particular, it has been highlighted that it is an offence to deal in the Company’s securities when the
officers (Directors and employees) are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information in
relation to those securities. Dealings in the Company’s securities are prohibited one month prior to the

announcement of the Company’s half year and full year results. The officers are also discouraged from dealing
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in the Company’s securities based on short-term considerations. The Company provides window periods for
dealing in the Company’s securities and issues reminders that the law on insider trading is applicable at all times.

The Board confirms that for FY2023, the Company has complied with Rule 1204(19) of the Rules of Catalist on

best practices on dealing in securities.

(G) CATALIST SPONSOR

The Company is currently under the SGX-ST Catalist sponsor-supervised regime. The continuing sponsor of the
Company is R & T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. (the "Sponsor"). There was no non-sponsor fee paid by the
Company to the Sponsor during FY2023. The amount of fees paid to Rajah & Tann Singapore LLP, an affiliate of R
& T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd., for work done in FY2023, was approximately $5107,828.

(H) USE OF PLACEMENT PROCEEDS

The Company will make periodic announcements on the utilisation of the remaining US$1.4 million, representing
35.9% of the net proceeds of US$3.9 million from the private placement which was completed on 15 October

2015, as and when such remaining proceeds are materially disbursed pursuant to Rule 704(30).
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List of
Properties

TENURE OF LEASE

DESCRIPTION LOCATION AREA (in sq m)
(yrs)
Land () Srok Kampong Siam Kampong Cham Province, Cambodia 183,267 70 years
Factory Building Srok Kampong Siam Kampong Cham Province, Cambodia 40,064 70 years
Manhattan Special Economic Zone, Corner Public Road,
Land () Thanh Village, Sangkat, Bavet City, Svay Reang Province, 75,000 50 years
Kingdom of Cambodia
Manhattan Special Economic Zone, Corner Public Road,
Factory Building Thanh Village, Sangkat, Bavet City, Svay Reang Province, 13,146 50 years
Kingdom of Cambodia
Office Space Khan Toul Kork, Phnom Penh, Cambodia 606 3 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 17,856 25 years
Industrial Lot @) SBMA, Olongapo City, Bataan, Philippines 13,124 24 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 2,756 50 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 4,248 50 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase | Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 2,980 5 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 5,000 50 years
22F, The World Centre, 330 Sen. Gil J. Puyat Ave., Makati City,
Office Space 742 3 years
Philippines
Factory and Office  Qinghe Economic Park, GaoQing County, Zibo City,
2,880 3years
Building Shandong, China
202 Zhangshan Road, Renhe Town, Yuhang District,
Factory Building 19,417 20 years
Hangzhou, China
202 Zhangshan Road, Renhe Town, Yuhang District,
Land @ 15,333 50 years
Hangzhou, China
(1) The land properties are all held for manufacturing purposes and are 100% owned by the Group.
2) This property is held for investment purposes. The property has been revalued as of valuation date, 31 December 2023, and the value

amounts to an aggregate of US$3.8 million. The aggregated value of these properties do not represent more than 15% of the

consolidated net tangible assets of the Group or contribute to more than 15% of the consolidated pre-tax operating profit of the

Group. Further information related to the investment property is disclosed in Note 13 of the financial statements of this FY2023

annual report.
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STATISTICS OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
AS AT 28 MARCH 2024

Number of shares issued: 549,411,240

Class of shares: Ordinary shares

Voting Rights: On a show of hands, 1 vote for each member
On a poll, 1 vote for each ordinary share

No. of treasury shares: 4,500,000

Subsidiary holdings:  Nil

Distributions of Shareholdings

SIZE OF NO. OF
% NO. OF SHARES %
SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS

1-99 12 0.16 427 0.00

100 - 1,000 507 6.93 311,382 0.05

1,001 - 10,000 4,060 55.46 16,468,041 3.00

10,001 - 1,000,000 2,712 37.05 163,105,346 29.69

1,000,001 AND ABOVE 29 0.40 369,526,044 67.26

TOTAL 7,320 100.00 544,911,240 100.00
Shareholdings of Directors
AS AT 28 March 2024

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng® 36,373,285 6.68 21,375,198 3.92
William Yang Weiyuan ®) - - 3,000,000 0.55
Lim Tai Toon © - - 20,000 0.004
Notes:
(a) Clement Yang Ker-Cheng is deemed to be interested in 18,506,621 shares and 2,868,577 shares held by South World

Investment Ltd. and Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd., respectively.
(b

maintained with a Taiwan brokerage house.

(c) Lim Tai Toon is deemed to be interested in 20,000 shares held by his wife, Mdm Wong Lai Kwan.

William Yang Weiyuan is deemed to be interested in 3,000,000 shares acquired through his sub-brokerage account
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Substantial Shareholders

AS AT 28 March 2024 (based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng 36,373,285 6.68 21,375,198 3.92

Percentage of Shareholdings in Public’s Hands

As at 28 March 2024, approximately 88.85% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company
(excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings as well as the TDRs) are held in the hands of the public as
defined in the Rules of Catalist. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Rules of Catalist.
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TWENTY LARGEST

SHAREHOLDERS

AS AT 28 MARCH 2024

=2
O 00N WNREQO

N R R R R R R R R R
O VLo NOOULBAWNELO

NAME

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
YANG CLEMENTK C

SOUTH WORLD INVESTMENTS LIMITED
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED

DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD

IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD.

MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.

DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD
TIGER BROKERS (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.
UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED

TAN JIN SIANG

KGI SECURITIES PTE. LTD.

BPS NOMINEES (PTE.) LTD.

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD
MOOMOO FINANCIAL SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.
MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.
LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD

POON SENG KUN

TOTAL

NO. OF SHARES

212,161,050
36,373,285
18,506,621
16,600,951
12,370,100
12,266,071
10,363,000
8,052,977
5,432,614
3,676,400
2,940,100
2,934,800
2,700,000
2,672,400
2,036,800
2,000,700
1,912,600
1,610,475
1,587,200
1,510,000

357,708,144

%
38.62
6.62
3.37
3.02
2.25
2.23
1.89
1.47
0.99
0.67
0.54
0.53
0.49
0.49
0.37
0.36
0.35
0.29
0.29
0.27

65.11

The Group’s TDRs were listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange on 13 December 2002. The number of TDRs issued
at that time was 22,000,000.

In May 2004, an additional 4,382,875 TDRs were issued because of a stock split. In October 2009, an additional
tranche of 100,000,000 TDRs was issued and traded on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

As at 28 March 2024, the total number of TDRs issued by the Company is 205,531,500, representing
approximately 37.72% of the total number of shares in the capital of the Company.
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Interested Person
Transactions

No general mandate has been obtained for interested person transactions pursuant to Rule 920(1) of the Rules
of Catalist. The aggregate value of interested person transactions carried out during FY2023 are as follows:

Aggregate value of all
interested person Aggregate value of all

transactions during the interested person

financial year under review transactions conducted

. (excluding transactions less under shareholders'
Name of interested

Nature of relationship than $100,000 and mandate pursuant to Rule

person

transactions conducted 920 of the Rules of Catalist

under shareholders' (excluding transactions
mandate pursuant to Rule less than $100,000)
920 of the Rules of Catalist) | (S$'000)

(S$'000)
Manhattan ,
International Corp. Us57000
~ Utility and fuel Mr Clement Yang Ker-
) Cheng, the Chairman and 850
consumption
an Executive Director of the
- Rentand N.A.
) Company, is the chairman 211
maintenance fees
. and sole director of the
- Raw materials and ) 875
fixed assets interested person
- Others 156

The amount at risk to the Company of US$2,092,000 represented approximately 1.65% of the audited

consolidated net tangible assets of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

The AC and the Board have reviewed the interested person transactions above and are of the opinion that the
transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the
Company and its minority shareholders.
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Notice of
Annual General Meeting

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

All capitalised terms used in the resolutions below and defined in the Appendix to this Notice of Annual General Meeting dated
15 April 2024 in relation to the proposed renewal of the share purchase mandate and the proposed adoption of the Medtecs
Share Option Scheme (the "Appendix") shall, unless otherwise defined herein, have the respective meanings ascribed to them

in the Appendix.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") of Medtecs International Corporation
Limited (the "Company") will be held at 600 North Bridge Road, #05-01 Parkview Square, Singapore 188778 on
Tuesday, 30 April 2024 at 2.00 p.m. (Singapore time) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing

the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
(Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, a Director retiring from office by rotation pursuant to Bye-Law
86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws and being eligible for re-election.
[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 2)
3. To note Mr Lim Tai Toon, a Director, wishes to retire from office and not offer himself for re-election.
4. To note Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing, a Director, wishes to retire from office and not offer herself for re-
election.
5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $$284,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2024,
to be paid quarterly in arrears. (2023: S$284,000) (Resolution 3)
6. To re-appoint Baker Tilly TFW LLP as Auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the
Company to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 4)
7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without

modifications:

SHARE ISSUE MANDATE

8. "That pursuant to Rule 806 of the Rules of Catalist, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of
the Company to:
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(i)

(ii)

allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus
or otherwise (including shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to any
Instrument (as defined below)) made or granted by the Directors while this
Resolutions is in force notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution
may have ceased to be in force at the time of issue of such shares); and/or

make or grant offers, agreements or options or otherwise issue convertible securities
(collectively, "Instruments") that may or would require shares to be issued, including
but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants,
debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

at any time and from time to time upon such terms and conditions, whether for cash or otherwise, and
for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may think fit for the benefit of the Company,

provided that:

(a)

(b)

(0)

(d)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such
authority) does not exceed one hundred per cent. (100%) of the total number of
issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Rules of Catalist) and
treasury shares of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b)
below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be offered other than on a pro-
rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority) does not exceed fifty per
cent. (50%) of the total number of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as
defined in the Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares of the Company (as calculated in
accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below);

for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued
under sub-paragraph (a) above, the percentage of the total number of issued shares
excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares
shall be calculated based on the total number of issued shares excluding treasury
shares of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting
for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible
securities;
(ii) new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share

awards provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with
Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Rules of Catalist; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

provided that adjustments in accordance with sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above are
only to be made in respect of new shares arising from convertible securities, share
options or share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time
of the passing of this Resolution;

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply
with the provisions of the Rules of Catalist for the time being in force (unless such
compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
("SGX-ST")) and the Bye-laws for the time being of the Company; and

unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred
by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual general
meeting of the Company is required by law or by the Bye-Laws of the Company to be
held, whichever is the earlier, except that the Directors of the Company shall be

authorised to allot and issue shares pursuant to any Instrument made or granted by
the Directors while this Resolution was in force notwithstanding that the authority
conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force at the time of issue of
such shares." [See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 5)

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

9.

"That:

(a)

for the purposes of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda ("Bermuda Companies Act")
and otherwise in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SGX-ST, the exercise
by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or
otherwise acquire issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the "Shares")
not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Percentage (as hereafter defined), at such
price(s) as may be determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum
Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) on-market purchases through the SGX-ST's trading system, or as the case
may be, on any other stock exchange on which the Shares may for the time
being be listed and quoted, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers
appointed by the Company for the purpose ("Market Purchases"); and/or

(ii) off-market purchases in accordance with an equal access scheme as defined
in Section 76C of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore ("Off-Market
Purchases"),

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the
time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the
"Share Purchase Mandate");

(b)

(c)

the authority conferred on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share
Purchase Mandate to purchase and/or acquire Shares may be exercised by the
Directors of the Company at any time and from time to time during the period
commencing from the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the
earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held
or required to be held (whereupon it will lapse, unless renewed at such
AGM);

(ii) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is

revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting (if so varied or
revoked prior to the next AGM);

(iii) the date on which purchases and/or acquisitions of Shares by the Company
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are carried out to the full extent
mandated; or

(iv) the date falling 12 months from the date of the AGM; and

the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all
such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they
may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated
by this Resolution."

[See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 6)

In this Resolution:

"Average Closing Price" means:
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(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, the average of the Closing Market Prices
(as defined below) of a Share over the last five (5) Market Days on which the
Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, such securities
exchange on which the Shares are listed or quoted, immediately preceding
the date of the Market Purchase by the Company; or

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, the average of the Closing Market
Prices (as defined below) of a Share over the last five (5) Market Days on
which the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, such
securities exchange on which the Shares are listed or quoted, immediately
preceding the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market
Purchase,

and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the Rules of Catalist, for any
corporate action that occurs during such five (5) Market Day period and the
day of the Market Purchase or, as the case may be, the date of the making of
the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase;

"Closing Market Price" means the last dealt price for a Share transacted through the SGX-ST's
trading system as shown in any publication of the SGX-ST or other sources;

"date of the making of the offer" means the date on which the Company announces its
intention to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from Shareholders, stating
therein the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the
foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting
the Off-Market Purchase;

"Market Day" means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities;

"Maximum Percentage" means that number of issued Shares representing 10% of the issued
Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, unless the Company has, at any time
during the Relevant Period, effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act, in which event the
total number of issued Shares of the Company shall be taken to be the total number of issued
Shares as altered by the capital reduction. Any Shares which are held as treasury shares and
any subsidiary holdings will be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10% limit;

"Maximum Price" in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price
(excluding related or ancillary expenses in respect of the purchase or acquisition such as
brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax, stamp duties and clearance fees and
other related expenses (where applicable)) to be paid for a Share will be determined by the
Directors, provided that such purchase price must not exceed:

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the
Shares; and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme,
120% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and

"Relevant Period" means the period commencing from the date on which the last AGM was
held and expiring on the date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever
is the earlier, after the date of this Resolution.

PROPOSED ADOPTION OF THE MEDTECS SHARE OPTION SCHEME

10.
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"That:

(a) the share option scheme to be known as the "Medtecs Share Option Scheme" ("Share
Option Scheme"), the rules of which ("Scheme Rules") has been appended to and a
summary of which is set out in the Appendix to the Notice of Annual General Meeting
dated 15 April 2024 and under which options (the "Options") will be granted to such
persons to subscribe for ordinary Shares on such terms and conditions and in
accordance with the Scheme Rules, be and is hereby approved and adopted; and

(b) the Directors of the Company and/or such committee comprising Directors of the
Company duly authorised and appointed by the board of Directors of the Company to
administer the Share Option Scheme, be and are hereby authorised:

(i)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Abdul Jabbar Bin Karam Din
Company Secretary

Singapore, 15 April 2024

to establish and administer the Share Option Scheme;

to modify and/or amend the Share Option Scheme from time to time
provided that the modifications and/or amendments are effected in
accordance with the Scheme Rules and to do all such acts and to enter into
all such transactions, arrangements and agreements as may be necessary or
expedient in order to give full effect to the Share Option Scheme;

to offer and grant options in accordance with the Scheme Rules and to allot
and issue and/or deliver (including through the transfer of Shares of the
Company) from time to time such number of Shares as may be required to
be allotted, issued and/or delivered pursuant to the exercise of Options
under the Share Option Scheme (provided always that the aggregate number
of Shares to be issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed
fifteen per cent. (15%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding
subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares
of the Company from time to time;

subject to the same being allowed by law, to apply any Share purchased or
acquired under any share purchase mandate and to deliver such existing
Shares (including any treasury shares) towards the satisfaction of the Options
granted under the Share Option Scheme; and

to complete and do all acts and things (including executing such documents
as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient
to give effect to or for the purposes of this resolution or as they shall deem
fit in the interests of the Company."

[See Explanatory Note (iv)] (Resolution 7)
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Explanatory Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Notes:
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Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Chairman of the
Board and Executive Director and a member of the Nominating Committee of the Company. The profile of Mr
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng can be found under the sections entitled "Board of Directors" and "Board Membership"
in the report on Corporate Governance in the Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2023
("Annual Report 2023").

Ordinary Resolution 5 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, is to authorise the Directors to allot and issue shares in
the capital of the Company and/or Instruments (as defined above). The aggregate number of shares to be issued
pursuant to Resolution 5 (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted) shall not
exceed one hundred per cent. (100%) of the total number of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined
in the Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares of the Company, with a sub-limit of fifty per cent. (50%) for shares
issued other than on a pro-rata basis (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted
pursuant to this Resolution) to shareholders. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that
may be issued, the percentage of the total number of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the
Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares of the Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares
excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares of the Company at the time
of the passing of Resolution 5, after adjusting for (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any
convertible securities; (i) new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards provided the
options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Rules of Catalist; and (iii) any
subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares. The adjustments in accordance with (i) and (ii)
above are only to be made in respect of new shares arising from convertible securities, share options or share
awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of Resolution 5.

Ordinary Resolution 6 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, is to renew the Share Purchase Mandate to enable the
Company to purchase or acquire its issued shares. Shareholders had previously approved the renewal of the Share
Purchase Mandate at the last AGM of the Company that was held on 30 June 2023. Please refer to the Appendix to
this Notice of AGM for more details.

Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 10 above, if passed, is to authorise the Directors to offer and grant Options
in accordance with the Share Option Scheme and to allot and issue shares under the Share Option Scheme. Please
refer to the Appendix to this Notice of AGM for more details.

The AGM of the Company will be held, in a wholly physical format at 600 North Bridge Road, #05-01 Parkview Square,
Singapore 188778 on 30 April 2024 at 2.00 p.m. There will be no option for Shareholders to participate in the AGM
virtually.

Attendees must bring their original NRIC/Passport for verification and registration on the day of the AGM.

Documents and information relating to the AGM, including the (i) Annual Report 2023; (ii) this Notice of AGM; (iii)
the Appendix to this Notice of AGM; and (iv) the Proxy Forms are electronically available on the Company's website
at the URL https://www.medtecs.com/investor-relations/agm-and-sgm/ and on SGXNET at the URL
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.

Printed copies of the Annual Report 2023 and the Appendix will not be despatched to Shareholders, unless otherwise
requested.

For Shareholders' convenience, printed copies of (a) this Notice of AGM, (b) the Proxy Forms and (c) a Request Form
(to request for printed copies of the Annual Report 2023 and/or the Appendix) (the "Request Form") have been
despatched to Shareholders.

For Shareholders to receive the physical copies of Annual Report 2023 and/or the Appendix, please have the Request
Form completed and returned to the office of the Company's Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632 no later than 22 April 2024.
Alternatively, the completed Request Form may be submitted electronically via email to
medtecs@boardroomlimited.com no later than 22 April 2024. Printed copies of the Annual Report 2023 and/or the
Appendix will then be sent to the address specified by the Shareholder(s) at his/her/its own risk.

Questions and answers and minutes of the AGM

Shareholders and persons who hold Shares through a relevant intermediary (including SRS investors), or where
applicable, their appointed proxy(ies) are strongly encouraged to submit to the Company, questions related to the

resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM in advance of the AGM. In order to do so, their questions must be
received by the Company no later than 5 p.m. (Singapore time) on 22 April 2024, being at least seven (7) calendar
days from the Notice of AGM. Such questions may be submitted in the following manner:

(a) Shareholders (including SRS investors) may submit their questions electronically to the Company's Share Transfer
Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. via email to medtecs@boardroomlimited.com or by
post or by depositing it at the office of the Company's Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632;

(b

persons who hold Shares through relevant intermediaries (other than SRS investors) may submit questions
through their relevant intermediary, who in turn may submit a consolidated list of questions to the Company's
Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., via email to
medtecs@boardroomlimited.com; or

(c) Shareholders and persons who hold Shares through a relevant intermediary (including SRS investors) who submit
questions in advance of the AGM should provide the following information to the Company (or, in the case of
persons who hold Shares through a relevant intermediary, their relevant intermediary) for verification purposes:

(i) the Shareholder's full name;
(ii)  the Shareholder's address, contact number and email address; and
(iii)  the manner in which the Shareholder holds Shares (e.g. if you hold Shares directly, please provide your

NRIC/Passport No.; otherwise, please state if you hold your Shares through SRS, or through a relevant
intermediary).

"relevant intermediary" means:
(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 of Singapore, or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such
a banking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds Shares in that

capacity;

(b

a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the
Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, and who holds Shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board ("CPF Board") established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953 of
Singapore, in respect of Shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the
making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central
Provident Fund, if the CPF Board holds those Shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in
accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

Shareholders attending the AGM may also ask questions at the AGM. The Company will endeavour to address all
substantial and relevant questions (which are related to the resolution(s) to be tabled for approval at the AGM)
submitted in advance of the AGM and received by 5 p.m. (Singapore time) on 22 April 2024, being at least seven (7)
calendar days from the Notice of AGM.

The Company will publish the responses to those questions which the Company will not be addressing during the
AGM, on the Company's website and on SGXNET at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the closing date and time for
the lodgment of proxy forms. Should there be subsequent clarification sought, or follow up questions after the
deadline for submission of questions, the Company will address those substantial and relevant questions during the
AGM. Where substantially similar questions are received, the Company will consolidate such questions and
consequently not all questions may be individually addressed.

The Company will publish the minutes of the AGM within one (1) month after the AGM on the Company's website at
https://www.medtecs.com/investor-relations/agm-and-sgm/ and on SGXNET at
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and the minutes will include the responses to the
substantial and relevant questions received from Shareholders which are addressed during the AGM.

Voting, or appointing proxy(ies) to vote, at the AGM

A Shareholder who is a natural person and entitled to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and hold two (2) or more
shares is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need
not be a Shareholder.

A Shareholder who is not a natural person and entitled to attend, speak and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint
more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead.
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Where a Shareholder appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the
proportion of his/her holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

A Shareholder who wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the AGM may: (a) vote at the AGM in person or (b)
appoint proxy(ies) to vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. A Shareholder who wishes to submit an instrument
appointing proxy(ies) must complete the accompanying Proxy Form before submitting it in the manner set out below.

In the Proxy Form, a Shareholder should specifically direct the proxy on how he/she/it is to vote for, vote against, or
abstain from voting on, each of the resolution(s) to be tabled at the AGM. All valid votes cast via proxy on each
resolution will be counted. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy (including the Chairman of the AGM)
may vote or abstain from voting at his/her/its discretion.

A Shareholder who wishes to appoint a proxy/proxies to attend the AGM and vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM,
should complete the Shareholders' Proxy Form and submit the duly completed Shareholders' Proxy Form to the
Company by 2.00 p.m. on 28 April 2024, being not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for
holding the AGM, through any one of the following manners:

(a) if by electronic communication, via email to the Company's Singapore Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at medtecs@boardroomlimited.com; or

(b) if sent personally or by post, be lodged at the office of the Company's Singapore Share Transfer Agent,
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower,
Singapore 098632.

A Depositor (who is not a natural person) whose name appears in the Depository Register and who wishes to attend
and vote at the AGM, should complete the CDP Proxy Form and submit the duly completed CDP Proxy Form to the
Company by 2.00 p.m. on 28 April 2024, being not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for
holding the AGM, through any one of the following manners:

(a) if by electronic communication, via email to the Company's Singapore Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at medtecs@boardroomlimited.com; or

(b) if sent personally or by post, be lodged at the office of the Company's Singapore Share Transfer Agent,
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower,
Singapore 098632.

In the case of Depositors whose names are not shown in the records of the Depository as at forty-eight (48) hours
before the time appointed for holding the AGM as supplied by the Depository to the Company, the Company may
reject such proxy form submitted to the Company.

A Depositor who is a natural person need not complete the CDP Proxy Form if he/she intends to attend in person.

Printed copies of the Proxy Forms have been despatched to Shareholders and the Proxy Forms may also be accessed
at the Company's website at https://www.medtecs.com/investor-relations/agm-and-sgm/ and on SGXNET at
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.

Completion and submission of the Proxy Form shall not preclude a Shareholder from attending, speaking and voting
at the AGM. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies (including the Chairman of the AGM) shall be deemed to be
revoked if a Shareholder attends the AGM, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any
person or persons appointed under the Proxy Form to the AGM.

Note: Please refer to the Notes to the Proxy Form for additional documentary requirements in the event the Proxy
Form is signed by an attorney or duly authorised officer or executor(s) on behalf of a deceased individual's estate.

Personal data privacy:

By attending the AGM, submitting questions in advance of the AGM and/or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies)
and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a Depositor or a member of
the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the Depositor's or the member's personal data, as contained
in any communication from or on behalf of the Depositor or member in relation to the AGM (including but not limited to
questions sent in advance of the AGM and proxy forms), by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose
of the processing, administration and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and
representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the
attendance lists, minutes, questions submitted and the answers thereto for disclosure and publication before, at or after (as
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the case may be) the AGM and/or on SGXNET and the Company's website (including publication of the names of the
Shareholders/proxies/representatives asking questions) and other documents relating to the AGM (including any
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws,
listing rules including code of corporate governance, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the "Purposes"), (i) warrants
that all information submitted is true and accurate, and where the Depositor or the member discloses the personal data of
the Depositor's or the member's proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) and/or any other party to the Company (or its agents or
service providers), the Depositor or the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s)
for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies)
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the Depositor or the member will indemnify the Company in
respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the Depositor's or the member's
breach of warranty.

This document has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company's sponsor, R & T
Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. ("Sponsor"), for compliance with the relevant rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited ("Exchange").

This document has not been examined or approved by the Exchange. The Exchange assumes no responsibility for the contents
of this document including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports contained in this document.

The contact persons for the Sponsor are Ms Evelyn Wee (Telephone Number: +65 6232 0724) and Mr. Howard Cheam Heng

Haw (Telephone Number: +65 6232 0685), R&T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd., at 9 Straits View, Marina One West Tower, #06-
07 Singapore 018937.
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Financial
Statements

Directors’ Statement

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

In the opinion of the directors:

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 73 to 141 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and of the financial
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the
financial year then ended in accordance with the provisions of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International); and

(ii) atthe date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay
its debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this statement are:

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng (Chairman)

William Yang Weiyuan (Deputy Chairman and CEO)
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

Lim Tai Toon

Nieh Chien-Chung

Pursuant to Rule 720(4) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) Listing Manual Section
B: Rules of Catalist (the “Rules of Catalist”) and in accordance with By-Law 86 of the Company’s By-Laws, Clement
Yang Ker-Cheng retires by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

Arrangement to enable directors to acquire benefits

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement
whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interest in shares or debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the following directors, who held office at the end of the

financial year, had interests in the share of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned
subsidiaries) as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest
At1l At 31 At 21 At1l At 31 At 21
January December January January December January
Name of directors 2023 2023 2024 2023 2023 2024

Ordinary shares of the
Company at par value of

USS0.05 each
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng 24,673,285 24,673,285 24,673,285 33,075,198 33,075,198 33,075,198
William Yang Weiyuan - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Lim Tai Toon - - - 20,000 20,000 20,000
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Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

Directors’ interest in shares or debentures (cont’d)

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng is deemed to be interested in 18,506,621 shares, and 14,568,577 shares, held by South
World Investment Ltd. and Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd., respectively.

William Yang Weiyuan is deemed to be interested in 3,000,000 shares acquired through his sub-brokerage
account maintained with a Taiwan brokerage house.

Lim Tai Toon is deemed to be interested in 20,000 shares held by his wife, Mdm. Wong Lai Kwan.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in
shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning
of the financial year or at the end of the financial year.

Other information required by the SGX-ST

Save as disclosed in the section entitled "Interested Person Transactions" in this annual report, no material
contracts to which the Company or any subsidiary is a party and which involve the interests of the CEO, each
director or controlling shareholder, subsisted at the end of the financial year or have been entered into since the
end of the previous financial year.

Directors' contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the
Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or
a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in
which the director has a substantial financial interest.

Share options

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), issued on 30 April 2012, has lapsed on 29 May 2022. The
Company will be implementing a new share option scheme to incentivise and retain talent within the
organisation. Shareholders approval is being sought for the adoption of Medtecs Share Option Scheme.

The committee in charge of administering the Scheme, before it lapsed, consists of:

Nieh Chien-Chung (Chairman)

Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

Lim Tai Toon

As at the end of the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries were

granted, and no shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of options or warrant to take up unissued shares of
the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions, including the following:

e Reviews the audit plans of internal and external auditors of the Company and review the internal auditors’
evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the assistance given by
the Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

e Reviews the half yearly announcements and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual
financial statements of the Group before submission to the Board of Directors (“BOD”);

e Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s material internal control systems, including financial,
operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management via reviews carried out by
the internal auditors;

e Meets with the external auditors, other committees and management in separate executive sessions to discuss
any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

e Reviews legal and regulatory matters that they have a material impact on the financial statements, related
compliance policies and programmes and any report received from regulator;

e Reviews the independence, effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function;

e Reviews the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

e Reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

e Recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated, approves the compensation of the
external auditors and reviews the scope and results of the audit;

e Reports actions and minutes of meetings of the AC to the BOD with such recommendations as the AC considers
appropriate; and

e  Reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Rules of Catalist.

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that

the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. Fees

(including fees for non-audit services) paid to external auditors may be found in Note 9 of the financial

statements of the annual report. The AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year. The AC has also met with internal and external auditors, without
the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Independent auditor

The independent auditor, Baker Tilly TFW LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng William Yang Weiyuan
Director Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as set out on pages 73 to 141, which comprise the statements of
financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of changes
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and of the consolidated financial performance,
consolidated changes in the equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the
Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting
Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
Assessment of inventory valuation

The Group has $37,359,000 of inventories as of 31 December 2023, representing 22% of its total assets. The
Group records its inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventory is determined on a
weighted-average method. Allowances for write down of inventory are provided and to reduce the carrying
amount of the inventories to their net realisable values.

Management establishes a basis of allocation of direct labour and factory overheads to the finished goods and
work-in-progress. Management also reviews the inventory ageing report to identify slow-moving inventories and
estimates the amount of allowance based on latest replacement costs of raw materials and subsequent selling
prices for inventories.

Significant judgment and estimates are involved in the allocations of direct labour and factory overheads and
the assessment of inventory allowance which may have significant impact on the valuation of inventories. Hence,
inventory valuation is identified as a key audit matter.

Together with the component auditors, we have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in
response to the above-mentioned key audit matter:

- Obtained an understanding of management’s control on recording of purchases of raw materials, allocation
of direct labour and production overheads to cost of inventories and management’s assessment of
allowance for write down of inventory;

- Onasample basis, we:

= Verified purchases, direct labour and overhead costs incurred to suppliers’ invoice and payroll records;

=  Tested mathematical accuracy of weight-average costing for inventories and allocation of labour costs
and overheads;

= Tested the integrity of the inventory reports in order to conclude that the inventory reports can be
relied upon for the assessment of allowance for write down of inventory;

- Corroborated management’s assessment of allowance for write down of inventory considering factors such
as type of inventory, latest replacement costs of raw materials and selling prices subsequent to the financial
year;

- Observed and inquired management for any identified obsolete or slow-moving inventories during our
stocktake observation; and

- Assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial statements.

The related disclosures on the allowance for inventory assessment are included in Note 2.7 and Note 19 to the

financial statements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to allowance for inventory are
disclosed in Note 3(iii) to the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
Allowance of expected credit losses for trade receivables

The Group has $24,349,000 of trade receivables as of 31 December 2023, representing 14% of its total assets. In
determining the ECLs, Management performs specific assessment on significant long outstanding trade
receivables and provision matrix for other trade receivables by considering both quantitative and qualitive
information that is reasonable and supportable, including credit profile and characteristics of trade receivables.
Given the materiality of the trade receivables and significant estimations involved in the ECLs assessment, we
have identified this as key audit matter.

Together with the component auditors, we have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in
response to the above-mentioned key audit matter:

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit policies and credit assessment procedures and the controls
relating to the monitoring of trade receivables;

- Evaluated management’s assumptions used in establishing the ECLs impairment model through analysis of
receivables ageing, review of historical credit loss experiences and consideration of data and information
used by management in determining the forward-looking adjustments based on current economic
condition;

- Reviewed collectability of material and long aged trade receivables by way of obtaining evidence of receipts
subsequent to the balance sheet date from the customers. For long overdue debts without subsequent
collection, we discussed with management on their assessment of the ECLs for these debtors. Where
applicable, we reviewed debtors’ payment history, current and future conditions of the debtors’ operations
and expected settlement plans for the outstanding balances; and

- Reviewed the adequacy and appropriateness of disclosures made in the financial statements.

The related disclosures on the ECLs for trade receivables and credit risk management process are included in
Note 2.6 and Note 20 to the financial statements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to ECLs
for trade receivables are disclosed in Note 3(ii) to the financial statements.

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment amounted to
$40,566,000, representing 24% of its total assets. The carrying amount of these assets are reviewed annually by
management to assess whether there are indicators of impairment and if there are such indicators, an estimate
is made for the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment concerned. During the financial year,
the Group recognised impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of US$2,000,000.

For cash-generating units (“CGUs”) where there are indicators impairment, management has prepared value-in-
use and fair value less cost of disposal computations in assessing the recoverable amounts of the property, plant
and equipment. This assessment required management to exercise significant estimation over the assumptions
used in the preparation of the forecast and determination of fair values of the property, plant and equipment.
The key assumptions and judgment adopted are the annual revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate,
forecasted gross margins and discount rate and the determination of fair values less cost of disposal of the
property, plant and equipment. Given the materiality of the property, plant and equipment, and significant
estimation involved in assessing the recoverable amount of these assets, we have identified the impairment of
property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Together with the component auditors, we have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in
response to the above-mentioned key audit matter:

- Reviewed management’s assessment of indicators of impairment of property, plant and equipment and the
methodology used by management to estimate value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal when
indicators are present;

- Assessed market value adopted and reasonableness of adjustments made for the age and condition of the
equipment and cost of disposal;

- Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions such as annual revenue growth rate and forecasted gross
margins used in the forecast by comparing to historical trend and the latest budgets and other available
information;

- Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate
used in the forecast;

- Performed sensitivity analysis of the recoverable amounts to changes in the key assumptions taking into
consideration the general economic outlook; and

- Reviewed the adequacy and appropriateness of disclosures made in the financial statements.

The related disclosure is included in Note 12 to the financial statements. The key sources of estimation
uncertainty in relation to impairment of non-financial assets are disclosed in Note 3(i) to the financial statements.

Other Matters

The financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2022 were audited by another auditor whose report dated 14 June 2023 expressed an unmodified
opinion on those financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain
accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

7

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED (cont’d)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the
“Act”) to be kept by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have

been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ong Kian Guan.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

11 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

Revenue
Costs of sales and services

Gross profit/(loss)

Other items of income
Other income - net
Financial income

Other items of expense
Distribution and selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Financial expenses

Loss before tax
Tax expense

Net loss for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation reserve

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement (loss)/gain on retirement benefit
obligation, net of tax
Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FAFVOCI”)

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax

Net loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Net loss for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax

Loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the

Company (cents per share)
- Basic and diluted

Note

11

Group
2023 2022

USs$’000 US$’000

52,639 56,243
(46,682) (59,580)
5,957 (3,337)

1,987 2,461

1,304 905
(7,637) (12,009)
(23,310) (17,723)
(816) (951)
(22,515) (30,654)

27 ,

(22,488) (29,263)
(115) (3,132)

(39) 198

635 (375)
(22,007) (32,572)
(21,066) (28,596)
(1,422) (667)
(22,488) (29,263)
(20,585) (31,905)
(1,422) (667)
(22,007) (32,572)
(3.866) (5.244)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

At 31 December 2023

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

Assets held for leasing
Right-of-use assets

Net investment in sub-lease
Investment in subsidiaries
Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Trade receivables

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other current assets

Due from subsidiaries, net

Cash, bank balances and fixed deposits

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade payables and other current
liabilities

Lease liabilities

Loans and borrowings

Income tax payable

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Pension benefit obligation
Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note

24,35

15
25

15

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
40,566 43,592 121 194
2,505 2,617 - -
3,915 4,116 - -
9,109 9,903 145 261
- - 4,621 4,544
- - 28,241 28,352
3,363 848 - -
2,254 2,155 - -
4,265 - 4,265 -
4,995 8,429 79 112
70,972 71,660 37,472 33,463
37,359 36,394 345 3,304
20,084 30,358 9,980 25,870
5,311 8,356 156 1,976
- - 15,379 16,925
33,041 35,281 351 3,366
95,795 110,389 26,211 51,441
166,767 182,049 63,683 84,904
5,974 6,447 703 579
801 575 21 129
23,861 15,643 - -
2,332 2,415 - -
32,968 25,080 724 708
62,827 85,309 25,487 50,733
2,243 3,335 186 187
312 391 11 13
918 811 194 167
18 117 - -
3,491 4,654 391 367
36,459 29,734 1,115 1,075
130,308 152,315 62,568 83,829
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)

At 31 December 2023
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Uss’000
Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Share capital 26 27,471 27,471 27,471 27,471
Less: Treasury shares 26 (2,361) (2,361) (2,361) (2,361)
Share premium 4,721 4,721 4,721 4,721
Revenue reserves 99,618 120,424 32,071 53,332
Remeasurement gain on retirement benefit
obligations 211 250 105 105
Foreign currency translation reserves 27 (850) (735) - -
Other reserves 27 394 19 561 561
129,204 149,789 62,568 83,829
Non-controlling interests 16 1,104 2,526 - -
Total equity 130,308 152,315 62,568 83,829
Total equity and liabilities 166,767 182,049 63,683 84,904

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2023
Group
Balance at 1 January 2023

Net loss for the year, net of tax

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation
reserves

Unrealised gains on FAFVOCI

Disposal of FAFVOCI

Remeasurement loss on
retirement benefit obligation,
net of tax

Other comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year

Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year,
net of tax

Balance at 31 December 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Remeasu-
rement Foreign
gainon currency Non-
Share retirement translation Other Treasury controlling
capital Share Revenue benefit reserves reserves shares interest
(Note26)  premium  reserves obligations (Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 26) (Note 16) Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
27,471 4,721 120,424 250 (735) 19 (2,361) 2,526 152,315
- - (21,066) - - - - (1,422) (22,488)
- - - - (115) - - - (115)
- - - - - 635 - - 635
- - 260 - - (260) - - -
- - - (39) - - - - (39)
- - 260 (39) (115) 375 - - 481
- - (20,806) (39) (115) 375 - (1,422) (22,007)
27,471 4,721 99,618 211 (850) 394 (2,361) 1,104 130,308
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2022
Group
Balance at 1 January 2022

Net loss for the year, net of tax

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation
reserves

Unrealised losses on FAFVOCI

Remeasurement gain on
retirement benefit obligation,
net of tax

Other comprehensive

income/(loss) for the year
Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year,

net of tax

Purchase of treasury shares
(Note 26)

Minority investment

Cash dividends (Note 28)

Balance at 31 December 2022

Remeasu-
rement Foreign
gainon currency Non-
Share retirement  translation Other Treasury controlling
capital Share Revenue benefit reserves reserves shares interest
(Note 26) premium reserves  obligations (Note 27) (Note 27)  (Note 26) (Note 16) Total
US$’000 UsS$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 UsS$’000 UsS$’000
27,471 4,721 152,291 52 2,397 394 (2,112) 2,693 187,907
- - (2859) - - - - (667)  (29,263)
- - - - (3,132) - - - (3,132)
- - - - - (375) - - (375)
- - - 198 - - - 198
- - - 198 (3,132) (375) - - (3,309)
- - (2859) 198 (3,132) (375) - (667) (32,572)
- - - - - - (249) - (249)
- - - - - - 500 500
- - (3,271) - - - - - (3,271)
27,471 4,721 120,424 250 (735) 19 (2,361) 2,526 152,315

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

2023

Company

Balance at 1 January 2022

Net loss for the year

Remeasurement gain on retirement benefit
obligation, representing other
comprehensive income for the year,

net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of tax

Purchase of treasury shares (Note 26)

Cash dividends (Note 28)

Balance at 31 December 2022/ 1 January 2023

Net loss for the year, representing total
comprehensive loss for the year,

net of tax

Balance at 31 December 2023

Remeasu-
rement
gainon
Share retirement Other Treasury
capital Share Revenue benefit reserves shares Total
(Note 26) premium  reserves  obligations (Note27) (Note 26) equity
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 USs$’000
27,471 4,721 68,230 49 561 (2,112) 98,920
- - (11,627) - - - (11,627)
- - - 56 - - 56
- - (11,627) 56 - - (11,571)
- - - - - (249) (249)
- - (3,271) - - - (3,271)
27,471 4,721 53,332 105 561 (2,361) 83,829
- - (21,261) - - - (21,261)
27,471 4,721 32,071 105 561 (2,361) 62,568

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023
MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

: " 2023 2022
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023 Note US$7000 US$'000
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000 Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of:
Operating activities - Property, plant and equipment 12 364 180
Loss before tax (22,515) (30,654) - Assets held for leasing 24 22
. - Quoted equity investments 18 3,938 -
’SdJUSt’T‘etT‘tSfO“ Purchases of:
N F?ch:S(Celriyl,ogl.ant and equipment 12 4,118 3,177 - Property, plant and.equipment 12 (3,113) (13,597)
- Assets held for leasing 14 1,956 1,988 - Assets.held for leasing 14 (1,779) (1,674)
- Right-of-use assets 15 1,023 1,128 -Intangible assets 17 (2515) -
- Investment property 13 112 111 Refund received/(deposits paid) for purchase of
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 12 2,000 - property, plant and equipment 21 289 (2,254)
Write off of: Investment in:
- Receivables 21 90 - - Quoted equity investment - (1,893)
- Golf membership 18 29 - - Investment in unquoted bond - (3,000)
Provision for: Interest received from fixed deposit and investment in
- Write down of inventory 19 3,072 11,748 unquoted bond 7 1,304 618
- Expected credit losses on receivables 20 6,004 3,591 Dividend received from quoted equity investments 5 126 263
klmpair:‘nint on other current assets 21 822 204 Fixed deposits with maturity of more than 90 days 10,970 (7,828)
eversal of:
- Write down of inventory 19 (1,440) - Py : i
- Expected credit losses on receivables % (125) - Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 9,608 (29,163)
Interest expense on loans and lease liabilities 8 742 819
Unrealised currency translation gains (51) (261) . ) .
Net changes in pension benefits obligation 68 (66) Financing activities
Other finance expenses 8 74 132 Interest paid on loans and borrowings 8 (470) (423)
Interest income 7 (1,304) (642) Pledge of fixed deposits (4,547) (56)
Dividend income from quoted equity investments 5 (126) (263) Proceeds from loans and borrowings 25 23,861 15,643
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (345) (165) Repayment of loans and borrowings 25 (15,643) (9,306)
. . . . Cash dividends paid - (3,271)
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital (5,796) (9,153) Purchase of treasury shares 26 _ (249)
(Increase)/decrease in: Mino_rity investment . . 500
- Inventories (2,596) 728 Principal payments of lease .|Ia|:.)I.|I'tIes 15 (1,089) (5,459)
- Trade receivables 157 7,872 Interest payments of lease liabilities 15 (272) (396)
- Other current assets 1,844 4,524
- Guarantee deposits and deposits (non-current) 99 (312) Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 1,840 (3,017)
Decrease in:
- Trade payables and other liabilities (578) (1,691)
- Deferred lease income (4) (5) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,263 (30,915)
ICash (used |n)/ggnerated from operations (6,874) 1,963 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 23 18,122 49,015
ncome taxes paid (237) (590) : -
Other finance cost paid (74) (132) Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (80) 22
Interest received from loans and receivables - 24
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 23 22,305 18,122
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (7,185) 1,265

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.
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Corporate information

Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company,
which is domiciled in the Philippines, incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Catalist
board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

The Company’s registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The Company’s principal place of business is located at 22/F The World
Center Building, #330 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue Bel-air, Makati City, Philippines.

The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and selling of medical supplies and
equipment and woven and knitted medical textile products and nitrile gloves. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Material accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(1)s”). The financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in United States dollars (USS) and all values in the
tables are rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) unless otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates and judgements

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement in applying accounting policies, or areas
where assumptions and estimates have a significant risk of resulting in material adjustment
within the next financial year are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and
payables (other than lease liabilities) approximate their respective fair values due to the
relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations

In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised SFRS(l) and SFRS(I)
Interpretations (“SFRS(I) INT”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current
financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in
accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective SFRS(l) and SFRS(I) INT.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Material accounting policies (cont’d)
Basis of preparation (cont’d)
Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations (cont’d)

The adoption of these new/revised SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) INT did not have any material effect on
the financial results or position of the Group and the Company except as disclosed below:

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1 and SFRS(I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to SFRS(I) 1 and SFRS(1) Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting
policy disclosures. The amendments require entities to disclose their material accounting
policies rather than their significant accounting policies, and provide guidance on how entities
apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The Group has adopted the amendments to SFRS(l) 1 on disclosures of accounting policies.
The amendments have no impact on the measurement, recognition and presentation of any
items in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.

New and revised standards not yet effective

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been issued at the
end of the reporting period but are not yet effective for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are
expected to have assignificant effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

Functional and foreign currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which that entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The financial statements of the Group and the Company are presented in USS,
which is the Company’s functional currency.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold buildings
and improvements are depreciated over the term of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever is
shorter. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements 5-30
Machinery, equipment and others 10-15
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10
Leasehold improvements 3-10
Transportation equipment 5-10

Construction-in-progress represents assets in the course of construction for production, or
administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss until construction or development is completed.

Investment property

Investment property is property that is owned by the Group to earn rentals.

Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment loss. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of 48 years or term of the lease, whichever is shorter.
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Material accounting policies (cont’d)
Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.
Financial instruments
i) Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to the fair value of the financial assets on initial recognition. Trade receivables
without a significant financing component is initially measured at transaction prices.

Classification and measurement

All financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. The classification is
based on the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Subsequent measurement
Debt instruments

Debt instruments include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) and investment in unquoted bond. Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group only has debt instruments at amortised cost.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
(“EIR”) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in interest income using the EIR method.

Equity instruments

The Group has designated all of its equity investments that are not held for trading as at FVOCI
at initial recognition. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of these equity
investments classified as FVOCI are presented as “fair value gains/losses” in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in fair value reserve and will never be reclassified to
profit or loss. On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying amount
and sales proceed amount would be recognised in profit or loss except for equity investment
designated at FVOCI which would be recognised in other comprehensive income. Fair value
reserve relating to the disposed asset would be transferred to retained earnings upon disposal.
Dividends from equity investments are recognised in profit or loss and presented in “other
income”. Equity investments classified as FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Material accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

i) Financial assets (cont’d)
Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for financial assets
carried at amortised cost.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables that do not have a significant financing component, the Group
applies a simplified approach to recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted as appropriate for current conditions and forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLin the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial assets
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

ii) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, and loans and bank borrowings.
Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments. Financial
liabilities are initially recognised at fair value minus directly attributable transaction costs
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and
through the amortisation process.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:

e Raw materials: purchase costs on a weighted average costing method.

e Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials on a weighted average
costing method and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal
operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs.

Where necessary, allowance is provided to adjust the carrying value of inventories to the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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Material accounting policies (cont’d)
Employee benefits
Defined benefits pension plans

The Group operates defined benefits pension plans. The pension benefits in the Philippines
are unfunded and non-contributory covering substantially all the regular employees of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the Philippines. Pension benefit expense determined using the
projected unit credit method. This method reflects service rendered by employees to the date
of valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries. Pension
benefit expense includes current service cost and interest cost. Remeasurement gains and
losses are recognised under other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

The past service cost is recognised as an expense when the plan amendment occurs regardless
of whether they are vested.

The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation reduced by past service cost not yet recognised.

2.9 Leases

85

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities
representing the obligations to make lease payments and ROU assets representing the right
to use the underlying leased assets.

Right-of-use assets (“ROU”)

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
the underlying asset is available for use). The right-of-use assets comprise the initial
measurement of the corresponding lease liabilities, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the useful lives
of the assets which ranges from 2 to 50 years.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the balance sheets.

The Group applies FRS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is
impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Material accounting policies (cont’d)

2.9 Leases (cont’d)

2.10

As lessee (cont’d)
Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liabilities are presented as a separate line in the balance sheets.

The lease liabilities are subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liabilities using the effective interest method, and reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

As lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising from
operating leases on the Group’s investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period
in which they are earned.

Deposits payables

Deposits payables are measured at amortised cost. Deposits payables refer to security
deposits received from various tenants upon inception of the respective lease contracts on
the Group’s investment properties. At the termination of the lease contracts, the security
deposits received by the Group are returned to tenants, reduced by unpaid rental fees,
penalties and/or deductions from repairs of damaged leased properties, if any. The related
lease contracts usually have a term of more than twelve months.

As intermediate lessor

When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-lease
as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is classified as a finance lease by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Assets held for leasing

Assets held for leasing are carried at cost and consist mainly of medical clothes and quilts.
These are amortised on a straight-line basis over five years.

Assets held for leasing are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the
assets are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from
the assets’ disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of assets held for leasing
are recognised in the profit and loss accounts in the year of retirement or disposal.
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Material accounting policies (cont’d)
Revenue recognition
Manufacturing, distribution and others

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied. The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated
transaction price, which comprises the contractual price, net of the estimated volume
discounts and adjusted for expected returns. Based on the Group’s experience with similar
types of contracts, variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting date, the Group updates its measurement of any asset for the
right to recover returned goods for changes in its expectations about returned goods.

Hospital laundry services
Revenue is recognised as earned when the service is rendered.

The obligation to provide the hospital services are obligation satisfied over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The
Group measures the satisfaction of the performance obligation based on the value transferred
to the customer. The Group will apply the right to invoice practical expedient that allows the
Group to recognise revenue as invoiced which is the amount that corresponds directly with
the value to the customer of the entity’s performance to date.

Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees
are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Share capital, share premium and share issue expenses

Share capital is stated at par value of the share. Proceeds received in excess of par value, if any,
is recognized as share premium in equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against
share capital.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

2

213

2.14

2.15

2.16

Material accounting policies (cont’d)
Treasury shares

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in the share premium.

Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised on a world-wide basis into three major geographical
segments. The divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between geographical segments
and between business segments. Such transfers are accounted for on an arm’s-length basis.

Dividends

Cash dividends will be recorded as a liability when the distribution is authorised, and the
distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. The distribution is authorised when
it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, deposits that are readily convertible (maturity of less than
90 days) to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and excludes pledged deposits.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2,
management has made the following judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving estimations, which
are dealt in the preceding paragraphs):

Functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the
Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group,
judgement is required by management to determine the primary economic environment in which
the entities operate, the entities’ process of determining sales prices and the currency of the
country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly influences the prices of its goods and
services. Management has assessed that prices are mainly denominated and settled in the
respective local currency of the entities of the Group. In addition, most of the entities’ cost base is
mainly denominated in their respective local currency. Therefore, management concluded that the
functional currency of the entities of the Group is their respective local currency.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.

88



Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

89

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

i) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, goodwill, property, plant and equipment,
investment property and assets held for leasing

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. For investments
in subsidiaries, property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing, the
Group and Company assess, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that the asset
may beimpaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required,
the Group and Company estimate the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less cost of disposal and its value in
use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets.
When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2023, there is no impairment indicator that the investment property
and assets held for leasing held by the Group may be impaired.

In determining value in use of the asset, the Group and the Company estimate the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating unit incorporating the annual revenue growth
rate, forecasted gross margins and terminal growth rate and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. In determining fair
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations
are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.

During the financial year, an impairment of $111,000 (2022: $1,000) and $2,000,000 (2022:
Nil) was made against investments in subsidiaries and property, plant and equipment
respectively. No impairment was recognised for goodwill. Further details of the
impairment of investments in subsidiaries, goodwill and property, plant and equipment
are disclosed in Note 16, and Note 17 to Note 12.

ii) Allowance of expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables

Management performs specific assessment on significant long outstanding trade
receivables and provision matrix for other trade receivables by considering both
quantitative and qualitive information that is reasonable and supportable, including
credit profile and characteristics of trade receivables.

The Group considers the debtors’ payment history, current and future conditions of the
debtors’ operations and expected settlement plans for the outstanding balances to
calculate ECLs for specific assessment trade receivables.

The loss rate is calculated based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience and consideration
of data and information used by management in determining the forward-looking
adjustments based on current economic condition. At every reporting date, historical
credit loss rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions (consumer price index and inflation rates) and ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 20.

During the financial year, the Group and the Company recognised provision for ECL amounting
to $6,004,000 (2022: $3,591,000) and $6,000,000 (2022: $2,738,000) respectively.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

iii) Inventory valuation

iv

(v

vi

-

The Group establishes a basis of allocation of direct labour and factory overheads to the
finished goods and work-in-progress. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the basis of allocation for each stage of production of inventories upon taking
into consideration of the cost directly related to the production during the period.

The Group recognises provision for write down of inventory when the net realisable values
of inventory items become lower than cost due to obsolescence or other causes.
Management reviews the inventory ageing report on monthly basis to identify slow-
moving inventories. For identified slow-moving inventories, Management estimates the
amount of allowance based on latest replacement costs of raw materials and subsequent
selling prices of inventories.

During the financial year, the Group recognised allowance for inventory of $3,072,000 (2022:
$11,748,000). The information about the allowance for inventory is disclosed in Note 19.

Income taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the
amount and timing of future taxable income.

The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates.
The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of previous
tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the
relevant tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of
issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective company’s domicile.

The carrying amount of the Group’s income tax payable as at 31 December 2023 was
$2,332,000 (2022: $2,415,000).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and assets held for leasing

The Group estimates the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and assets held
for leasing based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.
The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and
equipment and assets held for leasing based on factors that include asset utilisation,
internal technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated use
of the assets tempered by related industry benchmark information. It is possible that
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates
brought about by changes in the factors mentioned.

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and assets held for
leasing as at 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Notes 12 and 14.

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate of the leases

The Group uses the incremental borrowing rate to measure the lease liabilities because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. The incremental borrowing rate is
the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing rate therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the incremental
borrowing rate using observable inputs such as market interest rates, when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates, such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating. Any change in estimation of incremental borrowing rate may have a significant impact to
the determination of lease liabilities and right-of-use asset. The carrying amount of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets are disclosed in Notes 15.
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Revenue
Disaggregation of revenue
Hospital Distribution and
Group Manufacturing Services Others Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 USS’000 USS$’000 USS’000 US$’000 USS’000 US$’000 USS’000

Primary geographical markets

North America 8,411 9,610 - - - - 8,411 9,610
Asia Pacific 5,731 11,513 14,544 14,312 3,537 6,251 23,812 32,076
Europe 20,416 14,343 - - - - 20,416 14,343
Australia - 214 - - - - - 214

34,558 35,680 14,544 14,312 3,537 6,251 52,639 56,243

Timing of transfer of goods or

services
At a point in time 34,558 35,680 - - 2924 5,638 37,482 41,318
Over time - — 14,544 14,312 613 613 15,157 14,925

34,558 35,680 14,544 14,312 3,537 6,251 52,639 56,243

Revenue is derived from external customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue and are attributable to the segments as detailed below:

2023 2022
US$’000 USS’000

Attributable segment
Customer A Manufacturing 15,075 11,705

Customer B Distribution and Others 3,940 5,767

19,015 17,472

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Other income - net

Group
2023 2022

US$’000 UsS$’000

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (35) 830
Rent income 369 213
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 345 165
Scrap sales 304 630
Gain from insurance claims - 78
Other income from reversal of long-outstanding liabilities 207 42
Reversal of expected credit loss on receivables 125 -
Dividend income from quoted equity investments 126 -
Others 546 503
1,987 2,461

Others include facilitation grant, administration fee and various miscellaneous and operating
income generated.

Dividend income from quoted equity investments of $126,000 related to the quoted equity
investment designated at FAFVOCI disposed during the year.

Employee benefits

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 UsS$’000
Personnel expenses
Wages, salaries and bonus 25,312 25,437
Defined benefit plans and other employee benefits 1,679 1,368
26,991 26,805

Personnel expenses include amounts disclosed as directors’ remuneration in Note 29(b).

The other employee benefits include the expenses related to the defined contribution plan of
MTC. The Labor Pension Act (the "Act") in Taiwan, which provides for a new defined
contribution plan, took effect on 1 July 2005. Employees already covered by the Labor
Standard Law (the “Law”) can choose to remain to be subject to the pension mechanism under
the Law or to be subject to the Act. Under the Act, the rate of the employer monthly
contribution to the pension fund should be at least 6% of the employee’s monthly wages.
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Employee benefits (cont’d)
Pension plan

This relates to the amount of pension benefit expense provided for the subsidiaries and the
branch in the Group operating in the Philippines covering substantially all its full time
employees. Retirement benefits under the plan are based on a percentage of latest monthly
salary and years of credited service. The directors review the pension benefits expense with
sufficient regularity such that the amount recorded does not differ materially from the amount
to be recorded in compliance with SFRS(I) 1-19 at the end of the year.

Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act 7641 of the Philippines, Retirement Pay
Law, a provision for retirement pay is required to qualified private sector employees in the
absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided however, that the employee’s
retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other agreements shall not be less
than those provided under the law. The law does not require minimum funding of the plan.

The latest independent actuarial valuation of the plan was as of 31 December 2023 prepared
by an independent actuary, and is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial cost
method in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-19.

The components of the pension benefit expense recognised in the profit and loss accounts are
as follows:

Group
2023 2022
Us$’000 Us$’000
Current service cost 60 74
Interest cost 58 49
Net benefit expense 118 123

The amount recognised in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s unfunded obligation in
respect of its defined benefit plan in 2023 were $918,000 (2022: $811,000). The management
of the Group is still contemplating on a scheme to fund the pension plan.

Changes in the present value of the unfunded defined benefit obligations are as follows:

Unfunded pension plan

Group
2023 2022

Us$’000 Us$’000
As at 1 January 811 1,075
Current service cost 60 74
Interest cost 58 49
Benefits paid (50) (35)
Translation adjustment - (154)
Net remeasurement gain/(loss) 39 (198)
As at 31 December 918 811

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Employee benefits (cont’d)
Pension plan (cont’d)

The principal actuarial assumptions as at 31 December used to determine pension benefits are as follows:

Group
2023 2022
% %
Discount rate 6.03 - 6.06 7.02-7.10
Salary increase rate 5.0 5.0

The history of experience adjustments are as follows:

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
US$’000 USS’000 USS$’000 USS$’000  USS'000

Group
Unfunded defined benefit obligation 918 811 1,075 1,221 927
Change in assumption

adjustments on plan liabilities 100 (233) (221) 267 133
Experience adjustments on plan

liabilities (66) (30) 27 (119) 110

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at 31 December 2023 is as shown below:

Impact on defined
benefit obligation

Sensitivity Level (Decrease)/increase
Assumptions (%) US$’000
Discount rates +0.5 (52)
-0.5 55
Future salary increases +2 218
2 (268)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the
impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period. The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in
a key assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analyses may not be
representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that
changes in assumptions would occur in isolation from one another.

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan obligation in
future years as at 31 December 2023:

Group

US$’000

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 19
More than 1 year to 5 years 158
More than 5 years to 10 years 652
More than 10 years to 15 years 1,875
More than 15 years to 20 years 1,223
More than 20 years 4,367
8,294

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period
is 18.75 years (2022: 18.50 years).
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Financial income

Group
2023 2022
Us$’000 Uss$’000
Interest income from:
- Fixed deposits 1,139 453
- Investment in unquoted bond 165 165
- Loan and receivables - 24
Dividend income from quoted equity investments - 263
1,304 905
Financial expenses
Group
2023 2022
Us$’000 Uss$’000
Interest expenses from:
- Loans from third parties (Note 25) 470 423
- Lease liabilities (Note 15) 272 396
Other financial expenses 74 132
816 951

Other finance expenses include bank charges for loans, transfers of funds, payments and

collections, and other related costs.

Loss before tax

2023

US$’000
Costs of goods sold 16,548
Provision for:
- Write down of inventory (Note 19) 3,072
- Expected credit losses on receivables (Note 20) 6,004
- Impairment on other current assets (Note 21) 822
Reversal of:
- Write down of inventory (Note 19) (1,440)
- Expected credit losses on receivables (Note 20) (125)
Depreciation:
- Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 4,118
- Assets held for leasing (Note 14) 1,956
- Right-of-use assets (Note 15) 1,023
- Investment property (Note 13) 112
Operating lease expenses (Note 15) 368
Write off of:
- Receivables (Note 21) 90
- Golf membership (Note 18) 29
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 2,000
Auditor remuneration:
Audit services
- auditor of the Company 180
- other auditors 184
Non-audit services
- auditor of the Company -
- other auditor of the Company 8

Group
2022
Uss$’000

20,568

11,748
3,591
204

3,177
1,988
1,128
111
414

235
204

38
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a) Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December are:

Current tax expense

Deferred tax expense:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Income tax credit

b) Relationship between tax credit and accounting loss

Group
2023 2022
Us$’000 uss$’000
154 499
(181) (1,890)
(27) (1,391)

The reconciliation between the tax credit and the product of accounting (loss)/profit
multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rates for the years ended 31 December 2023

are as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax on relevant profits/(losses) at the Parent
Company’s statutory rate

Adjustments:

Effect of higher tax rates in Cambodia
Effect of higher tax rates in Philippines
Effect of higher tax rates in Taiwan
Effect of higher tax rates in China
Non-deductible expenses

Movement of unrecognised deferred tax assets
Translation adjustment

Unutilised tax losses

Other income subjected to final tax
Others

Income tax credit recognised in profit and loss

Group

2023 2022
Us$’000 Us$’000
(22,515) (30,654)
(96) (1,918)
(1,243) (299)
107 218
4 5
51 (48)
1,011 346
222 276
- 23
(64) (5)
(19) 11
(27) (1,391)
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Tax expense (cont’d)

c)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income

taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

The movements in the deferred tax account are as follows:

Balance at beginning of
the year

Currency translation
differences

Tax credit/(charge) to

- Profit or loss

- Other comprehensive
income

Balance at end of the
year

Representing:
Non-current

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liabilities

Company

2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
1,764 (114) (13) 12
(9) 44 - -
181 1,890 2 (25)
6 (56) - -
1,942 1,764 (11) (13)
2,254 2,155 - -
(312) (391) (11) (13)
1,942 1,764 (11) (13)
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Tax expense (cont’d)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and (assets) recognised by the Group and
the movements thereon, during the current and prior reporting periods.

Translation Right-of- Lease Unutilized Pension
adjustments use assets liabilities tax losses liabilities Total
USs$’000 USs$’000 USs$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
Cost
At 1January 2022 (230) (2,109)
Charged to

profit or loss (409) 1,557 (1,473) 2,105 110 1,890
Charged to other

comprehensive

income - - - - (56) (56)
Exchange differences - - - - 44 44

2,120 - 105 (114)

At 31 December 2022

(Note 35) (639) (552) 647 2,105 203 1,764
Charged to

profit or loss (187) 114 (100) 330 24 181
Charged to other

comprehensive

income - - - - 6 6
Exchange differences - - - - 9) 9)

At 31 December 2023 (826) (438) 547 2,435 224 1,942

Translation
adjustments Total
USs$’000 US$’000
Company
Cost
At 1 January 2022 12 12
Charged to profit or loss (25) (25)

At 31 December 2022 (13) (13)
Charged to profit or loss 2 2

At 31 December 2023 (11) (11)

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unutilised tax losses of $15,844,000 (2022:
$12,397,000) that are available for carry forward to offset against future taxable income
subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the
tax legislation of the respective countries in which the companies operate. Deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of $11,396,000 (2022: $10,519,000) of such losses. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining $3,908,000 (2022: $1,878,000)
losses as it is not probable that future taxable profits will be sufficient to allow the related tax
benefits to be realised. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of $15,844,000 (2022:
$12,397,000) that will expire in 2024 - 2028 (2022: 2023 - 2027). Other losses do not expire
under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax asset of $500,000 has also not been recognised in respect of deductible

temporary differences arising from impairments because it is not probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the related tax benefits can be utilised therefrom.
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10 Tax expense (cont’d) 12 Property, plant and equipment
d) Other matters Machinery Furniture,
equipment fixtures
The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda and as such, the income i:‘:'r':"l';f“"e':’ts o:’:‘:rs and _ Leasehold Transportation  Construction Total
. h A K impr prog;
and capital gains of the Company are not subjected to tax in Bermuda. US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000 US§'000 US$'000
Certain subsidiaries and the branch of the Company operating in the Philippines are Group
registered as economic zone enterprises enjoying incentives such as a 5% special tax rate Cost
on gross margin earned after the tax holiday in lieu of all Philippine national and local At 1January 2022 25.239 40,480 3013 4690 1598 10.233 85,253
taxes, and tax and duty-free importation of raw materials, capital equipment, household Additions ‘132 6,549 187 o1 132 10814 18105
and personal items for use solely within the economic zone area. In 2010, the economic Disposals (51) (3.819) (44) _ (29) - (3,943)
zone was converted into a freeport zone by virtue of the Republic Act (RA) No. 9728. Reclassification 12483 5,205 30 134 57 (17,999) _
Under the new law, existing enterprises within the ecozone are eligible to register as Exchange differences (977) (511) (661) (44) (32) _ (2,227)
freeport enterprises with option to avail of existing incentives under RA No. 7916. The Prior year adjustment _
subsidiaries and the branch registered with the freeport zone and availed of the existing (Note 35) - (2,254) - - - (2,254)
incentives.
At 31 December 2022
In Cambodia, the tax on profit (“ToP”) is the higher of 20% of taxable income or a (Note 35) 36,826 45,740 2,525 4,871 1,924 3,048 94,934
minimum tax of 1% of total revenue. Additions 1,603 755 33 188 411 123 3113
Disposals - (2,366) (44) - (81) = (2,491)
There are no income tax consequences attaching to payment of dividends by the Reclassification 3,102 ) (13) ) 2 (3,080) -
Company to its shareholders. Exchange differences (10) (3) 24 3 2 - 16
At 31 December 2023 41,521 44,117 2,525 5,060 2,258 91 95,572
11 Loss per share Accumulated
depreciation and
The following tables reflect the profit and loss accounts and share data used in the impairment loss
computation of basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023: At 1January 2022 14,004 32,049 2,068 4193 829 - 53,143
Depreciation charge for
the year 836 1,593 401 148 199 - 3,177
Group Disposals (51) (3,819) (44) - (14) - (3,928)
USZg'Zos('JO USZS'ZO%O Reclassifications 299 (299) - - - - -
. ) . Exchange differences 338, (300) (365) (25) (22) - 1,050
Net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the (338) (1,050)
Company used in the computation of basic and diluted EPS (21,066) (28,596) At 31 December 2022 14,750 29,224 2,060 4,316 992 _ 51,342
Depreciation charge for
. . the year 1,215 2,317 182 182 222 - 4,118
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to Disposals - (2,352) (39) - (81) - (2,472)
compute earnings per share ('000) 544,911 545,286 Reclassifications (159) 9 (11) 158 3 - -
Impairment loss - 2,000 - - - - 2,000
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) (3.866) (5.244) Exchange differences (22) 1 24 8 7 - 18
At 31 December 2023 15,784 31,199 2,216 4,664 1,143 - 55,006
Earnings per share (“EPS”) computation
The basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity Net carrying amount
: . R At 31 December 2022 22,076 16,516 465 555 932 3,048 43,592
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding
treasury shares) outstanding during the year. At 31 December 2023 25,737 12,018 309 306 1,115 91 40,566
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Impairment assessment

During the financial year, in light of recurring losses of a subsidiary, management has determined
that there is an indicator that property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) may be impaired. The
recoverable amount of the PPE of $1,534,000 was determined based on fair value less cost of
disposal. The fair value was determined based on current market price of similar equipment and
a 17% discount adjustment was made for the age and condition of the equipment and cost of
disposal. The fair value measurement is categorised in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As a
result of the review, an impairment loss of $2,000,000 was recognised under “general and
administrative expense” line item for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

A decrease of 5% in current market price would result in additional impairment loss of $76,000.

For PPE of other loss-making subsidiaries, the recoverable amounts of those PPE are
determined based on the value in use calculations using cash flow. The following assumptions
were based on management’s reasonable estimates of the Group’s operations:

2023 2022

% %
Revenue growth rates 4.0-44.0 3.0-80
Terminal growth rates 5.0-6.0 1.0-3.0
Pre-tax discount rates 13.3-16.7 9.6-18.2

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation
The following describes management’s key assumptions on the cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of PPE:

Budgeted gross margins

Gross margins are based on a mix of historical margins and expected rates improvements
based on management's growth strategies. These are increased over the budget period for
anticipated efficiency improvements.

Revenue growth rates
The forecasted revenue growth rates are based on management’s estimate of the long-term
average growth relevant to the assets.

Terminal growth rates
The forecasted terminal growth rates are based on published industry research and do not
exceed the long term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the assets.

Pre-tax discount rates

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to these assets. This is the benchmark
used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment proposals.
In determining appropriate discount rates for these assets, reference has been given to the specific
circumstances of the assets and derived from their weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The
WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return
on investment by the Group's investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings
the Group is obliged to service. Risk specific to these assets is incorporated by applying individual beta
factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation (cont’d)

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

If the revenue growth rates and terminal growth rates have been decreased to the following

rates or pre-tax discount rates have been increased to the following rates, the estimated
recoverable amount would be almost equal to the carrying amount.

2023 2022
% %
Revenue growth rates 1.0-42.0 0-7.0
Terminal growth rates 0-5.0 0-0.7
Pre-tax discount rates 17.1-19.7 10.4-19.0
Machinery,
furniture,
Building fixtures
and and Leasehold Transportation Construction
improvements equipment improvements equipment in-progress  Total
USs$’000 US$’000 USs$’000 USs$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Company
Cost
At 1 January 2022 2,458 3,538 10 50 100 6,156
Additions - 28 14 25 34 101
Reclassification - - 134 - (134) -
At 31 December 2022 2,458 3,566 158 75 - 6,257
Disposals - (17) - - - (17)
Reclassification - 2 (2) - - -
At 31 December 2023 2,458 3,551 156 75 - 6,240
Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 January 2022 2,454 3,459 9 50 - 5,972
Depreciation charge
for the year 4 40 43 4 - 91
At 31 December 2022 2,458 3,499 52 54 - 6,063
Depreciation charge
for the year - 19 49 5 - 73
Disposals - (17) - - - (17)
At 31 December 2023 2,458 3,501 101 59 - 6,119
Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 - 67 106 21 - 194
At 31 December 2023 - 50 55 16 - 121
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Assets pledged as security

As of 31 December 2023, there were property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
$4,951,000 (2022: $4,959,000) that were mortgaged to secure various loans as disclosed in Note 25.

Investment property

Group
2023 2022

Us$’000 Us$’000
Cost
As at 1 January and 31 December 5,465 5,465
Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2,848 2,737
Depreciation charge for the year 112 111
As at 31 December 2,960 2,848
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2,505 2,617
The following amounts are recognised in profit or loss:
Rental income (Note 15) 613 613
Depreciation charge (Note 9) (112) (111)
Repairs and maintenance (9) 9)
Taxes and licenses (12) (11)
Insurance (3) (3)

477 479

The Group’s investment property includes building and building improvements located in No. 7
corners of Argonaut Highway, Efficiency Avenue and Duty street, within Subic Bay Gateway Park, Subic
Bay Freeport Zone, Olongapo City, Zambales, Philippines that are held to earn rentals. The Group has
no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance or enhancements.

Valuation of investment property

A fair valuation of the investment properties was performed by an independent appraiser with
recognised and relevant professional qualification. Details of valuation techniques and inputs used
are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Aggregate fair value of the investment property was determined using the income approach. Income
approach is a method in which the appraiser derives an indication of value for income producing
property by converting anticipated future benefits into current property value. During the current
financial year, the discount rate of 11.1% (2022: 12.3%) used under the income approach for valuing
anticipated future benefits into current property value is computed under the “Built-Up” method. As
of 31 December 2023, fair market value of the investment property, which is based on its highest and
best use, amounted to $3,757,000 (2022: $3,774,000). The fair value is categorised under Level 3
(valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable) fair value hierarchy.
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Assets held for leasing

Group
2023 2022

Us$’000 Uss$’000
Cost
As at 1 January 10,533 9,652
Additions 1,779 1,674
Disposals (957) (793)
As at 31 December 11,355 10,533
Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 6,417 5,200
Depreciation charge for the year 1,956 1,988
Disposals (933) (771)
As at 31 December 7,440 6,417
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 3,915 4,116

Leases
Group as lessor

The Group leases its medical clothes and quilts under its hospital services (Note 14). The lease term
for each hospital service contract is between one to five years renewable by agreement of the parties.
The rate per hospital is based on their consumption and the future minimum lease is not practically
determinable.

The Group entered into operating lease agreement in respect of a building and its improvements
(Note 13). Operating lease income recognised as revenue amounted to $613,000 (2022: $613,000)
as disclosed in Note 4 under “Distribution and Others”. Security deposit to be refunded and/or to be
applied to unpaid rent of the lessee upon termination of the lease as at 31 December 2023 amounted
to $68,000 (2022: $64,000). The excess of the principal amount of the security deposit over its fair
value, at the inception date of the operating lease, is presented as ‘Deferred lease income’. Current
and non-current portion of the deferred lease income as at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 Uss$’000
Deferred lease income - current 5 5
Deferred lease income - non-current 18 23
23 28

The Group also entered into short-term lease arrangement in respect of its building and recognised
operating lease income as other income amounted to $369,000 (2022: $213,000).
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Group as lessor (cont’d)

Future minimum rental receivable under the operating lease at the end of the reporting period are

as follows:
Group
2023 2022

Us$’000 Us$’000
Within 1 year 640 627
1-2years 653 640
2 -3 years 666 653
3 -4 years 679 666
4 -5 years 517 679
More than 5 years - 517
3,155 3,782

Group and Company as lessee

The Group and the Company have entered into lease agreements in respect of land and building,
with lease terms ranging from 2 to 50 years. The lease terms do not contain restrictions on the
Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional debts or further leasing.

The Group also has certain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less and with low value. The
Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these
leases.

In 2022, the Company entered into a land lease agreement with Manhattan International Corp.
(“MIC”) for 50 years. MIC is a company controlled by a director of the Company (Note 29).

a) Right-of-use assets

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
(Note 35)
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000

Land 8,122 8,325 48 50
Building and office 967 1,556 97 211
Equipment 20 22 - -
As at 31 December 9,109 9,903 145 261
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Group and Company as lessee (cont’d)

a) Right-of-use assets (cont’d)

b)

As at 1 January
Additions
Depreciation
Write-off
Foreign currency
exchange
adjustment

As at 31 December

Lease liabilities

As at 1 January

Additions

Interest expenses
(Note 8)

Payment of lease
liabilities

- principal

- interest

Foreign currency
exchange
adjustment

Written off

Current
Non-current

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
(Note 35)
Us$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000
9,903 8,386 261 380
258 2,680 - -
(1,023) (1,128) (116) (119)
(16) - - -
(13) (35) - -
9,109 9,903 145 261
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
USS$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000

3,910 6,779 316 476
258 2,680 - -
272 396 30 36
(1,089) (5,459) (104) (119)
(272) (396) (30) (36)
(19) (90) (5) (41)
(16) - - -
3,044 3,910 207 316
801 575 21 129
2,243 3,335 186 187
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15 Leases (cont’d)
Group and Company as lessee (cont’d)

c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

107

Group

2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Depreciation of right- of-use assets (Note 9) 1,023 1,128
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 8) 272 396

Operating lease expenses related to short term and

low value leases (Note 9) 368 414
1,663 1,938

During the financial year, the Group has total cash outflows for leases (including short-term and
leases of low value assets) of $1,729,000 (2022: $6,269,000).

Company as lessor
Sublease - classified as an intermediate lessor

On 1 May 2022, the Company entered into a finance sublease agreement with its subsidiary, Resilient
Medical Pte. Ltd. (sublessee), for a period of 9 years until 30 June 2031. The sublease agreement
contains an option to extend the term for an additional period of 10 years with a maximum term of
50 years in line with the original lease agreement of MICL with MIC. Management assess that the
option shall be exercised for a period of 50 years.

Being an intermediate lessor, the management classified the sublease agreement as a finance lease
considering the substantial period of the lease term by reference to right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease, rather than by reference to the land.

The Company derecognised the ROU asset on the head lease at the sublease commencement date
amounted to $4,500,000.

Further, the Company, as the sublessor, recognised a net investment in the sublease amounting to
$4,500,000.

a) Netinvestment in sub-lease

Company
2023 2022

(Note 35)

Us$’000 Uss$’000

Present value of minimum lease payments 4,544 -
Additions - 4,500
Interest income 527 344
Payment received (450) (300)
As at 31 December 4,621 4,544
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15 Leases (cont’d)
Company as lessor (cont’d)
Sublease - classified as an intermediate lessor (cont’d)

a) Netinvestment in sub-lease (cont’d)

Lease contract receivables are due in yearly instalments broken down as follows:

Lease contract receivables:
Within 1 year

1-2years

2 -3 years

3 -4 vyears

4 -5 years

More than 5 years

Unearned lease income

Net investment in lease contract receivables

b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Interest income from lease contract receivables,
represented total amount recognised in profit or loss

16 Investment in subsidiaries

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Less: Impairment loss

Company
2023 2022
(Note 35)
Us$’000 Uss$’000
450 450
450 450
450 450
310 450
479 310
41,440 41,919
43,579 44,029
(38,958) (39,485)
4,621 4,544
Company
2023 2022
(Note 35)
Us$’000 Us$’000
527 344
Company
2023 2022
Us$’000 Us$’000
28,369 28,369
(128) (17)
28,241 28,352
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Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d) 16 Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a) The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December: (a) The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December (cont’d):

Country of Country of
incorporation  Percentage of Cost of incorporation  Percentage of Cost of
and place of equity held by the investment by and place of equity held by the investment by
Name Principal activities business Company the Company Name Principal activities business Company the Company
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
% %  US$’000 USS$'000 % %  US$’000 USS$'000
Held by the Company Held through
Universal Weavers Manufacturing and trading Philippines 100.0 100.0 5,863 5,863 subsidiaries
Corporation (UWC) ' of woven and knitted fabrics Hangzhou Jincheng Manufacturing and trading People’s 100.0 100.0 - -
Contex Corporation  Trading of hospital textiles Philippines 98.8 98.8 1,854 1,854 Medical Supplies of woven and non-woven Republic of
(cq)@ and garments, pillow cases, Manufacture Co., Ltd. medical consumables China
bed sheets, gowns and (Jinchen) ©
apparel, and subleasing
activities Zibo Lianheng Textiles Manufacturing and trading of ~ People’s 51.1 51.1 - -
Medtecs (Taiwan) Manufacturing, leasing, Republic of 100.0 100.0 7,569 7,569 Co., Ltd. (Lianheng) ' woven fabrics Repu?l|c of
Corporation (MTC) ®)  marketing and distribution of China China
medical consumables and Zibo Liancheng Textiles Manufacturing and trading People’s 100.0 100.0 - -
provision of hospital laundry & Garments Co. Ltd. ' of woven fabrics Republic of
services China
Medtex Corporation ) Manufacturing and sale of Philippines 100.0 100.0 474 474 Resilient Medical Pte. Manufacturing and supplying ~ Singapore 66.7 66.7 — —
elastic bandages, garters and Ltd. (RMPL) @ of PPE and healthcare
other garment products products
Medtecs'(Can')b?dia) Manufacturing of med‘!cfal Cambodia 100.0 100.0 2,038 2,038 RMKH Glove Pte. Ltd. Manufacturing and supplying  Singapore 66.7 66.7 _ _
Corporation Limited  consumables and provision «
(mMccL)© of procurement services (RMKH Glove) of PPE and healthcare
products
Medtecs (Asia Pacific) Sale of woven and knitted Singapore 100.0 100.0 1,241 1,241
Pte. Ltd. (MAP) @ fabrics and other made-up RMKH Glove Manufacturing and sale of Cambodia 66.7 66.7 - -
articles of textile products (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.  gloves

RMKH Cambodia)
Medtecs Materials Manufacturing, leasing and Philippines 100.0 100.0 1,910® 2,021 ( ambodia)

Technology trading of woven and knitted Hangzhou Jincheng Sale of hygiene products, People’s 100.0 100.0 - -
Corporation (MMTC) @fabrics, other made-up Medical Technology = medical equipment and Republic of

articles of textile, medical Co., Ltd. (Jinchen disposable medical supplies China

and healthcare related Technology)

products, and provision of

hospital laundry services 28,241 28,352
Medtecs MSEZ Corp., Manufacturing of wovenand  Cambodia 100.0 100.0 3,370 3,370
Ltd. (MMSEZ) © non-woven fabric
Medtecs USA Manufacturing and supplying United States 100.0  100.0 100 100
Corporation of PPE and healthcare of America

products (USA)

Medtecs (Far East) Sale of woven and knitted Hong Kong 100.0 100.0 - -
Limited fabrics and other made-up Special
articles of textile products ~ Administrative

Cooper Development Investment holding Malaysia 100.0 100.0 3,822 3,822
Limited @
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Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)
(a) The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December (cont’d):

@ Audited by Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. (“SGV”) (Member of Ernst & Young Global)

®)  Audited by Ernst & Young, Taiwan

©  Audited by SGV for consolidation purpose

@ Audited by Baker Tilly TFW LLP, Singapore

©  Audited by other accounting firms

" No statutory audit is required in the country of incorporation

® |n 2023, the Company recognised provision for impairment on investment in MMTC of $111,000
in the administrative expenses.

(b) Interests in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests:
Proportion of ownership Accumulated material
interest held by material non-controlling interest
non-controlling interests at end of reporting period
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % USS$’000 Uss$’000
Lianheng 48.9 48.9 367 367
RMPL and
subsidiaries 33.3 33.3 789 2,214
(c) Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The following summarised financial information for the subsidiaries with non-controlling
interests are prepared in accordance with SFRS(I)s, modified for fair value adjustments on
acquisition and differences in the Group’s accounting policies.

Summarised statements of financial position

Lianheng RMPL and subsidiaries
2023 2022 2023 2022

USS$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000
Non-current assets - - 24,170 22,218
Current assets 750 750 5,611 3,335
Non-current liabilities - - (4,301) (4,211)
Current liabilities - - (22,763) (14,692)
Net assets 750 750 2,717 6,650

Net assets

attributable to NCI 367 367 906 2,214

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)
(c) Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (cont’d)

Summarised statements of comprehensive income

Lianheng RMPL and subsidiaries
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Uss$’000
Revenue - - 999 -

Loss for the year,

representing total

comprehensive loss

(net of tax) - - (4,225) (2,016)
Total comprehensive

loss allocated to

NCI - - (1,427) (671)

Summarised statements of cash flows

Lianheng RMPL and subsidiaries
2023 2022 2023 2022
Uss$’000 Uss$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Cash flows from
operating - - 1,661 (834)
Cash flows from
investing - - (1,864) (8,458)
Cash flows from
financing - - (450) 50
Net decrease
in cash and cash
equivalents - - (653) (9,242)

(d

Impairment assessment

During the financial year, management has performed an impairment test for the investment in
MMTC (manufacturing segment) as the net asset of MMTC was lower than the cost of investment.
An impairment loss of $111,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 to write
down this subsidiary to its recoverable amounts of $1,910,000. The recoverable amount was
determined based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections from financial budget
approved by management covering a five-year period. The forecast has been updated to reflect
the most recent developments as at the reporting date.

The following assumptions were based on management’s reasonable estimates:

2023 2022
% %
Revenue growth rates 8.0 3.0
Terminal growth rates 3.5 30
Pre-tax discount rates 13.4 14.3

A decrease in forecasted terminal growth rates by 0.5% would result in an additional impairment
of $77,000.
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Intangible assets

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 Us$’000
Computer software 2,654 139
Goodwill 709 709
3,363 848
Goodwill
Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
As at 1 January and 31 December 709 709

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the CGU, for impairment testing as follows:

2023 2022
Us$’000 Us$’000
Manufacturing 198 198
Hospital services 511 511
709 709

Impairment assessment

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on the value in use calculations using cash flow
projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. For the purpose of
estimating the recoverable amounts of the CGUs, management had used the following key assumptions for the cash
flow projections given its existing business model and expansion of its distribution channel in China and Taiwan:

Revenue growth Terminal growth Pre-tax discount

rates rates rates

% % %
2023
Manufacturing 8.0 1.0 11.8
Hospital services 8.0 1.0 11.8
2022
Manufacturing 7.0-10.0 1.0 9.6
Hospital services 7.0-10.0 1.0 9.6

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation

The following describes management’s key assumptions on the cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins

Gross margins are based on a mix of historical margins and expected rates improvements based on management's
growth strategies. These are increased over the budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Intangible assets (cont’d)

Impairment assessment (cont’d)
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation (cont’d)

Revenue growth rates

The forecasted revenue growth rates are based on management’s estimate of the long-term average
growth relevant to the cash-generating unit.

Terminal growth rates

The forecasted terminal growth rates are based on published industry research and do not exceed
the long term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the cash-generating unit.

Market share assumptions

Market share assumptions are important because management assesses how the cash-generating
unit’s position relative to its competitors might change over the budget period.

Pre-tax discount rates

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to each cash-generating unit. This is the
benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment
proposals. In determining appropriate discount rates for each cash-generating unit, reference has been given
to the specific circumstances of the cash-generating units and derived from their weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the
expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing
borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Risk specific to the cash-generating unit is incorporated by applying
individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Manufacturing

If the revenue growth rates and terminal growth rates have been decreased by 1%, the estimated
recoverable amount would be almost equal to the carrying amount.

Hospital services

If the terminal growth rate has been decreased by 1% would result in the estimated recoverable amount
lower than the carrying amount by $461,000.

Other non-current assets

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Quoted equity investments - 3,303 - -
Investment in unquoted

bond 3,000 3,000 - -

Deposits 1,019 1,121 79 92

Guarantee deposit 560 557 - -

Others 416 448 - 20

4,995 8,429 79 112

114



Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

18

19

115

Other non-current assets (cont’d)

Quoted equity investments
The Group has considered the nature, characteristics and risks of investment as well as the level of
the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised.

The Group measured its quoted equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
under Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy and its valuation techniques is based on quoted market prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed quoted equity investments for a
consideration of $3,938,000. The cumulative gain recognised in other comprehensive income of $260,000
was reclassified to retained earnings.

Investment in unquoted bond

In prior financial year, the Group has invested in unquoted government bonds from Cambodian
government amounting to $3,000,000 with a term of 3 years and interest rate of 5.5%. The Group
measured its investment in unquoted bond at amortised cost and for which the fair value is disclosed
based on unobservable inputs for the quoted market prices, valuations or quotes under Level 3 of
the valuation hierarchy. Details are presented under Note 33.

Deposits
Deposits pertain to refundable deposits from lease agreement and utility consumption agreements,
which will be refunded to the Group at the end of term of the contract.

Guarantee deposit
Guarantee deposit pertains to deposits given to hospital clients in Taiwan as guarantee to perform services during
the term of the service contracts, which will be refunded to the Group at the end of the term of the contract.

Others
Others include golf club membership and other long-term investments. During the financial year, the
Group and the Company had written off golf membership of US$29,000 and US$20,000, respectively.

Inventories
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Us$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000

At cost
Goods-in-transit 35 2,510 1 2,190
Raw materials 30,074 27,925 - -
Work-in-progress 805 2,198 - -
Supplies and spare parts 830 972 - -
Finished goods 20,908 18,536 922 3,027

52,652 52,141 923 5,217
At net realisable value
Goods-in-transit 35 2,424 1 1,445
Raw materials 23,409 21,545 - -
Work-in-progress 502 777 - -
Supplies and spare parts 808 961 - -
Finished goods 12,605 10,687 344 1,859

37,359 36,394 345 3,304
At lower of cost or net

realisable value 37,359 36,394 345 3,304

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Inventories (cont’d)

The Group’s cost of inventories charged to operations in 2023 were $16,548,000 (2022: $20,568,000).
Inventories are stated at net realisable value (“NRV”) after allowance for inventory. Movements in
the allowance for inventory during the year are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Us$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000
As at 1 January 15,747 4,161 1,913 -
Charge for the year 3,072 11,748 25 1,913
Reversal (1,440) - - -
Written off (2,085) (158) (1,360) -
Exchange differences (1) (4) - -
As at 31 December 15,293 15,747 578 1,913

During the financial year, the Group and the Company recognised an allowance for inventory
amounting to $3,072,000 and $25,000 (2022: $11,748,000 and $1,913,000) respectively, arising from
the inventory write-down of cost to its NRV, following the steep decline in average selling prices of
certain products in the global market at the end of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group also recognised reversal of allowance for inventory amounting to $1,440,000 for
inventories that were provided for in prior financial year and sold during the financial year.

Trade receivables

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000
Current 20,084 30,358 9,980 25,870
Non-current 4,265 - 4,265 -
24,349 30,358 14,245 25,870
Trade receivables
- Manufacturing 29,800 31,473 21,866 28,608
- Hospital services 2,292 2,253 - -
- Distribution and Others 812 426 - -
32,904 34,152 21,866 28,608
Less: Allowance for
expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) (8,555) (3,794) (7,621) (2,738)
Total trade receivables 24,349 30,358 14,245 25,870

During the year, the Group and the Company had initiated repayment plans with four debtors to
settle total outstanding amounts of $22,563,000. The repayment plans allow the debtors to settle the
outstanding amounts over 1 to 6 years with market interest rate to be charged on settlement more
than a year. Consequently, the Group and the Company reclassified settlement exceeding one year
as non-current.
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Trade receivables (cont’d)

Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 1 to 4 months’ term. They
are recognised at their original invoice amounts, which represent fair values on initial recognition.

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Us$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000
Philippine Peso 1,058 339 - -
Renminbi 35 51 - -
New Taiwan Dollar 2,828 2,333 - -

Expected credit losses (“ECLs”)

The movement in allowance for ECLs of trade receivables computed based on lifetime ECL are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000
As at 1 January 3,794 235 2,738 -
Charge for the year 6,004 3,591 6,000 2,738
Written off (1,117) (23) (1,117) -
Reversal (125) - - -
Exchange differences (1) (9) - -
As at 31 December 8,555 3,794 7,621 2,738

During the financial year, the Group and the Company recognised a provision for ECL amounting to
$6,004,000 and $6,000,000 (2022: $3,591,000 and $2,738,000), respectively, arising from specific
provisions on aged receivables and general provisions from management’s assessment on
collectability to its customers based on historical default rates.

Other current assets
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

(Note 35) (Note 35)

US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000
Advances to suppliers 2,576 2,918 1,033 1,027
Prepayments 405 846 115 568
Advances to employees 45 165 16 28
Tax receivables 729 944 - -
Other deposits 1,960 2,361 9 107
Sundry receivables 672 1,376 59 500
Less: Impairment loss (1,076) (254) (1,076) (254)
5,311 8,356 156 1,976
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Other current assets (cont’d)

Advances to suppliers are payments to suppliers for future deliveries of inventories that are to be
liquidated within a year. In prior financial year, the Group has written off $1,500,000 of advances to
suppliers due to management’s assessment that the aged advances will no longer be collectible.

During the financial year, the Group has written off $90,000 of sundry receivables due to
management’s assessment that the aged receivables will no longer be collectible.

Other deposits include refundable deposit and amount receivable from supplier for deposits paid for
purchase of property, plant and equipment which the Group expects to collect the full amount within
next 12 months.

Other current assets denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000
New Taiwan Dollar 2,252 709 - -
Renminbi 758 1,248 - -
Philippine Peso 666 303 42 38
Singapore Dollar 1 9 - -

Impairment loss

The movement in allowance for impairment loss of other current assets are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
USS$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000
As at 1 January 254 50 254 50
Charge for the year 822 204 822 204
As at 31 December 1,076 254 1,076 254

During the financial year, the Group and the Company recognised impairment loss of $822,000
(2022: $204,000), arising from specific provisions on a supplier undergoing bankruptcy
proceedings, and the Company assessed that the amount will not be collectible.
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23 Cash, bank balances and fixed deposits (cont’d)

22 Due from subsidiaries, net
2023 Company 2022 Bank balances of the Group and of the Company earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates.
Us$’000 Us$'000 Fixed deposits of the Group amounting to $5,380,000 (2022: $833,000) are pledged in connection
. with credit facilities granted by banks and short-term maturing loans. In addition, the withdrawal of
Due ]trom sugs!g!ar!es (trade) d 25,377 24,421 such fixed deposits is subject to the banks’ approval in connection with overdraft facilities, which the
Eue. Kl)lm subst }arl(ésCI(-non—tra e) Zé'ggg 14'139 Group has total unused credit facilities amounting to $7,800,000 as of 31 December 2023 (2022:
ess: Allowance tor (6,504) $53,000,000). The fixed deposits are denominated in USS and PHP and earn annual interest ranging
41,339 38,551 from 1.63% to 5.90% (2022: 1.75% to 5.25%).
The cash and bank balances denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:
Due to subsidiaries (trade) 25,960 21,626
Group Company
Presented as: 2023 2022 2023 2022
Due from subsidiaries, net 15,379 16,925 US$’000 USS$’000 US$’000 Us$’000
Philippine Peso 2,944 4,866 32 43
Amounts due from subsidiaries (trade) are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are payable upon demand. New Taiwan Dollar 4,168 3,451 - 2,770
Singapore Dollar 538 683 137 134
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) pertain to advances made by the Company to RMPL for funding its Renminbi 1,019 685 - -
construction activities, which are unsecured, interest bearing at 7% per annum and are also payable upon demand. Euros 8 7 1 1

Amounts due to subsidiaries (trade) are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are payable upon demand. . . .
Interest income earned by the Group and Company from fixed deposits amounted to $1,139,000

Expected credit losses (“ECLs”) (2022: $453,000) and Nil (2022: $26,000), respectively.

The movement in allowance for ECLs of amounts due from subsidiaries computed based on lifetime

ECL are as follows: 24 Trade payables and other current liabilities
Company Grou
P Company
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Us$’000 US$000 US$’000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000
As at 1 January - - Trade payables 2,045 1,815 153 199
L.oss‘al lowance measured: Other current liabilities:
Lifetime ECL - Other creditors 1,365 2,660 395 356
- Credit-impaired 6,504 - Accrued operating expenses 2,564 1,972 155 24
6,504 - Total trade and other
As at 31 December current liabilities 5,974 6,447 703 579
23 Cash, bank balances and fixed deposits
Group Company Trade payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are payable within one year.
2023 2022 2023 2022
USS$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Amounts due to other creditors include payable to government institutions and advances from
customers.
Cash in hand 81 2,815 1 2,771 N ) ) ) )
Cash at bank 15,161 9,262 350 595 Trade payables and other current liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are
Fixed deposits 17,799 23,204 - - as follows:
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
33,041 35,281 351 3,366 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Less: Fixed deposits with maturity
of more than 90 days but less gew 'I'_ai;)n{an dollar i,gig i,;zg - -
) h enminbi , - -
than a year (including pledged Philippine peso '605 1,065 67 78
fixed deposits) (10,736) (17,159) - -
Cash and cash equivalents 22,305 18,122 351 3,366
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Loans and borrowings

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate Group
(per annum) Maturity 2023 2022
% Us$’000 US$’000
New Taiwan Dollar
(NTD) loans
- Unsecured 1.64 2024 2,950 978
- Secured 2.12 2024 20,911 14,665
Total current interest-
bearing loans and
borrowings 23,861 15,643

Property, plant and equipment and fixed deposits with carrying amounts of $4,900,000 and
$5,380,000, respectively (2022: $4,900,000 and $833,000, respectively) (Notes 12 and 23) are used
to secure the loans and borrowings of the Group amounting to $20,911,000 (2022: $14,665,000).

The loans and borrowings pertain to withdrawn amount from the revolving credit line of the Group, which
are short-term in nature, have payment terms from 2 to 6 months and can be renewed upon maturity.

Group
Loan Accrued
Borrowings loan interest
US$’000 Us$’000

Balance at 1 January 2022 9,306 -
Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 15,643 -
Repayment of loans and borrowings (9,306) -
Interest paid on loans and borrowings (Note 8) - (423)
Other changes

Loan interest - 423
Balance at 31 December 2022 15,643 -
Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 23,861 -
Repayment of loans and borrowings (15,643) -
Interest paid on loans and borrowings (Note 8) - (470)
Other changes

Loan interest - 470
Balance at 31 December 2023 23,861 -

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries
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Share capital and treasury shares

Ordinary Shares
Group and Company
2023 2022
US$’000 Uss$’000
Authorised
- 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.05 each 50,000 50,000
Issued and paid up
As at 1 January and 31 December
- 549,411,240 ordinary shares of $0.05 each 27,471 27,471

The Company has only one class of shares: ordinary shares of $0.05 each, with each share carrying
one vote, without restriction. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and
when declared by the Company and subsequently approved by the shareholders.

Treasury Shares

Treasury shares are ordinary shares of the Company that are purchased and held by the Company
and are presented as a component within shareholders’ equity.

Group and Company

2023 2022
No. of No. of
shares’000 US$’000 shares’000 Us$’000

At 1 January 4,500 2,361 3,000 2,112
Acquisition of treasury

shares
- 1,500,000 shares at

$0.166 each - - 1,500 249
At 31 December 4,500 2,361 4,500 2,361

Foreign currency translation and other reserves
a) Foreign currency translation reserves
The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the

translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are
different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 Uss$’000
At 1 January (735) 2,397
Net effect of exchange differences arising from
translation of financial statements of foreign operations (115) (3,132)
At 31 December (850) (735)
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Foreign currency translation and other reserves (cont’d)

b) Other reserves

Group
2023 2022
Us$’000 Us$’000
Unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTOCI - (375)
Others* 394 394
394 19

*In 2014, the Company shares were issued in consideration of the acquisition of the non-
controlling interest of Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation (MTC). The excess of the consideration over
the fair value of the net assets acquired was recorded in “Other reserves” under the equity
section of the statements of financial position.
Dividends
No dividends were recommended or declared in 2023.
On 27 May 2022, the Board of Directors issued a notice on the declaration of cash dividends
amounting to $0.0060 per ordinary share (tax not applicable) to shareholders of record as of
16 June 2022. The cash dividends were paid on 13 July 2022 amounting to $3,271,000.
Significant related party transactions
a) Transactions with related parties
Related parties refer to companies controlled by a director of the Company.
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the

following are the significant transactions between the Group and related parties that took place
at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year:

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Costs and expenses:
Operating expenses from related parties 2,092 926

Other than the above, the Group has no other related party transactions except for the lease
agreement as disclosed in Note 15.
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Significant related party transactions (cont’d)
b) Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation (including executive director’s remuneration)

comprised:
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss’000
Director’s fee* 214 208 212 205
Wages, salaries and
bonus 5,104 2,858 5,104 2,858
Defined benefit plans
and other social
expenses 25 18 25 18
5,343 3,084 5,341 3,081
Comprise directors’
remunerations for
executive directors
of:
- the Company 4,809 2,539 4,809 2,539
- the subsidiaries - - - -
4,809 2,539 4,809 2,539

* Include director’s fee for directors of subsidiaries amounting to $2,000 (2022: $3,000)

The remuneration of key management personnel are determined by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

There are no termination benefits or other long-term employee benefits granted to key
management personnel in 2023 and 2022.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent assets

On 12 November 2021, the Company engaged a legal firm to recover an advance to a supplier
amounting to $822,000. On 20 January 2022, the Company commenced an arbitral proceeding
against the supplier, as it failed to make any payment to the Company. On 25 October 2022, the
arbitral award was obtained in favor of the Company for a total consideration amounting to $966,000.
As of 26 February 2024, additional late payment interest amounted to $23,500. The additional arbitral
award of $167,500 (2022: $144,000) has not been recognised during the financial year 31 December
2023, as the receipt of the consideration is not virtually certain and it is dependent on the aggregate
result of the enforcement of the arbitral award against the supplier.

During the financial year, the Company has not received any repayment from the supplier.

Consequently, Management had determined that the amount is not recoverable and made full
provision during the financial year as disclosed in Note 21.
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Group segmental reporting
Reporting format

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks
and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced.
The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers
different products and serves different markets.

Business segments

The manufacturing segment produces and sub-contracts a wide range of medical consumables,
including patients’ apparels, disposable surgical masks, boot covers and surgical gowns, underpads,
adult diapers, crochet blankets, bed linens and medical bandages. These medical consumables are
supplied to large medical multinational corporation distributors, pharmaceutical companies and
hospital groups in the USA and Europe.

The hospital services segment provides laundry and leasing services to various hospitals that are
outsourcing its non-critical functions.

The distribution and others segment is involved in the marketing of Medtecs-branded medical

consumables to hospitals, pharmacies and other end users in Asia Pacific and through online channels.

The Group also leverages on its distribution network to market other branded medical supplies and
equipment such as wheel chairs, syringes, nebulizers and blood pressure monitors.

Geographical segments

The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external
customers disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its
customers.

Allocation basis

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets,
income tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities, loans and borrowings and related expenses.
Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These
transfers are eliminated upon consolidation.
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a) Business segments

Group segmental reporting (cont’d)

The following table presents revenue, results and other information, assets, liabilities and other
segment information regarding the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022:

2023

Revenue

Third parties
Intersegment sales

Total revenue
Eliminations

Results

Financial expenses
Financial income
Tax expense

Net loss for the year
Total assets

Total liabilities

Other segment
information:
Capital expenditure
Depreciation and
amortisation
Provision for
inventory
Provision for ECL
on receivables
Provision for
impairment loss
on other current
assets
Provision for
impairment loss
on property,
plant and
equipment
Other non-cash
expenses - net

Hospital Distribution

Manufacturing services and others Group
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
34,558 14,544 3,537 52,639
7,481 - - 7,481
42,039 14,544 3,537 60,120
(7,481) - - (7,481)
34,558 14,544 3,537 52,639
(23,516) 731 (218) (23,003)
(816)

1,304

27
(22,488)

147,180 13,951 5,636 166,767
36,056 401 2 36,459
4,443 898 304 5,645
4,513 2,584 112 7,209
3,072 - - 3,072
6,000 4 - 6,004
822 - - 822
2,000 - - 2,000
(503) - - (503)
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a) Business segments (cont’d) b) Geographical information

Significant revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of

The following table presents revenue, results and other information, assets, liabilities and other customers and assets respectively are as follows:
segment information regarding the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 (cont’d): Sales to external customers Non-current assets
2023 2022 2023 2022
Hospital Distribution USs$’000 USs$’000 Us$’000 Uss$’000
Manufacturing services and others Group .
Singapore - - 689 702
Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Philippines 5,342 11,333 10,169 16,192
Cambodia - - 41,132 35,604
2022 Taiwan 16,560 18,768 15,442 17,585
Revenue China - - 1,407 1,577
Third parties 35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243 Luxembourg 15,075 11,705 - -
Intersegment sales 7,779 — - 7,779 United State of America 8,487 9,149 - -
United Kingdom 4,956 2,507 - -
T(?ta.l re\{enue 43,459 14,312 6,251 64,022 50,420 53,462 68,839 71,660
Eliminations (7,779) - - (7,779)
35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243
32 Financial instruments
Results (30,739) 666 (272) (30,345) a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial expenses (951) G c
. s roup ompany
;;nxag)f'a;r'lzz"me L ggi 2023 2022 2023 2022
P ’ US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$'000
Net loss for the year (29,263) Financial assets
- At amortised costs 64,596 74,219 56,047 68,514
Total assets 162,732 16,295 3,022 182,049 Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss 416 448 - -
Total liabilities 29,399 274 61 29,734 Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income - 3,303 - -
Other segment
information: 65,012 77,970 56,047 68,514
Capital expenditure 16,354 1,751 - 18,105
Depreciation and " e
o Financial liabilities
amortisation 3,757 2,536 1 6,404 At amortised cost 32,827 25,809 26,859 22,502
Provision for
inventory losses 10,984 - 764 11,748
Provision for ECL on b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
receivables 3,591 - - 3,591
Provision for The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the
impairment loss on use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign
other current currency risk, and credit risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise
assets 204 _ _ 204 adverse effects from these financial risks on the Group’s financial performance.
Other non-cash
expenses - net 327 _ _ 327 The directors review and agree policies and procedures for managing each of these risks and they

are summarised below.

127 128



Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

32

129

Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from loans and borrowings
and interest-bearing trade receivables. Loans and borrowings and interest- bearing trade receivables at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk (i.e. the risk that the future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates). Loans and borrowings at
fixed rates do not expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk as the maturity is within a year.

The following tables set out the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Uss$’000 USss$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Fixed rate
Fixed deposits 17,799 23,204 - -
Floating rate
Loans and borrowings (23,861) (15,643) - -

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
borrowings at the balance sheet date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of
the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case of borrowings
that have floating rates.

If the interest rates increase/decrease by 50 (2022: 50) basis points with all other variables
including tax rate being held constant, the loss after tax of the Group will be higher/lower by
$24,000 (2022: $16,000) as a result of higher/lower interest expense on these borrowings.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting
financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to
liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of financial assets and liabilities.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank
balances deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

32

Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The table summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period based on contractual repayment obligations:

Total
carrying 1 year 1to5 Over5
value or less year years Total
US$’000  US$’000 US$’000 US$’000  US$’000
Group
2023
Loans and borrowings 23,861 24,362 - - 24,362
Trade payables and other
current liabilities®” 5,922 5,922 - - 5,922
Lease liabilities 3,044 687 1,370 10,569 12,626
32,827 30,971 1,370 10,569 42,910
2022
Loans and borrowings 15,643 15,643 - - 15,643
Trade payables and other
current liabilities®” 6,256 6,256 - - 6,256
Lease liabilities 3,910 830 1,817 10,660 13,307
25,809 22,729 1,817 10,660 35,206
Company
2023
Trade payables and other
current liabilities" 692 692 - - 692
Due to subsidiaries 25,960 25,960 - - 25,960
Lease liabilities 207 21 112 706 839
26,859 26,673 112 706 27,491
2022
Trade payables and other
current liabilities!" 560 560 - - 560
Due to subsidiaries 21,626 21,626 - - 21,626
Lease liabilities 316 138 227 611 976
22,502 22,324 227 611 23,162

) Excluding tax payables to government institutions.
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b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
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Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases, assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of
the Group entities, primarily, Philippine Peso (PHP), Renminbi (RMB), New Taiwan Dollar (NTD)
and Singapore Dollar (SGD). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated
are mainly USS. Approximately 36% (2022: 42%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in foreign
currencies whilst almost 36% (2022: 40%) of costs are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group’s trade receivables and trade payable balances at the
end of the reporting period have similar exposures.

The Group and the Company also hold cash and fixed deposits denominated in foreign currencies
for working capital purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances
are mainly in NTD and SGD.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investment in foreign
operations in Taiwan and is managed primarily through borrowings denominated in relevant
foreign currency.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax to a
reasonably possible change in the PHP, RMB, NTD and SGD exchange rates (against USS$), with all
other variables held constant. The reasonably possible change was computed based on
management assessment:

Group
2023 2022
Effect on Effect on
profit/(loss) profit/(loss)
before tax before tax
PHP
Strengthened 0.7% (2022: 9.3%) (16) 267
Weakened 0.7% (2022: 9.3%) 16 (221)
RMB
Strengthened 1.7% (2022: 9.5%) (13) (77)
Weakened 1.7% (2022: 9.5%) 13 63
NTD
Strengthened 0.6% (2022: 10.8%) 99 (1,331)
Weakened 0.6% (2022: 10.8%) (99) 1,071
SGD
Strengthened 2.2% (2022: 0.03%) (12) (1)
Weakened 2.2% (2022: 0.03%) 12 1

Changes in exchange rate for Company is not disclosed as it is immaterial.
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Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a
counterparty default on its obligations.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due
to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and credit-worthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject
to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the CEO.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise
cash and bank balances and other receivables (including related party balances), the Group's
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amount of these financial instruments.

The following sets out the Group’s internal credit evaluation practices and basis for recognition
and measurement of expected credit losses (ECL):

Basis for recognition and
measurement of ECL

Description of evaluation of financial assets

Counterparty has a low risk of default and does 12-month ECL
not have any past due amounts

Contractual payments are more than 30 days past | Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
due or where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition

Contractual payments are more than 90 days past | Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
due or there is evidence of credit impairment

There is evidence indicating that the Group has Write-off
no reasonable expectation of recovery of
payments such as when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information, such as future economic and industry outlook, that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred such as evidence that the
borrower is in significant financial difficulty, there is a breach of contract such as default or past
due event; there is information that it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or the purchase or origination of a financial asset
at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Estimation techniques and significant assumptions

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during
the current financial year for recognition and measurement of credit loss allowances.

Trade receivables
Specific assessment
The Group and the Company perform specific assessment of expected credit losses on certain

significant long outstanding trade receivables and provides for lifetime expected credit losses for
these trade receivables as set out below:

Group Company
Us$’000 Us$’000
2023
Gross trade receivables 23,384 21,675
Loss allowance 8,433 7,621
2022
Gross trade receivables 27,282 26,335
Loss allowance 3,675 2,738
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Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
Trade receivables (cont’d)
General assessment

The Group and the Company provide for lifetime expected credit losses for all other trade
receivables using a provision matrix. The provision rates are determined based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates analysed in accordance to months past due. The loss allowance
provision as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 is determined as follows, the expected credit losses
below also incorporate forward looking information such as forecast of economic conditions.
Summarised below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group and the
Company’s trade receivables using provision matrix.

>3 >4
Current >1month >2 months months months Total
USS’000 US$’000 USS$’000 USS’000 US$’000 US$S’000

Group
2023
Gross carrying amount 8,263 691 147 57 362 9,520
Loss allowance
provision N - N N (122) (122)
8,263 691 147 57 240 9,398
2022
Gross carrying amount 3,722 480 48 300 2,320 6,870
Loss allowance
provision - - - - (119) (119)
3,722 480 48 300 2,201 6,751
Company
2023
Gross carrying amount 184 - - - 7 191
Loss allowance
provision - - - - - -
184 - - - 7 191
2022
Gross carrying amount 202 - 3 2 2,066 2,273
Loss allowance
provision - - - - - -
202 - 3 2 2,066 2,273
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Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentration of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector
profile of its trade receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the
Group’s trade receivables at end of the reporting period is as follows:

Group
2023 2022
US$’000 % of total US$’000 % of total

By region:
North America 1,708 7 353 1
Europe 4,382 18 1,074 4
Asia Pacific 18,259 75 28,931 95

24,349 100 30,358 100
By segment:
Manufacturing 21,267 87 27,707 91
Hospital services 2,288 10 2,245 8
Distribution and others 794 3 406 1

24,349 100 30,358 100

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, except for 18% (2022: 4%) of trade
debts relating to three major customers of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, approximately $4,500,000 (2022: $1,300,000) of the Group’s
trade receivables were due from three major customers located in North America and Europe.

Credit quality

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets (other than trade
receivables):

' Gross Net
12-month or carrying Loss carrying
lifetime ECL amount allowance amount

2023 US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
Investment in unquoted bond  12-month ECL 3,000 — 3,000
Other non-current assets 12-month ECL 1,995 - 1,995
Other current assets 12-month ECL 2,677 - 2,677
Cash and bank balances and N.A. Exposure 33,041 - 33,041
fixed deposits with financial  Limited
institutions
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Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
Credit quality (cont'd)

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets (other than trade
receivables) (cont’d):

Gross Net
12-month or carrying Loss carrying
lifetime ECL amount allowance amount

2022 US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
Quoted equity investments 12-month ECL 3,303 - 3,303
Investment in unquoted bond  12-month ECL 3,000 — 3,000
Other non-current assets 12-month ECL 2,126 — 2,126
Other current assets 12-month ECL 1,648 — 1,648
Cash and bank balances and N.A. Exposure 35,281 - 35,281

fixed deposits with financial Limited

institutions

The table below details the credit quality of the Company’s financial assets (other than trade
receivables):

Gross Net
12-month or carrying Loss carrying
lifetime ECL amount allowance amount

2023 Us$’000 Us$’000 USS$’000
Other current assets 12-month ECL 156 - 156
Due from subsidiaries 12-month ECL 34,835 — 34,835
Due from a subsidiary Lifetime ECL 6,504 (6,504) -
Cash and bank balances and N.A. Exposure 351 - 351
fixed deposits with financial Limited
institutions
2022
Other current assets 12-month ECL 1,976 - 1,976
Due from subsidiaries 12-month ECL 38,551 — 38,551
Cash and bank balances and N.A. Exposure 3,366 - 3,366
fixed deposits with financial Limited
institutions
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Financial instruments (cont’d)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
Credit risk (cont’d)

Credit quality (cont'd)

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are
considered to be of high grade quality and expected to be collectible without incurring any credit
losses. High grade financial assets are those financial assets whose realisability is assured.

Financial assets (including sundry debtors and deposits) that are neither past due nor impaired
are due from creditworthy debtors with good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash
equivalents and fixed deposits are entered into with reputable financial institutions duly
approved by the directors.

Fair value of assets and liabilities
Fair value hierarchy

The Group categorises fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the
valuation inputs used as follows:

Level 1- quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be
accessed at the measurement date.

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair values

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, fixed deposits,
due from subsidiaries, trade receivables, other current assets, trade payables and other current
liabilities and bank loans based on their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair values
because these are mostly short-term in nature or are repriced frequently.

Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value and for which fair values are disclosed
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets. The Group

has no liabilities which are measured at fair value nor which fair values are disclosed in the financial
statements as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Fair value measurement using
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2023 Date of valuation $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed

Investment property
(Note 13) 20 December 2023 3,757 - - 3,757
Investment in unquoted
bonds (Note 18) 31 December 2023 3,135 - - 3,135
2022
Assets measured
at fair value

Listed equity investments
(Note 18) 31 December 2022 3,303 3,303 - -

Assets for which fair
values are disclosed

Investment property
(Note 13) 31 December 2022

Investment in unquoted
bonds (Note 18)

3,774 - - 3,774
31 December 2022 3,195 - - 3,195

There has been no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 during
the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Determination of fair value

Investment property

Investment property is valued by independent valuer using income approach by reviewing discounted
cash flows of future rent to be earned over the useful lives of the property. Significant input used in
this valuation is determination of discount rate which include evaluating market risk premium,
management risk and liquidity risk. A significant increase/(decrease) in the discount rate would result
in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value measurement.

Investment in unquoted bonds
Fair value of investment in unquoted bonds is measured based on current market interest rate of
4.50%.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the sum of total capital
and net debt. The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 60.0%. The Group includes within
net debt, loans and borrowings, trade payables and other current liabilities, less cash and bank
balances and fixed deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.

Group
2023 2022
Us$’000 Uss$’000
Loans and borrowings 23,861 15,643
Trade payables and other current liabilities 5,974 6,447
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits (33,041) (35,281)
(3,206) (13,191)
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company 129,204 149,789
Capital and net debt 125,998 136,598
Gearing ratio (2.5%) (9.7%)

35 Comparative figures

(i) The financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 were
audited by another independent auditor whose report dated 14 June 2023 expressed an
unmodified opinion on those financial statements.

(i) Comparative figures have been reclassified principally due to prior year adjustments arising from
the following:

Recognition of lease contract receivables

On 1 May 2022, the Company entered into a lease arrangement with a related party to lease a
land for a period of 50 years. On the same day, the Company subleased the land to a subsidiary,
Resilient Medical Pte. Ltd. for a period of 9 years until 30 June 2031. The sublease agreement
contains an option to extend the term for an additional period of 10 years with a maximum term
of 50 years in line with the original lease agreement. Management had assessed that the option
will be exercised for a period of 50 years.

Being an intermediate lessor, the management classified the sublease agreement as a finance
lease considering the substantial period of the lease term by reference to right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to the useful live of the land. However,
Management had enormously identified the lease as an operating lease and recognised rental
income over straight line of 50 years in the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

Accordingly, adjustments were made to rectify the amounts of right-of-use assets, lease contract
receivables, other current assets and trade payables and other current liabilities.
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Comparative figures (cont’d)

(i) Comparative figures have been reclassified principally due to prior year adjustments arising from

the following (cont’d):
Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the previous year’s financial statements to conform
to the current year’s presentation.

The effects of the above matters on the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
statement of financial position of the Company are as follows:

As previously As
reported Adjustments reclassified
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
Group
Consolidated statement of
financial position
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 45,846 (2,254) 43,592
Intangible assets - 848 848
Goodwill 709 (709) -
Deferred tax assets 2,106 49 2,155
Other non-current assets 8,617 (188) 8,429
Current assets
Other current assets 6,102 2,254 8,356
Consolidated statement of
cash flows
Cash flows used in operating
activities (4,053) 5,318 1,265
Cash flows used in investing
activities (23,901) (5,262) (29,163)
Cash flows used in financing
activities (2,961) (56) (3,017)

The reclassification did not have any effect on the net profit of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 and the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position asat 1
January 2022.

140



Medtecs International Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries

35 Comparative figures (cont’d)

(i) Comparative figures have been reclassified principally due to prior year adjustments arising from

the following (cont’d):

Reclassifications (cont’d)

Company
Statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022

Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets
Lease contract receivables

Current assets
Other current assets

Current liabilities
Trade payable and other current
liabilities

Adjustments
US$’000

(4,440)
4,544

(301)

(197)

As

reclassified
US$’000

261
4,544

1,976

579

The reclassification did not have any effect on the net profit of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 and the Company’s statement of financial position as at 1 January 2022.

36 Authorisation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 were

authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 11 April 2024.

141

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED



143



